
SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO) 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 
JANUARY 27, 2023 – 9:00 AM 

DUE TO COVID-19, THE JANUARY 27, 2023 SANTA CRUZ METRO BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED AS A TELECONFERENCE ONLY (NO PHYSICAL LOCATION) 

PURSUANT TO ASSEMBLY BILL 361 (GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54953) 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 
The public may participate remotely via the Zoom website at this link and following the instructions or by calling 
1-669-900-6833  Meeting ID 823 2842 5369. 

Public comment may be submitted via email to boardinquiries@scmtd.com.  Please indicate in your email the 
agenda item to which your comment applies.  Comments submitted before the meeting will be provided to the 
Directors before or during the meeting.  Comments submitted after the meeting is called to order will be included 
in the Board’s correspondence that is posted online at the Board meeting packet link.  Oral public comments will 
also be accepted during the meeting through Zoom.  Should Zoom not be operational, please check online at: 
www.scmtd.com for any updates or further instructions. 

The Board of Directors Meeting Agenda Packet can be found online at www.SCMTD.com. 

The Board may take action on each item on the agenda.  The action may consist of the recommended action, a 
related action or no action.  Staff recommendations are subject to action and/or change by the Board of Directors. 

BOARD ROSTER 

City of Capitola 
County of Santa Cruz 
City of Watsonville  
City of Santa Cruz  
County of Santa Cruz  
City of Scotts Valley  
County of Santa Cruz 
City of Santa Cruz  
County of Santa Cruz 
City of Watsonville 
County of Santa Cruz 
UC Santa Cruz  

Director Kristen Brown 
Director Rebecca Downing 
Director Jimmy Dutra 
Director Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson 
Director Manu Koenig 
Director Donna Lind 
Director Bruce McPherson 
Director - Vacant 
Director Larry Pageler  
Director - Vacant 
Director Mike Rotkin 
Ex-Officio Director Dan Henderson 
Ex-Officio Director Alta Northcutt Cabrillo College  

Michael Tree METRO CEO/General Manager 
Julie Sherman METRO General Counsel 

TITLE 6 - INTERPRETATION SERVICES / TÍTULO 6 - SERVICIOS DE TRADUCCIÓN 
Spanish language interpretation and Spanish language copies of the agenda packet are available on an as-needed basis. Please make 
advance arrangements with the Executive Assistant at 831-426-6080. Interpretación en español y traducciones en español del paquete 
de la agenda están disponibles sobre una base como-necesaria. Por favor, hacer arreglos por adelantado con Coordinador de Servicios 
Administrativos al numero 831-426-6080. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82328425369
mailto:boardinquiries@scmtd.com
http://www.scmtd.com/
http://www.scmtd.com/
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SECTION I: OPEN SESSION 
NOTE: THE BOARD CHAIR MAY TAKE ITEMS OUT OF ORDER 

1 CALL TO ORDER 

2 SWEAR IN NEW DIRECTORS 

3 ROLL CALL 

4 ANNOUNCEMENTS 
4.1 Today’s meeting is being broadcast by Community Television of Santa Cruz 

County. 

5 NOMINATE BOARD OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 
Larry Pageler, Board Chair 

6 BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMENTS 

7 ORAL AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
This time is set aside for Directors and members of the general public to address 
any item not on the Agenda which is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
Board.  No action or discussion shall be taken on any item presented except that 
any Director may respond to statements made or questions asked, or may ask 
questions for clarification.  All matters of an administrative nature will be referred 
to staff.  Speakers appearing at a Board meeting shall be limited to three minutes 
in his or her presentation.  When addressing the Board, the individual may, but is 
not required to, provide his/her name and address in an audible tone for the record. 
7.1 Email From Tianna Calderon Dated 1/14/23 With METRO Response 
7.2 Email From Grace Vinyard Dated 1/17/23 With METRO Response 
7.3 Email From Akela Traxler Dated 1/17/23 With METRO Response 
7.4 Email From Jasmin Fung Dated 1/17/23 With METRO Response 

8 LABOR ORGANIZATION COMMUNICATION 

9 ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION TO SUPPORT EXISTING AGENDA ITEMS 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All items appearing on the Consent Agenda are recommended actions which are 
considered to be routine and will be acted upon as one motion. All items removed will be 
considered later in the agenda. The Board Chair will allow public input prior to the approval 
of the Consent Agenda items. 

10.1 ACCEPT AND FILE: PRELIMINARY APPROVED CHECK JOURNAL DETAIL 
FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2022 
Chuck Farmer, CFO  
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10.2 ACCEPT AND FILE MINUTES OF: 
A. OCTOBER 19, 2022 METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING 
B. DECEMBER 16, 2022 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
C. JANUARY 13, 2023 FINANCE, BUDGET AND AUDIT STANDING 

COMMITTEE  
D. JANUARY 13, 2023 PERSONNEL/HUMAN RESOURCES STANDING 

COMMITTEE 
Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

10.3 ACCEPT AND FILE: THE YEAR TO DATE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT AS 
OF DECEMBER 31, 2022 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

10.4 ACCEPT AND FILE:  ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 
2022 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

10.5 APPROVE: CONSIDERATION OF DECLARING VEHICLES AND/OR 
EQUIPMENT AS EXCESS FOR PURPOSES OF DISPOSAL OR AUCTION 
Chuck Farmer, CFO   

10.6 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN 
FINDINGS AND DIRECTING THAT THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS WILL CONTINUE TO BE HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE 
Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

10.7 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN AMENDED 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE FOR THE SANTA CRUZ 
METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
Julie Sherman, General Counsel 

10.8 APPROVE:  AUTHORIZATION TO FUND A SENIOR CUSTOMER SERVICE 
REPRESENTATIVE 
Dawn Crummié, HR Director 

10.9 ACCEPT AND FILE:  THE SEMI-ANNUAL REPORT ON THE STATUS OF 
METRO’S DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PROGRAM 
Chuck Farmer, DBE Liaison Officer, CFO 

10.10 APPROVE:  CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION THAT APPROVES THE 
SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT ZERO-EMISSION BUS 
ROLLOUT PLAN AND AUTHORIZES THE CEO/GENERAL MANAGER TO 
SUBMIT THE ZEB ROLLOUT PLAN TO THE CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES 
BOARD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INNOVATIVE CLEAN TRANSIT 
REGULATION 
Wondimu Mengistu, Capital Planning & Grants Program Manager 
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REGULAR AGENDA 

11 PRESENTATION OF EMPLOYEE LONGEVITY AWARD (25 YEARS):  
MICHAEL MILLER 
Larry Pageler, Board Chair 

12 RETIREE RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION FOR:  CATALINO S. VASQUEZ 
Larry Pageler, Board Chair 

13 APPROVE:  YOUTH RIDE FREE PILOT PROGRAM 
John Urgo, Planning & Development Director 

14 METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE (MAC) SEMI-ANNUAL UPDATE FOR 2022 
James Von Hendy, MAC Chair 

15 CEO ORAL REPORT / COVID-19 UPDATE  
Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager  

16 ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING: FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 24, 2023, AT 
9:00 AM VIA TELECONFERENCE 
Larry Pageler, Board Chair  

17 ADJOURNMENT 
Larry Pageler, Board Chair 

Accessibility for Individuals with Disabilities 
This document has been created with accessibility in mind. With the exception of certain 3rd party and 
other attachments, it passes the Adobe Acrobat XI Accessibility Full Check. If you have any questions 
about the accessibility of this document, please email your inquiry to  accessibility@scmtd.com. Upon 
request, Santa Cruz METRO will provide written agenda materials in appropriate alternative formats, or 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to enable individuals 
with disabilities to participate in and provide comments at/related to public meetings. Please submit a 
request, including your name, phone number and/or email address, and a description of the modification, 
accommodation, auxiliary aid, service or alternative format requested at least two days before the meeting. 
Requests should be emailed to boardinquiries@scmtd.com or submitted by phone to the Executive 
Assistant at 831.426.6080.  Requests made by mail (sent to the Executive Assistant, Santa Cruz METRO, 
110 Vernon Street, Santa Cruz, CA 95060) must be received at least two days before the meeting. 
Requests will be granted whenever possible and resolved in favor of accessibility. 

Public Comment 
If you wish to address the Board, please follow the directions at the top of the agenda.  If you have anything 
that you wish distributed to the Board and included for the official record, please include it in your email. 
Comments that require a response may be deferred for staff reply.    

mailto:accessibility@scmtd.com
mailto:boardinquiries@scmtd.com


DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Larry Pageler, Chair 

SUBJECT: NOMINATE BOARD OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors Nominate Directors to the following positions: 
A. Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) Board Chair and Vice 

Chair; 
B. Vacant Director Positions on various METRO Board Standing 

Committees; 
C. Five Director Positions on the Santa Cruz Civic Improvement 

Corporation (SCCIC) Board; and, 
D. Representatives and Alternates for the Santa Cruz County Regional 

Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) 

II. SUMMARY

• Article 6 of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) Bylaws
provides that the Board of Directors shall annually nominate individuals to the
positions of Chair and Vice Chair.

• In 2022, the Board of Directors nominated individuals to stand for election to
the Standing Committee positions referenced in this staff report.

• Article III, Section 3.03 of the Santa Cruz Civic Improvement Corporation
(SCCIC) Bylaws provides that the Board of Directors shall appoint METRO
Directors to the SCCIC Board.

• In order to maintain representation on the Santa Cruz County Regional
Transportation Commission (SCCRTC), it is necessary that the Board of
Directors elect individuals to the three positions and three alternate positions
that are designated for METRO Board Members.

• Elections for the positions referenced in this Staff Report are scheduled to be
held at the beginning of the February 24, 2023 Board of Directors meeting.

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 

5.1
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III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND

The terms of the officers and appointees of the Board of Directors in the positions 
of Chair, Vice Chair and SCCRTC appointees expire in February 2023. Four of 
the SCCIC Directors’ terms are set to expire in February 2023 and one vacancy 
needs to be filled.
SCCIC is a non-profit public benefit corporation organized under the non-profit
benefit corporation law in the State of California to provide financial assistance to
METRO by acquiring, constructing and financing various public facilities, land and
equipment and the leasing of facilities, land and equipment for use, benefit and
enjoyment of the public served by METRO.

Article III, Section 3.03 of the SCCIC Bylaws provides that METRO’s Board of
Directors shall appoint METRO Directors to the SCCIC Board.
Staff recommends that the METRO Board of Directors appoint METRO Directors 
to serve on the SCCIC Board.  At this time, five appointees are needed due to 
their terms expiring and a vacancy.
The METRO Bylaws provide that the Board of Directors shall identify nominees to
be considered for election to the positions herein referenced.

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors:

Provide slates for CY 2023 to:

1) Elect Directors to the positions of Chair and Vice Chair

2) Reconfirm or nominate Directors to positions on the current Standing
Committees:

a. Capital Projects Standing Committee

b. Finance, Budget and Audit Standing Committee

c. Personnel/Human Resources Standing Committee

3) Fill five positions on the SCCIC

4) Elect three representatives and three alternates to the SCCRTC.

In accordance with the METRO bylaws, nominations remain open until the 
positions are filled through election.  The election for the referenced positions is 
scheduled to be held on February 24, 2023.   

5.2
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Board Committee, SCCIC and SCCRTC Nominations SR  
 

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

The actions taken in this report tie to METRO’s Stewardship and Accountability 
responsibility.  

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

Funding support for the positions identified in this Staff Report is contained under 
Admin in the FY23 and FY24 Final Budget adopted June 24, 2022 and in the FY24 
and FY25 budget yet to be finalized.   

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

N/A   

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

None. 

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Current METRO Board Officers and Appointees 
Attachment B: Current SCCIC Board Roster 
Attachment C: Board Nominated Slate(s) Worksheet 

 

 

Prepared by:  Donna Bauer, Executive Assistant  

  

5.3
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IX. APPROVALS 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree, 
CEO/General Manager 

Board Committee, SCCIC and SCCRTC Nominations SR 
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BOARD CHAIR & VICE CHAIR,  
STANDING AND AD HOC 
COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 

2022 Chair, Vice Chair and Standing Committees 

Chair 
LARRY PAGELER 

Vice Chair 
JIMMY DUTRA 

Capital Projects Standing Committee 
Committee Established 8/26/16  

DONNA MEYERS 
BRUCE McPHERSON 

LARRY PAGELER 

Finance, Budget and Audit Standing Committee 
(4-5 Board Members, as a ground rule) 

Committee Established 8/26/16  
SHEBREH KALANTARI-JOHNSON

MANU KOENIG 
DONNA LIND
MIKE ROTKIN

Personnel/Human Resources Standing Committee 
Committee Established 8/26/16  

LARRY PAGELER, Current Chair  
JIMMY DUTRA, Current Vice Chair 

DONNA LIND, Immediate Past Chair  
KRISTEN BROWN****
REBECCA DOWNING* 

Attachment A
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2/25/2022 Approved at METRO Board Meeting 
*Appointed by Chair Pageler March 2022

**Remained in Place from 2021 for CEO Recruitment Process
***Appointed by Chair Lind September 2021

 ****Name Change from Petersen to Brown March 2022 

2022  Other Committees 

SCCIC Representatives 
MANU KOENIG    

BRUCE McPHERSON 
DONNA MEYERS  
LARRY PAGELER 

ARI PARKER

SCCRTC Representatives 
ARI PARKER

KRISTEN BROWN****
  MIKE ROTKIN 

SCCRTC Alternates (in order) 
SHEBREH KALANTARI-JOHNSON 

LARRY PAGELER  
DONNA LIND 

2022 / 2023 Ad Hoc Committees 

CEO Goals and Objectives Ad Hoc Committee 
Committee Established 5/19/17  

DONNA LIND**
BRUCE McPHERSON** 

MIKE ROTKIN** 

Legislative Ad Hoc Committee 
Committee Established 2/23/18  

ED BOTTORFF 
JOHN LEOPOLD 

CYNTHIA MATHEWS 
BRUCE McPHERSON 

MIKE ROTKIN MAC Ad Hoc Committee 
Committee Established 3/24/17 

***SHEBREH KALANTARI-JOHNSON 
***BRUCE McPHERSON

***LARRY PAGELER
***MIKE ROTKIN

Attachment A
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`
Ad Hoc Committees and Members are designated by the Board Chair.

Ad Hoc Committees are created and disbanded each year as their specific assignments are completed, 
and then reconstituted as needed.



SANTA CRUZ CIVIC IMPROVEMENT CORPORATION 
(SCCIC) 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 2021 - 2024

YEAR TERM BEGAN 
2021 

YEAR TERM ENDS 
2023 

2022 2023 
2021 2023 
2022 2024 

Bruce McPherson, President 
Ari Parker, Vice President* 
Manu Koenig, Secretary   
Vacant, Treasurer**
Larry Pageler, Director 2021 2023 

Michael Tree, Chief Executive Officer 

Each Director holds office for a term of two (2) years from the date of appointment. The 
Board of Directors holds an annual meeting for the purpose of organization, selection of 
Directors and officers, and the transaction of other business. Annual meetings of the Board 
are held on the fourth Friday of March. The meetings are held in the same venue as the 
Santa Cruz METRO Board of Directors meeting. 

*October 22, 2021: Director Alta Northcutt was appointed by Chair Donna Lind to fill the Vice
President seat vacated by the resignation of Director Aurelio Gonzalez in September 2021. 

Attachment B

February 25, 2022:  Director Ari Parker was appointed by Chair Donna Lind to fill the Vice 
President seat vacated by Director Alta Northcutt who was reappointed as Ex-Officio at 
Cabrillo College on December 7, 2021.
**Director Meyers held this seat through December 2022 when her term expired.

5B.1
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Elect Board Chair (2022:  Larry Pageler) 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1.

2. 

3. 

4. 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

SLATE 4 

Larry Pageler Jimmy Dutra

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Elect Board Vice Chair (2022: Jimmy Dutra)

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1.

2. 

3. 

4. 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

SLATE 4 

Larry PagelerShebreh Kalantari-Johnson

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Reappoint or Nominate 3: Capital Projects Standing Committee 
Members 

3 Total Members 
2022 Members: Donna Meyers, Bruce McPherson, & Larry Pageler

Nominee: 
1.

Nominated by: 
Larry Pageler 

2.

3.

Larry Pageler

Larry Pageler

Nominee: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 
1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 
1. 

2. 

3. 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

SLATE 4 

Nominated by: 

Jimmy Dutra

Bruce McPherson

Larry Pageler

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Reappoint or Nominate 4 or 5: Finance, Budget and Audit 
Standing Committee Members 

4-5 Total Members 
2022 Members: Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, Manu Koenig, Donna Lind, & Mike Rotkin 

Nominee: 
1.

2.

3.

4.

Nominated by: 
Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler

Nominee: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. ___________________________

Nominee: Nominated by: 
1. 

2. 

3. 

4.   

5.___________________________ 

Nominee: Nominated by: 
1. 

2. 

3. 

4.   

5.___________________________ 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

SLATE 4 

Nominated by: 

Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson

Manu Koenig

Donna Lind

Mike Rotkin

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Appoint or Nominate 2: Personnel/Human Resources Standing Committee Members 

Current (2023) Board Chair; Current (2023) Board Vice Chair; Immediate Past (2022)
Board Chair, Larry Pageler and 2 Board Members 

5 Total Members 
Committee Requires Current Board Chair, Current Board Vice Chair and  

Immediate Past Board Chair as members PLUS two Directors 
2022 Directors: Kristen Brown & Rebecca Downing 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. Current Board Chair, (2023) 

2. Current  Board Vice Chair, (2023) 

3. Larry Pageler, Immediate Past Chair (2022)    Automatic 

4. _______________________________

5.  _________ 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. Current Board Chair,  ____________________(2023)

2. Current Board Vice Chair,  ________________(2023)

3. Larry Pageler, Immediate Past Chair (2022) Automatic 

4. 

5. 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

Larry Pageler

Larry Pageler

Automatic 

Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler

Ed Bottorff

Jimmy Dutra, Chair (2023) 

Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, Vice Chair  (2023) 

Larry Pageler, Immediate Past Chair  (2022)

Rebecca Downing

Kristen Brown

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Nominate 1: SCCIC Representatives 
2022: President, Bruce McPherson; Vice President, Ari Parker; 

Secretary, Manu Koenig; Treasurer, Donna Meyers; and Larry Pageler
5 Total Members 

Expiring Director: Donna Meyers, Treasurer (term ends Feb. 2024) 

Nominee: 

1. Bruce McPherson, President

2. Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, Vice President

3. Manu Koenig, Secretary

4. Larry Pageler, Treasurer

5. ________________, Director

Nominee: 

1. ________________, President

2. ________________, Vice President

3. ________________, Secretary

4. ________________, Treasurer

5. Rebecca Downing, Director

Nominated by: 

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2024 

Term expires 2025 

Nominee: 

1. President

2. Vice President

3. Secretary

4. Treasurer

Nominated by:  

Term expires 2025  

Term expires 2025

5. Director

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2024 

Term expires 2025 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 3 

Nominated by: 

Term expires 2025  

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2025 

Term expires 2024 

Term expires 2025 

Larry Pageler

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Reappoint or Nominate 3: SCCRTC Representatives  
(2022 Reps: Ari Parker, Kristen Brown & Mike Rotkin) 

3 Total Representatives 

Nominee: 

1.

2.

3.

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 4 

SLATE 3 

Larry Pageler

Larry Pageler

Nominated by: 

Larry PagelerKristen Brown

Mike Rotkin

Vacant

Attachment C
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BOARD OFFICERS 
AND APPOINTMENTS 

Reappoint or Nominate 3: SCCRTC Alternates (in order)  
2022 Alternates: Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, Larry Pageler & Donna Lind 

3 Total Representatives 

Nominee: 

1.

Nominated by: 

2.

3.

Nominee: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Nominee: Nominated by: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

SLATE 2 

SLATE 1 

SLATE 3 

SLATE 4 

Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler 

Larry Pageler

Nominated by: 

Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson

Donna Lind

Larry Pageler

Attachment C
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From: Cayla Hill <CHill@scmtd.com>  
Sent: Thursday, January 19, 2023 8:31 AM 
To: 'tecalder@ucsc.edu' <tecalder@ucsc.edu> 
Cc: Donna Bauer <DBauer@scmtd.com>; John Urgo <JUrgo@scmtd.com> 
Subject: RE: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes 
 
Tianna, 
 
METRO deeply regrets the difficulties that you and other UCSC students are facing with METRO’s 
service. The agency understands that there is a need for more service on the UCSC routes to match 
increasing demand. However, METRO is unable to add any more UCSC service without taking away 
service from other service areas where riders also rely on METRO to commute to work, travel to doctor 
appointments, and buy their groceries. 
 
This fiscal year, METRO is operating roughly 14.5% less service countywide than was operated pre 
COVID. The reduction in service hours provided to UCSC service is 16.4%.  However, the percentage of 
service allocated to routes serving UCSC is 23.1% of overall service hours, which is only 0.5% less 
compared to pre-COVID service hours. 
 
METRO is experiencing a severe driver shortage, and while the agency is actively recruiting and trying to 
attract new drivers, total operator counts only increased by one operator compared to this time last year. 
METRO has an ongoing recruitment for operators and a new training class several times a year but 
METRO still continues to have existing drivers retire or resign and the new trainee class sizes have 
remained relatively low. Due to these issues in attracting and retaining operator talent, METRO will not 
be able to add any more service this spring. The current scheduled service is the maximum amount of 
service that can operated with the current number of Operators. METRO is working diligently to increase 
our operator counts by aggressively recruiting, offering sign on and employee referral bonuses for 
operator positions. 
 
Over the next year, METRO will be conducting a Comprehensive Operational Analysis. To understand 
how to redistribute service across Santa Cruz County to improve service for METRO riders and increase 
ridership, there will be an analysis of the entire system. The consultant hired for this project will advise 
METRO on where service should be increased and re-directed. Significant outreach efforts to the entire 
county will be an essential part of this process in order for METRO to receive feedback from riders and 
convey any changes in service to the community. The METRO Board of Directors, comprised of elected 
officials from all over the County, will be responsible for providing input and approving the changes to 
METRO's service resulting from this analysis. 
 
The next two METRO Board Meetings will be held on Zoom (January 27, and February 24), and 
METRO invites you and other UCSC students and staff to attend remotely. Please use these meetings as 
an opportunity to relay your requests directly to the METRO Board of Directors regarding increasing 
service on UCSC routes. The METRO board will also receive this communication for the upcoming 
meeting on January 27. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Cayla Hill 
Planning Analyst 
Planning Department, Santa Cruz Metro 
chill@scmtd.com 
(831) 420-2581 
 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

7.1.1
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From: Tianna Calderon <tecalder@ucsc.edu>  
Sent: Saturday, January 14, 2023 7:12 PM 
To: boardinquiries@scmtd.com 
Subject: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes 
 
Dear Metro Board of Directors,   I am sending this email to express my  frustration with regu larly  being left behind by  full Metro buses on the U CSC routes. T he chronic overcrowding on these routes makes it very  difficult for stu dents to attend  
ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerStart  

 

This Message Is From an External Sender  
This message came from outside your organization.  

~ Please exercise caution when clicking links or opening attachments. ~  
 

ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerEnd  

Dear Metro Board of Directors, 
  
I am sending this email to express my frustration with regularly being left 
behind by full Metro buses on the UCSC routes. The chronic overcrowding on 
these routes makes it very difficult for students to attend class, commute to 
work, and buy groceries. I would also like to note its unreliable on weekends 
when students could be going to the store for groceries or head downtown for 
activities. Weather also makes large impacts to how students travel. Many 
students are low-income and do not have any other transportation options; 
they depend on Metro for essential journeys and Metro has failed them. Metro 
has disproportionately reduced service to UCSC compared to the rest of the 
local bus network since 2020, despite the fact that UCSC enrollment has 
increased each year. Metro has failed to allocate service according to demand 
and according to the capacity needs of the UCSC community. 
Metro needs to increase service on the UCSC routes, starting with improved 
bus frequency in the busiest areas, such as Mission St. Buses running through 
campus right after a class period gets out are always extremely crowded, yet 
Metro does not run any extra service at these times. Metro needs to schedule 
buses according to the demand at different times of the day and on different 
days of the week. This is obvious to anyone who rides the bus regularly and 
should be obvious to the board as well. 
Many of the decisions that Metro has made which negatively affect students 
every day were made in closed-door meetings by Metro staff, without input 
from the UCSC community. We are feeling underrepresented by the Metro board, 
and would like meaningful improvements to be made.  
  
Best regards, 
 Tianna Calderon 
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-----Original Message----- 
From: Cayla Hill <CHill@scmtd.com>  
Sent: Thursday, January 19, 2023 8:33 AM 
To: 'gvinyard@ucsc.edu' <gvinyard@ucsc.edu> 
Cc: Donna Bauer <DBauer@scmtd.com>; John Urgo <JUrgo@scmtd.com> 
Subject: RE: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes 
 
Grace, 
 
METRO deeply regrets the difficulties that you and other UCSC students are facing with 
METRO’s service. The agency understands that there is a need for more service on the 
UCSC routes to match increasing demand. However, METRO is unable to add any 
more UCSC service without taking away service from other service areas where riders 
also rely on METRO to commute to work, travel to doctor appointments, and buy their 
groceries. 
 
This fiscal year, METRO is operating roughly 14.5% less service countywide than was 
operated pre COVID. The reduction in service hours provided to UCSC service is 
16.4%.  However, the percentage of service allocated to routes serving UCSC is 23.1% 
of overall service hours, which is only 0.5% less compared to pre-COVID service hours. 
 
METRO is experiencing a severe driver shortage, and while the agency is actively 
recruiting and trying to attract new drivers, total operator counts only increased by one 
operator compared to this time last year. METRO has an ongoing recruitment for 
operators, a new training class several times a year but METRO still continues to have 
existing drivers retire or resign, and the new trainee class sizes have remained relatively 
low. Due to these issues in attracting and retaining operator talent, METRO will not be 
able to add any more service this spring. The current scheduled service is the maximum 
amount of service that can operated with the current number of Operators. METRO is 
working diligently to increase our operator counts by aggressively recruiting, offering 
sign on and employee referral bonuses for operator positions. 
 
Over the next year, METRO will be conducting a Comprehensive Operational Analysis. 
To understand how to redistribute service across Santa Cruz County to improve service 
for METRO riders and increase ridership, there will be an analysis of the entire system. 
The consultant hired for this project will advise METRO on where service should be 
increased and re-directed. Significant outreach efforts to the entire county will be an 
essential part of this process in order for METRO to receive feedback from riders and 
convey any changes in service to the community. The METRO Board of Directors, 
comprised of elected officials from all over the County, will be responsible for providing 
input and approving the changes to METRO's service resulting from this analysis. 
 
The next two METRO Board Meetings will be held on Zoom (January 27, and February 
24), and METRO invites you and other UCSC students and staff to attend remotely. 
Please use these meetings as an opportunity to relay your requests directly to the 
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METRO Board of Directors regarding increasing service on UCSC routes. The METRO 
board will also receive this communication for the upcoming meeting on January 27. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Cayla Hill 
Planning Analyst 
Planning Department, Santa Cruz Metro 
chill@scmtd.com 
 (831) 420-2581 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Grace Vinyard <gvinyard@ucsc.edu>  
Sent: Tuesday, January 17, 2023 2:38 PM 
To: boardinquiries@scmtd.com 
Subject: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes 
 
Dear Metro Board of Directors, 
  
I am sending this email to express my frustration with regularly being left behind by full 
Metro buses on the UCSC routes. The chronic overcrowding on these routes makes it 
very difficult for students to attend class, commute to work, and buy groceries. Many 
students are low-income and do not have any other transportation options; they depend 
on Metro for essential journeys and Metro has failed them. Metro has disproportionately 
reduced service to UCSC compared to the rest of the local bus network since 2020, 
despite the fact that UCSC enrollment has increased each year. Metro has failed to 
allocate service according to demand and according to the capacity needs of the UCSC 
community. 
Metro needs to increase service on the UCSC routes, starting with improved bus 
frequency in the busiest areas, such as Mission St. Buses running through campus right 
after a class period gets out are always extremely crowded, yet Metro does not run any 
extra service at these times. Metro needs to schedule buses according to the demand 
at different times of the day and on different days of the week. This is obvious to anyone 
who rides the bus regularly and should be obvious to the board as well. 
Many of the decisions that Metro has made which negatively affect students every day 
were made in closed-door meetings by Metro staff, without input from the UCSC 
community. We are feeling underrepresented by the Metro board, and would like 
meaningful improvements to be made. 
  
Best regards, 
Grace Vinyard 
 
Sent from my iPhone 
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Akela, 
 
METRO deeply regrets the difficulties that you and other UCSC students are facing with 
METRO’s service. The agency understands that there is a need for more service on the UCSC 
routes to match increasing demand. However, METRO is unable to add any more UCSC service 
without taking away service from other service areas where riders also rely on METRO to 
commute to work, travel to doctor appointments, and buy their groceries. 
 
This fiscal year, METRO is operating roughly 14.5% less service countywide than was operated 
pre COVID. The reduction in service hours provided to UCSC service is 16.4%.  However, the 
percentage of service allocated to routes serving UCSC is 23.1% of overall service hours, which 
is only 0.5% less compared to pre-COVID service hours. 
 
METRO is experiencing a severe driver shortage, and while the agency is actively recruiting and 
trying to attract new drivers, total operator counts only increased by one operator compared to 
this time last year. METRO has an ongoing recruitment for operators, a new training class 
several times a year but METRO still continues to have existing drivers retire or resign, and the 
new trainee class sizes have remained relatively low. Due to these issues in attracting and 
retaining operator talent, METRO will not be able to add any more service this spring. The 
current scheduled service is the maximum amount of service that can operated with the current 
number of Operators. METRO is working diligently to increase our operator counts by 
aggressively recruiting, offering sign on and employee referral bonuses for operator positions. 
 
Over the next year, METRO will be conducting a Comprehensive Operational Analysis. To 
understand how to redistribute service across Santa Cruz County to improve service for METRO 
riders and increase ridership, there will be an analysis of the entire system. The consultant hired 
for this project will advise METRO on where service should be increased and re-directed. 
Significant outreach efforts to the entire county will be an essential part of this process in order 
for METRO to receive feedback from riders and convey any changes in service to the 
community. The METRO Board of Directors, comprised of elected officials from all over the 
County, will be responsible for providing input and approving the changes to METRO's service 
resulting from this analysis. 
 
The next two METRO Board Meetings will be held on Zoom (January 27, and February 24), and 
METRO invites you and other UCSC students and staff to attend remotely. Please use these 
meetings as an opportunity to relay your requests directly to the METRO Board of Directors 
regarding increasing service on UCSC routes. The METRO board will also receive this 
communication for the upcoming meeting on January 27. 
 
Best regards,  
 
Cayla Hill 
Planning Analyst 
Planning Department, Santa Cruz Metro 
chill@scmtd.com 
(831) 420-2581 
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Dear Metro Board of Directors,   I am sending this email to express my  frustration with regu larly  being left behind by  full Metro buses on the U CSC routes. T he chronic overcrowding on these routes makes it very  difficult for students to attend  
ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerStart  
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~ Please exercise caution when clicking links or opening attachments. ~  
 

ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerEnd  

Dear Metro Board of Directors, 
  
I am sending this email to express my frustration with regularly being left 
behind by full Metro buses on the UCSC routes. The chronic overcrowding on 
these routes makes it very difficult for students to attend class, commute to 
work, and buy groceries. Many students are low-income and do not have any 
other transportation options; they depend on Metro for essential journeys and 
Metro has failed them. Metro has disproportionately reduced service to UCSC 
compared to the rest of the local bus network since 2020, despite the fact 
that UCSC enrollment has increased each year. Metro has failed to allocate 
service according to demand and according to the capacity needs of the UCSC 
community. 
Metro needs to increase service on the UCSC routes, starting with improved 
bus frequency in the busiest areas, such as Mission St. Buses running through 
campus right after a class period gets out are always extremely crowded, yet 
Metro does not run any extra service at these times. Metro needs to schedule 
buses according to the demand at different times of the day and on different 
days of the week. This is obvious to anyone who rides the bus regularly and 
should be obvious to the board as well. 
Many of the decisions that Metro has made which negatively affect students 
every day were made in closed-door meetings by Metro staff, without input 
from the UCSC community. We are feeling underrepresented by the Metro board, 
and would like meaningful improvements to be made. 
  
Best regards, 
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Jasmin, 
 
METRO deeply regrets the difficulties that you and other UCSC students are facing with 
METRO’s service. The agency understands that there is a need for more service on the UCSC 
routes to match increasing demand. However, METRO is unable to add any more UCSC service 
without taking away service from other service areas where riders also rely on METRO to 
commute to work, travel to doctor appointments, and buy their groceries. 
 
This fiscal year, METRO is operating roughly 14.5% less service countywide than was operated 
pre COVID. The reduction in service hours provided to UCSC service is 16.4%.  However, the 
percentage of service allocated to routes serving UCSC is 23.1% of overall service hours, which 
is only 0.5% less compared to pre-COVID service hours. 
 
METRO is experiencing a severe driver shortage, and while the agency is actively recruiting and 
trying to attract new drivers, total operator counts only increased by one operator compared to 
this time last year. METRO has an ongoing recruitment for operators, a new training class 
several times a year but METRO still continues to have existing drivers retire or resign, and the 
new trainee class sizes have remained relatively low. Due to these issues in attracting and 
retaining operator talent, METRO will not be able to add any more service this spring. The 
current scheduled service is the maximum amount of service that can operated with the current 
number of Operators. METRO is working diligently to increase our operator counts by 
aggressively recruiting, offering sign on and employee referral bonuses for operator positions. 
 
Over the next year, METRO will be conducting a Comprehensive Operational Analysis. To 
understand how to redistribute service across Santa Cruz County to improve service for METRO 
riders and increase ridership, there will be an analysis of the entire system. The consultant hired 
for this project will advise METRO on where service should be increased and re-directed. 
Significant outreach efforts to the entire county will be an essential part of this process in order 
for METRO to receive feedback from riders and convey any changes in service to the 
community. The METRO Board of Directors, comprised of elected officials from all over the 
County, will be responsible for providing input and approving the changes to METRO's service 
resulting from this analysis. 
 
The next two METRO Board Meetings will be held on Zoom (January 27, and February 24), and 
METRO invites you and other UCSC students and staff to attend remotely. Please use these 
meetings as an opportunity to relay your requests directly to the METRO Board of Directors 
regarding increasing service on UCSC routes. The METRO board will also receive this 
communication for the upcoming meeting on January 27. 
 
Best regards,  
 
Cayla Hill 
Planning Analyst 
Planning Department, Santa Cruz Metro 
chill@scmtd.com 
(831) 420-2581 
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To: boardinqu iries@ scmtd. com Subject: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes Dear Metro Board of Directors,   I am sending th is email to express my  frustration with regularly  being left behind  by  full Metro buses on the UCSC rou tes. The  
ZjQcmQRYFpfptBannerStart  
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~ Please exercise caution when clicking links or opening attachments. ~  
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To: boardinquiries@scmtd.com 
Subject: Public comment, overcrowding on UCSC routes 
 
Dear Metro Board of Directors, 
  
I am sending this email to express my frustration with regularly being left 
behind by full Metro buses on the UCSC routes. The chronic overcrowding on 
these routes makes it very difficult for students to attend class, commute to 
work, and buy groceries. Many students are low-income and do not have any 
other transportation options; they depend on Metro for essential journeys and 
Metro has failed them. Metro has disproportionately reduced service to UCSC 
compared to the rest of the local bus network since 2020, despite the fact 
that UCSC enrollment has increased each year. Metro has failed to allocate 
service according to demand and according to the capacity needs of the UCSC 
community. 
Metro needs to increase service on the UCSC routes, starting with improved 
bus frequency in the busiest areas, such as Mission St. Buses running through 
campus right after a class period gets out are always extremely crowded, yet 
Metro does not run any extra service at these times. Metro needs to schedule 
buses according to the demand at different times of the day and on different 
days of the week. This is obvious to anyone who rides the bus regularly and 
should be obvious to the board as well. 
Many of the decisions that Metro has made which negatively affect students 
every day were made in closed-door meetings by Metro staff, without input 
from the UCSC community. We are feeling underrepresented by the Metro board, 
and would like meaningful improvements to be made. 
  
Best regards, 
Jasmin Fung 
--  
Jasmin Fung 
Student, College 10 
Second Year 
Proposed Sociology Major  
University of California Santa Cruz 
  (323)346-5051  

  

Jlfung@ucsc.edu  
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Chuck Farmer, CFO 

SUBJECT: ACCEPT AND FILE PRELIMINARY APPROVED CHECK JOURNAL 
DETAIL FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2022 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors accept and file the preliminary approved Check 
Journal Detail for the month of December 2022 

II. SUMMARY

• This staff report provides the Board of Directors (Board) with a preliminary
approved Check Journal Detail for the month of December 2022.

• The Finance Department is submitting the check journals for Board
acceptance and filing.

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND

This preliminary approved Check Journal Detail provides the Board with a listing
of the vendors and amounts paid out on a monthly cash flow basis (Operating
and Capital expenses).

All invoices submitted for the month of December 2022 have been processed,
the checks have been issued and signed by the Deputy Finance Director.

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT

This report aligns to METRO’s Financial Stability, Stewardship & Accountability
strategic plan.

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

The check journal present the invoices paid in December 2022 for Board review, 
agency disclosure and transparency. 

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE

N/A.

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 

10.1.1
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December 2022 Check Journal  

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED    

None.  

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Check Journal Detail for the Month of December 2022 
 
Prepared by:  Holly Alcorn, Accounting Specialist 
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IX. APPROVALS 

Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree CEO/General Manager 

December 2022 Check Journal 10.1.3
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MINUTES* 
MAC MEETING OF OCTOBER 19, 2022 
 
   

The METRO Advisory Committee (MAC) met on Wednesday, October 19, 2022.  The meeting was held 
via teleconference.  *Minutes are “summary” minutes, not verbatim minutes. 

1. CALLED TO ORDER at 6:01 PM. 

2. ROLL CALL - The following MAC Members were present via teleconference, representing a 
quorum: 

James Von Hendy, Chair Veronica Elsea 
Joseph Martinez, Vice Chair Michael Pisano 
James Cruse Becky Taylor 
Jessica de Wit AR 6:02 PM 

3. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Hearing none, Chair Von Hendy moved to the next agenda item. 

4. RECEIVE AND FILE MINUTES FROM THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING OF 
AUGUST 17, 2022 
MOTION:  ACCEPT AND FILE THE MINUTES FROM THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF AUGUST 17, 2022 AS PRESENTED 
MOTION:  PISANO SECOND:  CRUSE 
MOTION PASSED WITH 6 AYES:  Von Hendy, Martinez, Cruse, de Wit, Pisano, and Taylor. 
Elsea was absent. 

5. COMMUNICATIONS FROM METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE (MAC) 
Hearing none, Chair Von Hendy moved to the next agenda item. 

6. UPDATE ON INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS (ITS) 
Isaac Holly, IT and ITS Director, provided a status update on the ITS project with Clever Devices. 
The FAT (Factory Acceptance Testing) phase was completed. Installation can now begin on a 
mini fleet of 12 buses to test the system. After the mini fleet, it will be moved to the rest of the 
fleet. 

Mr. Pisano and Chair Von Hendy congratulated Director Holly on his accomplishments on 
moving the project forward. 

Director Holly reported that APC’s (Automated Passenger Counters) will be going to the Board 
of Directors, this includes crowd information. Mr. Pisano asked if it will include bike rack 
information. Director Holly replied that it will not at this time. Mr. Cruse asked if handicapped 
information would also be included. Brandon Freeman, Bus Operator, replied that it is not 
included because it is not currently funded. Mr. Cruse asked when will the software be available. 
Director Holly replied that we are experiencing some supply chain issues, but hope to have it 
soon. 

7. COVID-19 UPDATE 
Margo Ross, COO, reported that there have only been two positive COVID-19 cases in the last 
sixty days at METRO. We are currently out of the outbreak status at all of our facilities. We had 
a vaccination clinic to provide METRO staff with the flu shot and booster for COVID-19. Curtis 
Moses, Safety, Security & Risk Management Director, added that we are complying with the 
more relaxed regulations. 
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8. RECAP OF THE SANTA CRUZ COUNTY FAIR 

Margo Ross, COO, reported that METRO attended the Santa Cruz County Fair. We had two 
tents, one with a newly wrapped Gillig bus and the other with a ParaCruz van. METRO staff was 
on site throughout the week to answer questions, provide tours of the bus, and assist with prizes. 
Route 79F was created and ParaCruz service was extended to serve the fairgrounds the week 
of the fair. Free fares were offered on all trips to the fair on route 79F and ParaCruz. 

9. SERVICE PLANNING UPDATE 
a. Quarterly Ridership Report 

John Urgo, Planning and Development Director, said the quarterly ridership report will 
be going to the Board of Directors in November. Overall, ridership increased. We ended 
FY22 with ridership at 55% pre-COVID levels and we are now closer to 70% pre-COVID 
levels. 

b. Bus Stops 

b.i. Update on Braille Bus Stop Signage 
 Director Urgo reported that there have been and will continue to be conversations 

with Veronica Elsea and others on this item. 

c. Other Projects 
c.i. Pacific Station Lobby Access 

Director Urgo reported there has been no change on the Pacific Station Lobby 
Access. 

c.ii. Schedule Change Requests for Highway 17 
 Director Urgo said there are no changes for the Winter schedule, but we will look 

at that again for the Spring schedule. We will have a better picture of ridership after 
mid-November. 

c.iii. Cavallaro Transit Center TVM Issues 
Director Urgo said that there have been some functionality issues of the TVM’s. 
Currently, none accept chip cards. We have been in contact with our vendor and 
our TVM’s will not be upgraded to accept chip cards. The connectivity issues with 
some TVM’s and credit card payments are due to problems with the internet 
connection and service. IT and Operations are looking into it and are in 
communication with the service provider to improve connectivity. 

Mr. Pisano asked about the ridership for the two weeks that METRO offered free 
fares and how it was funded and where it was advertised. Director Urgo replied 
that ridership was successful, funded through general revenue, not grant funded, 
and advertised on various channels. Discussion continued on TVM’s and the long-
term vision for fares. 

10. ESTABLISH AND APPROVE THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE 2023 MEETING 
SCHEDULE 
MOTION: APPROVE THE 2023 MAC MEETING DATES OF FEBRUARY 15, APRIL 19, 
AUGUST 16, AND OCTOBER 18. 
MOTION: TAYLOR    SECOND: PISANO 
MOTION PASSED WITH 6 AYES: Von Hendy, Martinez, Cruse, de WIT, Pisano, and Taylor. 
Elsea was absent. 
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11. ELECT THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR FOR 2023 TERM 

MOTION: ELECT CHAIR DE WIT FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM (JANUARY 1 – DECEMBER 31, 
2023) 
MOTION: PISANO    SECOND: MARTINEZ 
MOTION PASSED WITH 6 AYES: Von Hendy, Martinez, Cruse, de Wit, Pisano, and Taylor. 
Elsea was absent. 
MOTION: ELECT VICE CHAIR MARTINEZ FOR A ONE-YEAR TERM (JANUARY 1 – 
DECEMBER 31, 2023) 
MOTION: PISANO    SECOND: DE WIT 
MOTION PASSED WITH 6 AYES: Von Hendy, Martinez, Cruse, de Wit, Pisano, and Taylor. 
Elsea was absent. 

12. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE METRO CEO 
None. 

13. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE METRO BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
None. 

14. ITEMS FOR NEXT MEETING AGENDA 

• Update on ITS 
• COVID-19 Update 
• Service Planning Updates 
• Update on Braille Bus Stop Signage 
• Pacific Station Lobby Access 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager, joined the meeting at this time. The MAC members 
welcomed CEO/General Manager Tree and introduced themselves. Chair Von Hendy asked 
CEO Tree what direction he would like to take METRO. CEO/General Manager Tree provided a 
brief overview of his goals are for METRO. 

15. DISTRIBUTION OF VOUCHERS 
Elizabeth Rocha, Administrative Specialist, will mail out the vouchers on Thursday, October 20, 
2022 to all members in attendance at this meeting. 

16. ADJOURNMENT 
The next MAC meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 15, 2023 at 6:00 PM. Meeting 
adjourned at 6:57 PM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Elizabeth Rocha 
Administrative Specialist 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO) 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES* 
DECEMBER 16, 2022 – 9:00 AM 

MEETING HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE 
A regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
(METRO) convened on Friday, December 16, 2022 via teleconference.  
The Board Meeting Agenda Packet can be found online at www.SCMTD.com. *Minutes 
are “summary” minutes, not verbatim minutes. Audio recordings of Board meeting open 
sessions are available to the public upon request.  
This document was created with accessibility in mind. With the exception of certain third 
party and other attachments, it passes the Adobe Acrobat XI Accessibility Full Check. If 
you have any questions about the accessibility of this document, please email your inquiry 
to accessibility@scmtd.com.  
1 CALLED TO ORDER at 9:01 AM by Board Chair Pageler.  
2 ROLL CALL: The following Directors were present via teleconference, 

representing a quorum:  
Director Kristen Brown  City of Capitola 
Director Rebecca Downing  County of Santa Cruz 
Direct Jimmy Dutra  City of Watsonville 
Director Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson   City of Santa Cruz 
Director Manu Koenig  County of Santa Cruz 
Director Donna Lind  City of Scotts Valley 
Director Bruce McPherson   County of Santa Cruz 
Director Donna Meyers  City of Santa Cruz 
Director Larry Pageler  County of Santa Cruz 
Director Ari Parker  City of Watsonville 
Director Mike Rotkin  County of Santa Cruz 
Ex-Officio Director Dan Henderson   UC Santa Cruz 
Ex-Officio Director Alta Northcutt   Cabrillo College 
Michael Tree  CEO/General Manager 
Julie Sherman   General Counsel 

3 ANNOUNCEMENTS  
Today’s meeting is being broadcast by Community Television of Santa Cruz 
County. 

4 BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMENTS 
Director McPherson congratulated and thanked CEO Tree and Donna Bauer, 
Executive Assistant, for having a great holiday party for METRO employees.  It 
was very well done and much appreciated by members of our team and everyone 
that attended. 
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Director Rotkin expressed appreciation on his reappointment by the County Board 
of Supervisors to the METRO Board.  He acknowledged several members of the 
labor movement opposed this reappointment and he plans to make a serious effort 
to reestablish the good relationship that he has had with the unions for over 30 
years while serving on the transit board.  He believes it is important to recognize 
the contributions of our employees and their representatives in the union and is 
willing to meet with both groups to reestablish the confidence that they used to 
have in his performance. 
Hearing nothing further, Chair Pageler moved to the next agenda item. 

5 ORAL AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
Chair Pageler mentioned the additional written communication received by Tiffany 
Rodriguez on December 15, 2022 (attached). 
Carey Pico spoke to his presentation in the agenda packet. 
Brian Peoples, Trail Now, thanked Mr. Pico for sharing his presentation and then 
spoke to his slide in the agenda packet. 
David Van Brink spoke of a recent trip taken from Yosemite National Park to his 
home in Santa Cruz by using five buses and a train to complete the trip.  He 
thanked METRO for its on-time service and providing public transit to the Santa 
Cruz area. 
Brett Garrett spoke of the Rail Corridor Automated Taxi (RailCAT) and suggested 
that it may work in Santa Cruz County. 
Tiffany Rodriguez, San Jose State University (SJSU) employee, spoke to her letter 
submitted to the Board regarding the changes to the Highway 17 Express ending 
at Diridon Station in San Jose, CA and the reduction of stops at the Cavallaro 
Transit Center in Scotts Valley. 
Teri Graziani, SJSU employee, spoke to her concerns detailed in her letters 
regarding the Highway 17 Express.  Director Rotkin thanked her for her comments 
and said they would be taken under consideration.  
Joe Martinez, Aptos resident, requested METRO to consider the comments made 
by Mr. Peoples and Mr. Pico and use that information to make transit decisions. 
Gregg, Aptos/Seacliff resident, made the case for a demonstration trail from State 
Park Drive to downtown Aptos.  Director Rotkin suggested Gregg contact the 
Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) because that 
organization controls the rail corridor and would make decisions regarding that 
area.  METRO is not involved in those decisions.  
Ryan Sarnataro, Aptos resident, supports a transit system that includes more than 
motorized vehicles (e.g., a bicycle infrastructure).  He expressed environmental 
concerns over industrializing the rail corridor. 
Buzz Anderson commented that any planning for a train and trail offset from the 
tracks invariably takes money and resources away from METRO and other 
communities.  He emphasized that METRO is the future of mass transit in Santa 
Cruz County.   
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Shannon Miller, SJSU employee, thanked Ms. Rodriguez for her letter.  It 
articulates many of the community concerns we have, both about discontinuing the 
bus from SJSU to Diridon Station and cutting service at Scotts Valley.   
Maura Leonor, expressed her disappointment that Daniel Dodge was not chosen 
by the County Board of Supervisors to represent South County on METRO’s Board 
of Directors.  She also requested the Board to bring back the two Watsonville 
routes temporarily discontinued. 
Barry Scott, Friends of the Rail and Trail, expressed support for all types of public 
transit and METRO’s new leadership under CEO Tree. 
David Tran, City of San Jose - Department of Transportation, echoed the 
comments made regarding the upcoming changes in the winter service, 
specifically around the Hwy. 17 Express.  He strongly urged the Board and Transit 
District to reconsider the change. 
Lani Faulkner, Equity Trust, said her organization would like to appreciate the work 
that the METRO Board, staff and CEO Tree are doing.  Equity Transit supports a 
strong bussing program and a future with passenger rail that will support so many 
in the Santa Cruz community. 
Chair Pageler asked METRO’s Planning Director, John Urgo, to provide additional 
information regarding the winter service schedule.  Mr. Urgo acknowledged that 
METRO does understand the impact these changes will have on its customers.  
We looked at adding the 5:30 PM trip back to Scotts Valley in this bid.  
Unfortunately, the Bus Operator is working an 11-hour shift, five days a week, and 
by contract, we cannot extend beyond 11 hours.  The next service change will be 
March 16, 2023 and we are planning to add the 5:30 PM trip back to Scotts Valley.  
On the Watsonville and the 91X service, we also hope that will be a temporary 
change and mentioned that METRO has actually added service to Watsonville with 
the Circulator.  He urged the public to bear with METRO as it continues to hire Bus 
Operators. 
Hearing nothing further, Chair Pageler moved to the next agenda item. 

6 LABOR ORGANIZATION COMMUNICATIONS  
James Sandoval, SMART Chairperson, Local 0023, acknowledged the holiday 
party was a great event.  He also congratulated Director Rotkin on his 
reappointment and was glad to hear Director Rotkin is willing to work together with 
the union because he will do the same.  As stated by Mr. Urgo, our Bus Operators 
are understaffed.  The quick solution to bringing most of the service back is hiring 
more Bus Operators.  We are recruiting right now; it is a great job and I highly 
recommend it to anybody.  Please get the word out there to apply online. 
Director Rotkin thanked Mr. Sandoval for his comment. 

7 WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE METRO ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Having none, Chair Pageler moved to the next agenda item.  

8 ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION TO SUPPORT EXISTING AGENDA ITEMS  
Having none, Chair Pageler moved to the next agenda item. 
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CONSENT AGENDA 

9.1 ACCEPT AND FILE: PRELIMINARY APPROVED CHECK JOURNAL DETAIL 
FOR THE MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2022  
Chuck Farmer, CFO  

9.2 ACCEPT AND FILE MINUTES OF: 
A. NOVEMBER 18, 2022 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 
Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

9.3 ACCEPT AND FILE: THE YEAR TO DATE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT AS 
OF NOVEMBER 30, 2022 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

9.4 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN 
FINDINGS AND DIRECTING THAT THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS WILL CONTINUE TO BE HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE 
Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

9.5 APPROVE: CONSIDERATION OF DECLARING VEHICLES AND/OR 
EQUIPMENT AS EXCESS FOR PURPOSES OF DISPOSAL OR AUCTION  
Chuck Farmer, CFO   

9.6 APPROVE:  RECOMMENDED ACTION ON TORT CLAIMS 
Curtis Moses, Safety, Security & Risk Management Director 

9.7 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF AUTHORIZING THE CEO TO EXECUTE A 
1ST CONTRACT AMENDMENT TO CONTRACT 23-05 WITH GILLIG, LLC TO 
INCREASE THE CONTRACT TOTAL PRICE BY $270,344 FOR PURCHASE 
AND DELIVERY OF FIVE BATTERY ELECTRIC BUSES  
Margo Ross, COO 

9.8 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL OF THE HOUSING AUTHORITY 
OF THE COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ ECOPASS PILOT PROGRAM 

 John Urgo, Planning & Development Director 
Director McPherson commented that it is great to see the pursuit of battery electric buses 
in Item 9.7.  We are on the right track and these efforts are appreciated. 
There was no public comment. 
ACTION: MOTION TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA AS PRESENTED  
MOTION: DIRECTOR LIND    SECOND: DIRECTOR DUTRA 
MOTION PASSED WITH 8 AYES (Directors Brown, Downing, Dutra, Kalantari-
Johnson, Lind, McPherson, Pageler and Rotkin).  Directors Koenig, Meyers and 
Parker were absent. 
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REGULAR AGENDA 

10 PRESENTATION OF EMPLOYEE LONGEVITY AWARDS (10 YEARS):  
CHRYSTAL AYRES, PABLO BERRELLEZA, LORENA CALDERON, TRAVIS 
HAVENS, ALLISON HERNANDEZ-ADAIR, JOAN JEFFRIES, GERMAN LOPEZ, 
MICHELLE MARTINEZ, OSCAR MENDEZ, JAMES SANDOVAL, MICHAEL 
THORN, AND ROBERT VALDIVIA 
Chair Pageler read the bios available and congratulated all on their years of 
service. 

11 RETIREE RESOLUTIONS OF APPRECIATION FOR:  RHONDA CARTER AND 
EILEEN WAGLEY 
Chair Pageler read the bio available and congratulated both on their retirement. 

ACTION: MOTION TO APPROVE THE RETIREE RESOLUTIONS AS PRESENTED  
MOTION: DIRECTOR ROTKIN    SECOND: DIRECTOR DOWNING 
MOTION PASSED WITH 8 AYES (Directors Brown, Downing, Dutra, Kalantari-
Johnson, Lind, McPherson, Pageler and Rotkin).  Directors Koenig, Meyers and 
Parker were absent. 
12 APPROVE:  CONSIDERATION OF AWARD OF CONTRACT TO JARRETT 

WALKER & ASSOCIATES, LLC FOR THE BUS NETWORK REIMAGINING 
PLAN NOT TO EXCEED $411,570 
John Urgo, METRO Planning and Development Director, spoke to his presentation 
(attached) for the Bus Network Reimagining Plan.  He outlined four key project 
outcomes: 
1) A comprehensive evaluation and analysis of METRO’s current fixed route 

system 
2) Engagement with the public in a network planning exercise through two or more 

alternative scenarios that illustrate difficult trade-offs in transit planning 
3) Review draft and final network scenarios matching possible financial 

projections—one with current resources and two with additional resources 
4) A robust process of interaction with the stakeholders--city councils, METRO 

Board and the public to provide input to the plan throughout the process 
The other piece that is driving this is METRO’s 5-Year Strategic Plan goals 
presented by CEO Tree at the October workshop—increase ridership, purchase 
only zero-emission vehicles to convert fleet by 2037, and develop affordable 
housing at METRO Transit Centers. 
Jarrett Walker and Associates, LLC was determined to be the highest ranked firm 
whose proposal fulfills the requirements of the RFP with costs that are fair and 
reasonable.  Staff is recommending the Board award a contract to Jarrett Walker 
and Associates, LLC for the Bus Network Reimagining Plan as presented and 
authorize the CEO/General Manager to execute this contract.  
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Director Downing thanked Mr. Urgo for his presentation.  She added that while she 
understands the ridership coverage challenges that are especially acute during our 
Bus Operator shortage, she’s looking forward to seeing this project engage 
communities. 
Director Kalantari-Johnson thanked Mr. Urgo for his presentation and mentioned 
that the County and City of Santa Cruz will be revising their housing element, which 
is very relevant to the goals METRO has set.  She hopes that we can integrate 
what has happened with these housing elements with this reimagining plan. 
Director Rotkin commented that Jarrett Walker and Associates, LLC is the 
preeminent transit planning firm and thanked Mr. Urgo for his presentation.  He 
added the importance of working closely with the various cities within Santa Cruz 
County on upcoming housing opportunities and making affordable housing 
compatible with existing neighborhoods.  He also added that METRO is planning 
to build housing units on its properties as well. 
Director Dutra said this is a good idea to include many voices throughout the 
County in this discussion.  He appreciates the support that our Chair and Board 
has given South County in addressing their needs. 
Lani Faulkner, Equity Transit, supports Jarrett Walker’s consultation services 
being awarded. 

ACTION: MOTION TO AWARD A CONTRACT TO JARRETT WALKER & 
ASSOCIATES, LLC FOR THE BUS NETWORK REIMAGINING PLAN NOT TO 
EXCEED $398,106 
MOTION: DIRECTOR KALANTARI-JOHNSON SECOND: DIRECTOR DUTRA 
MOTION PASSED WITH 8 AYES (Directors Brown, Downing, Dutra, Kalantari-
Johnson, Lind, McPherson, Pageler and Rotkin).  Directors Koenig, Meyers and 
Parker were absent. 
13 CEO ORAL REPORT / COVID-19 UPDATE   

Dawn Crummié, Human Resources Director, provided the CEO oral report on the 
following items: 
Celtis Ventures, Inc. – Recently onboarded, this marketing firm will assist with 
marketing support, brand development, creation of a photo/video library, social 
media and the implementation of a new website. 
One-Ride-At-A-Time Campaign – METRO’s Marketing Department has been 
making great progress on this campaign.  The campaign is a partnership with GO 
Santa Cruz County, a customer loyalty program that incentivizes riders to use  this 
system by making a donation to one of the two local environmental, non-profits—
The Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary or Bay of Life Fund.  METRO plans 
to unveil the first two bus wraps featuring land and sea photos from National 
Geographic photographer Frans Lanting at his gallery opening on January 21, 2023 
at the Santa Cruz Museum of Art and History.  
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Grants – METRO is currently working on the TIRCP grant, a $40 million grant at 
State level for hydrogen stations, buses and improvements to the Watsonville 
Transit Center. 
Articulated Buses – METRO is in the process of acquiring 10 articulated buses from 
San Diego Metropolitan Transit System that are 10 years younger than our oldest 
buses in the fleet.  This will help bridge the gap for when we order hydrogen buses 
and when we actually receive them. 
Ms. Crummié thanked Mr. Sandoval for his shout out on recruitment of Bus 
Operators.  We currently have six new hires in our training class.  They will complete 
training in late January 2023.  We are also running another recruitment through 
January 7, 2023.  Ads are running on radio stations KSCO AM 1080, FM 104.1 and 
95.7 and include testimonials from our current Bus Operators.   
We are also hiring Mechanics.  We currently have two Mechanics starting January 
11, 2023 and we are looking for four more.   
Director Rotkin asked Dawn to elaborate on the benefits of working at METRO as 
a Bus Operator.  Ms. Crummié gave a brief description of the compensation 
package and benefits available to the new Bus Operators.  We are currently hiring 
at Step 2, which is $24.58/hour, a $4,000 hiring bonus, a $2,000 referral bonus to 
current employees for referring a Bus Operator or Mechanic recruit.  METRO pays 
95% of the medical plan premium chosen by the employee.  METRO pays 100% 
of the dental and vision premiums.  We also provide life insurance, the CalPERS 
pension, and longevity awards. 
Lastly, METRO had a holiday party last weekend and it had a great turn out even 
with the rain.  Approximately 115 people attended.  A special thank you to Director 
McPherson for attending and greeting employees and a huge thank you to Donna 
Bauer for putting the whole thing together.  The decorations were beautiful and the 
hor'dourves were great.  Donna dedicated many hours in putting this all together 
and she did a wonderful job. 

14 ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Chair Pageler announced the next regular board meeting will be held on Friday, 
January 27, 2023 at 9:00 AM via teleconference. 

15 ADJOURNMENT 
Chair Pageler adjourned the meeting at 10:26 AM. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Donna Bauer 
Executive Assistant 
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            December 15, 2022 
 
To: Santa Cruz METRO Board of Directors:  
 
On behalf of Associated Students (AS) Transportation Solutions at San José State University (SJSU), the 
City of San José, and its Highway 17 Express riders, we are writing to voice serious concerns regarding 
the schedule changes taking effect on 12/22. Specifically, we want to address the changes to end service 
at Diridon and the reduction of stops at the Scotts Valley Park & Ride. However, first, we want to thank 
Santa Cruz METRO’s Board of Directors for listening to riders' concerns and adding a 5:30 pm run to the 
schedule, and we hope the Board will consider these additional requests. 
 
With the impacts on ridership due to the pandemic, creating a customer-focused experience is critical to 
restoring ridership and trust and in transit. Riders rely on the Highway 17 Express to provide an easy, 
safe, affordable, and sustainable commute to work and school. The changes are detrimental to our plans 
to encourage and incentivize students and staff to explore alternatives to their single-passenger 
vehicles. 
 
Continue Service to East Santa Clara St.- Ending Service at Diridon Station and requiring a VTA 
transfer further complicates the commute for those who already travel long distances. Many riders 
travel from as far as Monterey County, and studies show that complicated commutes and excessive 
transfers significantly decrease an individual’s willingness to take transit. Our riders have expressed 
concerns about missing transfers, VTA service reliability, extended commute times, and safety concerns 
when traveling at night, all of which have them reconsidering their transportation options. They have 
shared that the commute at that point is not worth the time, and driving becomes the mode of choice. 
We also have several people who have no other way of commuting than public transportation, which 
adds another layer of stress and challenges to their daily lives.  
 
Add stops in Scotts Valley- The Scotts Valley Park & Ride is essential to easing the commute of riders 
and is used by individuals who live not only in Monterey County, but also in the city of Santa Cruz, Scotts 
Valley, and the San Lorenzo Valley because of limited parking and options for first and last-mile 
connections. Commuters prefer the Scotts, Valley Park and Ride lot to the Pasatiempo Park & Ride 
because it has ample parking, provides a safe environment, and amenities for commuters that 
Pasatiempo does not offer. 
 
AS Transportation Solutions has been a long-time supporter of Santa Cruz METRO, and SJSU subsidizes 
the 31-Day pass and 15-Ride pass to enable riders to enjoy a modest discount, which helps boost 
ridership and take cars off the road. The City of San José does not offer similar fare subsidies at this 
time. There is no doubt that these changes are not wanted by riders and will make promoting this 
service as a viable commute option increasingly difficult and lead to more automobiles, congestion, and 
danger on the road.  
 
The City of San José has set ambitious goals for reducing greenhouse gas emissions caused by 
commuters driving alone. The Highway 17 Express provides a crucial service to City staff, downtown 
employers, and SJSU students and staff that supports those goals. Having a service that extends to City 

TRANSPORTATION SOLUTIONS 

One Washington Square, SU 1800 

San José, CA 95192-0129 

408.924.7433 | ts.sjsu.edu 
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Hall and the University, and doesn’t require a transfer is key to the success of this service. We don’t see 
the transfer as redundant service. We know that when there is a lack of seamlessness in a transit trip, it 
negatively affects passenger experience and consequently reduce ridership.  
 
We have been informed these changes result from multiple challenges Santa Cruz METRO is facing, 
including a lack of access to safe and sanitary restrooms for operators, challenges with rest stop 
parking, and bus operator shortages. We are open to discussing ways we can collaborate on potential 
solutions for restroom access and rest stops , or any other barriers that METRO is encountering to 
maintain the quality and ridership potential for this critical service.  
 
We hope you will take our concerns into consideration as you make your final decision. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
 
 
Tiffany Rodriguez, Manager 
Associated Students, SJSU 
Transportation Solutions 
Student Union, East Wing Room 1800 
San José, CA 95192-0129 
 
 

 
 
John Ristow 
Director, Department of Transportation 
City of San José  
200 E. Santa Clara St. 8th Floor 
San José, Ca 95113 
 
SJSU supporters of this letter include: 
 
Eric Cross, Parking Services Manager  
Debbie Andreas, Senior Sustainability Lead, Office of Sustainability 
David Chai, Chair, Sustainability Board 
Harish Chander, Chair, Staff Council 
 

Student Government • César E. Chávez Community Action Center • Child Development Center • Human Resources 
Print & Technology Center • General Services Center • Marketing & Events • Transportation Solutions 
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DRAFT

 
 

SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO) 
FINANCE, BUDGET, AND AUDIT STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES* 

JANUARY 13, 2023 – 8:00 AM 

MEETING HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE 
 
A regular meeting of the Finance, Budget, and Audit Standing Committee of the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) was convened on Friday, January 13, 2023, via teleconference.  

The Committee Meeting Agenda Packet can be found online at www.SCMTD.com.  *Minutes are 
“summary” minutes, not verbatim minutes. Audio recordings of Board meeting open sessions are 
available to the public upon request. 

This document was created with accessibility in mind. With the exception of certain third party and 
other attachments, it passes the Adobe Acrobat XI Accessibility Full Check.  If you have any questions 
about the accessibility of this document, please email your inquiry to accessibility@scmtd.com 

1 CALLED TO ORDER by Director Rotkin at 8:04 AM. 

2 ROLL CALL: The following Directors were present via teleconference, representing a quorum:  

Director Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson  City of Santa Cruz  
Director Manu Koenig    County of Santa Cruz 
Director Donna Lind     City of Scotts Valley   
Director Mike Rotkin      County of Santa Cruz   
Michael Tree     METRO CEO/General Manager 
Julie Sherman     METRO General Counsel 

3 ORAL AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO THE FINANCE, BUDGET, AND AUDIT 
STANDING COMMITTEE 
Hearing none, Director Rotkin moved to the next agenda item. 

4 ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS FROM AGENDA/ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION TO 
SUPPORT EXISTING AGENDA ITEMS  
Having none, Director Rotkin moved to the next agenda item. 

5 YEAR TO DATE MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022 
Chuck Farmer, CFO, spoke to the presentation and reviewed the six-month year-to-date actual 
versus operating surplus/deficit budget.  He explained that these numbers are driven by the Bus 
Operator shortage and slightly offset by overtime.  He continued with operating revenues and 
expenses and provided a forecast for the balance of FY23.  He gave a brief recap of active 
capital projects. 

There was no public comment. 

6 ORAL SUMMARY OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022  

A. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT - JUNE 30, 2022 

B. BROWN ARMSTRONG LETTER – REQUIRED COMMUNICATION TO THE BOARD 
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Finance, Budget, and Audit Standing Committee Minutes  
January 13, 2023 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

C. MEASURE D PROGRAM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022  

Chuck Farmer, CFO, introduced Lorraine Bayer, Accountant III.  She spoke to the auditor’s 
reports presented in the agenda packet and relayed that METRO received a clean, 
unmodified opinion.  There were no reportable findings, no management letter or compliance 
issues.  She reviewed the changes of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) lease standards and METRO’s pension obligation bonds and explained how they 
are depicted in the report. 
 
Director Rotkin congratulated the financial staff on a doing a great job and providing a clean 
audit.  Director Lind commented that she often uses METRO as an example because of the 
great job being done.  

There was no public comment.  

7 ADJOURNMENT 
Director Rotkin adjourned the meeting at 8:20 AM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Donna Bauer 
Executive Assistant   
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO) 

PERSONNEL/HR STANDING COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES* 
JANUARY 13, 2023 – 1:00 PM 

MEETING HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE 
 
A regular meeting of the Personnel/HR Standing Committee of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit 
District (METRO) was convened on Friday, January 13, 2023, via teleconference.  

The Committee Meeting Agenda Packet can be found online at www.SCMTD.com.   *Minutes are 
“summary” minutes, not verbatim minutes. Audio recordings of Board meeting open sessions are 
available to the public upon request. 

This document was created with accessibility in mind. With the exception of certain third party and other 
attachments, it passes the Adobe Acrobat XI Accessibility Full Check.  If you have any questions about 
the accessibility of this document, please email your inquiry to accessibility@scmtd.com 

1 CALLED TO ORDER by Director Pageler at 1:01 PM. 

2 ROLL CALL: The following Directors were present via teleconference, representing a quorum:  

Director Larry Pageler, 2022 Board Chair County of Santa Cruz  
Director Jimmy Dutra, 2022 Board Vice Chair  City of Watsonville  
Director Donna Lind, Immediate Past Board Chair  City of Scotts Valley  
Director Kristen Brown  City of Capitola  
Director Rebecca Downing  County of Santa Cruz.  
 
Michael Tree METRO CEO/General Manager 
Julie Sherman METRO District Counsel` 

3 ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS FROM AGENDA/ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION TO SUPPORT 
EXISTING AGENDA ITEMS  
Having none, Director Pageler moved to the next agenda item. 

4 ORAL AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS TO THE PERSONNEL/HUMAN RESOURCES 
STANDING COMMITTEE 
Hearing none, Director Pageler moved to the next agenda item. 

5 REVIEW REQUEST TO AUTHORIZE FUNDING FOR A SENIOR CUSTOMER SERVICE 
REPRESENTATIVE 
Dawn Crummié, HR Director, spoke to this item and requested funding for a Senior Customer 
Service Representative to address the needs of METRO’s Customer Service Department.  As call 
volumes and duties have increased, funding this position will allow for support seven days a week 
and the ability to provide training on operational procedures.  Discussion followed on the length of 
time that METRO has been short-staffed in this capacity.  

There was no public comment. 
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Personnel/HR Standing Committee Agenda  
January 13, 2023 
Page 2 of 2 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

 

 

MOTION:  REQUEST THE FULL BOARD TO AUTHORIZE AND FUND A SENIOR CUSTOMER 
SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE 

MOTION:  DIRECTOR LIND     SECOND:  DIRECTOR DOWNING 
MOTION PASSED WITH 3 AYES (Directors Pageler, Lind and Downing).  Directors Dutra and 
Brown were absent.   

6 ADJOURNMENT           
Director Pageler adjourned the meeting at 1:08 PM. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Donna Bauer 
Executive Assistant 
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DATE: January 27, 2023 
TO: Board of Directors 
FROM: Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer 
SUBJECT: ACCEPT AND FILE THE YEAR TO DATE MONTHLY FINANCIAL 

REPORT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors accept and file the Year to Date Monthly Financial 
Report as of December 31, 2022 

II. SUMMARY OF ISSUES 

An analysis of Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District’s (METRO) financial status 
is prepared monthly in order to inform the Board of Directors (Board) regarding 
METRO’s actual revenues and expenses in relation to the adopted operating and 
capital budgets for the fiscal year.   
This staff report is the web-accessible companion document to the attached 
PowerPoint presentation titled “Year to Date Monthly Financial Report as of 
December 31, 2022.”  
Staff recommends that the Board accept and file the attached report. 

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

Below are the written explanations of the various charts and graphs in the attached 
Year to Date Monthly Financial Report as of December 31, 2022. The fiscal year 
has elapsed 50%. 
Slide 1 
(Cover) Year to Date Monthly Financial Report as of December 31, 2022  
Slide 2  
December 2022 Key Financial Highlights 

• Service 
o Fixed Route (inc Hwy 17) Cost per Revenue Service Hour is $287 vs 

Budget of $449 
 3 canceled trips – 2 due to no Bus Operators 

o ParaCruz Cost per Trip is $65 vs Budget of $90 
o Non-Student/Hwy 17 Passengers is 144,766 vs Budget of 101,443 

  

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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YTD Financial Report 
 

• Financials 
O Operating Surplus/(Deficit) is favorable $0.7M driven by lower wages 

of $0.3M, fringe of $0.4M, and non-personnel of $0.1M; partially 
offset by higher OT of $0.2M 

o Non-Operating Revenues of $6.0M are $1.3M unfavorable vs budget 
of $7.3M driven primarily by lower COVID ARPA drawdown in 
December 

• Capital 
O Capital spend of $153K is behind budget of $320K primarily due to 

delayed billing on Demo/Parking lot rehab 
• Personnel 

o 282 Active Personnel vs 329 Funded Personnel (Reflects adopted, 
funded personnel as of June 2022) 

o 50 Vacancies at end of December, 27 related to Paratransit and Bus 
Operators 

o Recruitment completed for Van Operator (1), Transit Supervisor (1), 
Mechanics (7), Administrative Specialist (1) 

o Class of 10 Operators in progress 
Slide 3 
(Cover) December 2022, YTD Pre-Close Financials 
Slide 4 
December YTD FY23 Operating Surplus/(Deficit) Actual vs. Budget  

• Actuals are $2.5M favorable to budget – excludes UAL/Bond Payment and 
COVID related costs 
o Passenger Fares  – favorable by $340K, Ridership is still below pre-

pandemic levels, but is slowly recovering 
o Labor, Regular – favorable by $1,160K, due to funded/vacant 

positions 
o Labor, OT – unfavorable by $939K, increased overtime for Bus 

Operators 
o Fringe Benefits – favorable by $1,595K due to retirement and 

medical insurance savings from funded/vacant positions 
o Non-Personnel – favorable by $306K, primarily due to timing of 

spending 
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YTD Financial Report 
 

Slide 5 
December 31, 2022 YTD Operating Revenue and Expenses  

• Operating Revenue, net favorable by $340K 
o Passenger Fares - favorable by $244K 
o Special Transit Fares – favorable by $96K 

• Operating Expense, net favorable by $2,123K– Favorable wages and fringe 
driven by shortage of bus drivers and other vacant positions; partially offset by 
increased OT 
o Labor Regular – favorable by $1,160K 
o Labor OT – unfavorable by $939K 
o Fringe Benefits – favorable by $1,595K, excludes UAL related costs 
o Non-Personnel – favorable by $306K, excludes all COVID and Bond 

payment related costs 

• Operating Surplus of $2,462K 
o Farebox Recovery – 18.1% vs 15.4% budget 

• Non-Operating Revenue/(Expense), net favorable by $804K - Revenues 
favorable due to higher Sales Tax revenues, TDA/STA Grants, and Interest 
Income; partially offset by lower ARPA COVID drawdowns as a result of lower 
reimbursable costs 
o Sales Tax/including Measure D – favorable by $1,257K 
o Federal/State Grants – favorable by $1,554K 
o COVID Relief Grants – unfavorable by $2,335K 
o COVID Related costs – favorable by $95K 
o Pension UAL/Bond Payment costs – no variance 
o All Other Revenues – favorable by $251K 

• Operating Surplus before Transfers of $3,266K 

• Bus Replacement Fund  – higher by $249K due to increased Measure D sales 
tax revenues 
o Bus Replacement Fund – Minimum $3M annual commitment from 

Measure D sales tax and STA-SGR; FY23 budgeted transfer is 
$3.1M 

• Operating Surplus after Transfers – favorable by $3,017K 
Slide 6 
(Cover) Year End June 2023, Forecast Financials 
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YTD Financial Report 
 

Slide 7 
Full Year FY23 Surplus/(Deficit) Estimate vs. Budget, net favorable by $4.5M 

• Passenger Fares  – favorable by $555K, Ridership is still below pre-pandemic 
levels, but is showing strong recovery 

• Labor, Regular – favorable by $3,541K, due to funded/vacant positions 

• Labor, OT – unfavorable by $2,214K, increased overtime for Bus Operators 

• Fringe Benefits – favorable by $2,720K due to retirement and medical 
insurance savings from funded/vacant positions 

• Non-Personnel – unfavorable by $84K, primarily due to new CNG Fuel contract 
that is ~$1M higher than budgeted; efforts will be made to reduce spending in 
other areas to help offset this increased cost 

Slide 8 
Full Year FY23 Operating Revenue and Expenses Estimate 

• Operating Revenue, net favorable by $555K 
o Passenger Fares - favorable by $657K 
o Special Transit Fares – unfavorable by $101K 

• Operating Expense, net favorable by $3,963K– Favorable wages and fringe 
driven by shortage of bus drivers and other vacant positions; partially offset by 
increased OT 
o Labor Regular – favorable by $3,541K 
o Labor OT – unfavorable by $2,214K 
o Fringe Benefits – favorable by $2,720K, excludes UAL related costs 
o Non-Personnel – unfavorable by $84K, excludes all COVID and 

Bond payment related costs 

• Operating Surplus of $4,518K 
o Farebox Recovery – 17.5% vs 15.2% budget 

• Non-Operating Revenue/(Expense), net unfavorable by $364K - Revenues 
favorable due to higher Sales Tax revenues, TDA/STA Grants, and Interest 
Income; partially offset by lower ARPA COVID drawdowns 
o Sales Tax/including Measure D – favorable by $1,154K 
o Federal/State Grants – favorable by $1,554K 
o COVID Relief Grants – unfavorable by $3,549K 
o COVID Related costs – favorable by $155K 
o Pension UAL/Bond Payment costs – no variance 
o All Other Revenues – favorable by $322K 
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• Operating Surplus before Transfers of $4,154K 

• Bus Replacement Fund  – higher by $501K due to increased Measure D sales 
tax revenues 
o Bus Replacement Fund – Minimum $3M annual commitment from 

Measure D sales tax and STA-SGR; FY23 budgeted transfer is 
$3.1M 

• All Other Transfers: $2M UAL, $4.5M Operations Sustainability Reserve 

• Operating Surplus after Transfers – favorable by $3.7M, which will be 
transferred to the COVID Reserves 

Slide 9 
(Cover) Capital Spending & Project Completion 
Slide 10 
December 31, 2022 Capital Budget Spend 
Total Capital Projects spending month to date is $153K against budget of $320K 

• Construction Related Projects –  no spending, no budget  

• IT Projects – spending of $101K against budget of $72K 

• Facilities Repair & Improvements –spending of $2K against budget of $147K 

• Revenue Vehicle Replacement – spending of $50K against budget of $73K 

• Revenue Vehicle Electrification Projects – no spending, no budget  

• Non-Revenue Vehicle Replacement – no spending, no budget 

• Fleet & Maintenance Equipment – no spending, no budget 

• Miscellaneous – no spending against budget of $28K 
Total Capital Projects spending year to date is $1,306K against budget of $1,600K, 
which is 14.8% of $8,844K approved annual budget from December 2022 

• Construction Related Projects – spending of $10K against budget of $9K, which 
is 1.0% of $1,050K annual budget 

• IT Projects – spending of $603K against budget of $574K, which is 36.5% of 
$1,650K annual budget 

• Facilities Repair & Improvements – spending of $44K against budget of $318K, 
which is 4.4% of $992K annual budget 

• Revenue Vehicle Replacement – spending of $483K against budget of $531K, 
which is 18.1% of $2,666K annual budget 

• Revenue Vehicle Electrification Projects – spending of $34K, against budget of 
$6K, which is 2.7% of $1,251K annual budget 
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• Non-Revenue Vehicle Replacement – spending of $63K against budget of 
$63K, which is 13.5% of $468K annual budget 

• Fleet & Maintenance Equipment – no spending, no budget, with annual budget 
of $75K 

• Miscellaneous – spending of $69K against budget of $99K, which is 10.0% of 
$692K annual budget 

Overall YTD spending is at 82%, or $1.3M, of budget of $1.6M; primarily lower due 
to delayed billing from work done on Demo of two structures, repair sinkhole 
project 
Active Projects include: 

• ERP System  

• AVL/ITS, Automatic Passenger Counters 

• ZEB Chargers/Infrastructure 
Slide 11 
(Cover) Questions? 
Slide 12 
(Cover) Appendix 
Slide 13 
December 31, 2022 Monthly Operating Revenue and Expenses 

• Operating Revenue, net unfavorable by $39K 
o Passenger Fares - favorable by $54K 
o Special Transit Fares – unfavorable by $93K 

• Operating Expense, net favorable by $730K – Favorable fringe driven by 
shortage of bus drivers and other vacant positions 
o Labor Regular – favorable by $340K 
o Labor OT – unfavorable by $198K 
o Fringe Benefits – favorable by $447K, excludes UAL related costs 
o Non-Personnel – favorable by $142K, excludes all COVID and Bond 

payment related costs 

• Operating Surplus of $691K 
o Farebox Recovery – 14.8% vs 13.3% budget 

• Non-Operating Revenue/(Expense), net unfavorable by $1,286K – COVID 
Relief grant unfavorable by $1,757K due to lower drawdowns as a result of 
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lower reimbursable costs; partially offset by higher Federal/State grants of 
$362K 
o Sales Tax/including Measure D – favorable by $74K 
o Federal/State Grants – favorable by $362K 
o COVID Relief Grants – unfavorable by $1,757K 
o COVID Related costs – favorable by $19K 
o Pension UAL/Bond Payment costs – no variance 
o All Other Revenues – favorable by $16K 

• Operating Deficit before Transfers of $594K 

• Bus Replacement Fund  – higher by $1K due to increased Measure D sales 
tax revenues 
o Bus Replacement Fund – Minimum $3M annual commitment from 

Measure D sales tax and STA-SGR; FY23 budgeted transfer is 
$3.1M 

• Operating Deficit of $595K 

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

This report pertains to METRO’s Financial Stability, Stewardship & Accountability. 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

Favorable budget variances in Operating Revenues and Expenses contribute to 
favorable budget variance in Operating Balance, Year to Date as of December 31, 
2022.  

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

Update slide 2 for missing Key Financial Highlights 

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

There are no alternatives to consider, as this is an accept and file Year to Date 
Monthly Financial Report. 

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Year to Date Monthly Financial Report as of December 31, 
2022 Presentation  

 
Prepared by:  Cathy Downes, Sr. Financial Analyst   
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IX. APPROVALS 

Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer 

Michael S. Tree, CEO/General Manager ht~ /;_,r m1G/v;,,,fft~ 
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer 

SUBJECT: ACCEPTANCE OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 
2022 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors formally accept the audited financial statements 
and reports prepared by the firm of Brown Armstrong, Certified Public 
Accountants, for the year ended June 30, 2022. 

II. SUMMARY 

• The Financial Statements with Independent Auditor’s Report (Attachment 
A) prepared by the firm Brown Armstrong, Certified Public Accountants present 
Santa Cruz METRO’s financial position as of June 30, 2022.  The auditors have 
found that Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Santa Cruz METRO as of June 30, 
2022. 

• In the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance Over Financial 
Reporting Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with the Statutes, Rules, and Regulations of the California 
Transportation Development Act and the Allocation Instructions and 
Resolutions of the Transportation Commission (page 59-60), the auditors 
found nothing that came to their attention that indicated Santa Cruz METRO 
failed to comply with the Statutes, Rules, and Regulations of the California 
Transportation Development Act, and the allocation instructions and resolutions 
of the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) 
during the course of their audit. Additionally, the auditors tested Public 
Transportation Modernization, Improvement, and Service Enhancement 
Account (PTMISEA) program receipts and expenses for the year audited.  

• In the Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (pages 61-62), the 
auditors identified no findings associated with their testing of major federal 
program expenditures in connection with their audit performed under 
Government Auditing Standards (GAS) and in accordance with the audit 
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 

• The Required Communication to the Board of Directors in Accordance 
with Professional Standards letter (Attachment B) provides information 

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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related to the auditor’s responsibilities under generally accepted auditing 
standards as well as observations arising from the audit.  

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND  

Attachment A – Santa Cruz METRO’s Financial Statements with Independent 
Auditor’s Report  

The Independent Auditor’s Report (pages 1-3) attests that the audit was 
conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States.  The auditors have found that Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements 
present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of Santa Cruz METRO 
as of June 30, 2022. 

While the basic financial statements and notes (pages 17-45) provide information 
about Santa Cruz METRO’s financial position in detail, the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (pages 4-16) presents narrative highlights of the 
financial statements, an overview of the agency’s financial activities, and 
information that enhances overall financial disclosure. This report was prepared by 
Santa Cruz METRO management and staff.   

The Statement of Net Position (pages 17-18) present current and noncurrent 
assets and liabilities on a full accrual basis. Net position (deficit) represents the 
difference between total assets plus deferred outflows of resources and total 
liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position 
(page 19) present Santa Cruz METRO’s revenues, expenses and the net impact 
these activities had on its net position for the year.  

The Statement of Cash Flows (pages 20-21) demonstrate how changes in 
balance sheet accounts and income affect cash and cash equivalents.   

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements (pages 22-45) are an integral 
component of the financial statement report, as they provide additional information 
that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the financial 
statements. The notes describe the nature of Santa Cruz METRO’s operations and 
significant accounting policies, as well as clarify financial information unique to 
Santa Cruz METRO. 

The Required Supplementary Information (RSI) section of the report highlights 
information that is considered essential for placing the financial statements and 
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note information in an appropriate context, in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles: 

• The Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related 
Ratios (pages 46-47) and the Schedule of Contributions - Pension 
(page 48) for Santa Cruz METRO’s defined benefit pension plan 
present multiyear trend information that show whether the actuarial 
value of the plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative 
to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.  In March 2022, Santa 
Cruz METRO issued sales tax revenue bonds in order to refinance its 
pension obligations to CalPERS, with the intent of realizing significant 
interest cost savings in the future. 

• The Schedule of Changes in the Net Other Postemployment Benefits 
(OPEB) Liability and Related Ratios (page 49) and the Schedule of 
Contributions - OPEB (page 50) are required under current standards 
for accounting and financial reporting for OPEB plans (GASB 75), 
implemented in FY18.  At this time, Santa Cruz METRO has not 
prefunded the liability for retiree medical or other postemployment 
benefits.  
 

The Statement of Operating Expenses (page 51) is presented as Supplementary 
Information, showing the total operating costs that were reported in the financials 
in further detail, broken out by natural expense classification. 

Attachment B - Required Communication to the Board of Directors in 
Accordance with Professional Standards  

The Required Communication to the Board of Directors in Accordance with 
Professional Standards is a letter from the auditors that serves to communicate 
to those charged with governance the scope of audit procedures performed, 
significant findings or misstatements, and other information, such as significant 
accounting estimates, audit adjustments, any difficulties or disagreements with 
management, and other matters that are not communicated in the audited financial 
statements.  

Attachment C – Santa Cruz METRO’s Measure D Fund Financial Statements 
with Independent Auditor’s Report  

As a recipient agency of Measure D funds, Santa Cruz METRO is required to 
submit separate independently audited financial statements of Measure D funds 
received and used annually to the SCCRTC, for review by the Measure D Taxpayer 
Oversight Committee.  The FY22 Measure D audited financial statements were 
timely submitted to the SCCRTC along with Santa Cruz METRO’s district-wide 
audited financial reports.    
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IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

This pertains to METRO’s Financial Stability, Stewardship & Accountability. 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact from the Board’s formal acceptance of the financial 
statements and audit reports.  However, in order to continue to receive 
Transportation Development Act (TDA) payments from the SCCRTC, the final 
audit must be submitted to the SCCRTC within 180 days of the end of the fiscal 
year.  Santa Cruz METRO has met this TDA compliance requirement and the 
SCCRTC has accepted the FY22 audited financial statements.  

In addition, Santa Cruz METRO is required to submit annual audit reporting 
packages to numerous governmental agencies within specified deadlines in order 
to meet grant compliance requirements and continue to receive Federal, State and 
Local grant awards and funding.  Santa Cruz METRO has timely submitted the 
FY22 audited financial statements to all required grantor agencies. 

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

None.  The Finance, Audit and Budget Standing Committee recommended 
acceptance and approval of the FY22 audited financial statements and 
independent auditor’s reports, as presented, at their January 13, 2023 meeting. 

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

N/A  

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Santa Cruz METRO Financial Statements with Independent 
Auditor’s Report for the year ended June 30, 2022 

Attachment B: Required Communication to the Board of Directors in 
Accordance with Professional Standards (letter from Brown 
Armstrong, CPAs) 

Attachment C: Santa Cruz METRO Measure D Fund Financial Statements with 
Independent Auditor’s Report for the year ended June 30, 2022 
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IX. APPROVALS: 

Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
(Santa Cruz METRO) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents.  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of Santa Cruz METRO, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and cash flows thereof for the fiscal year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of Santa Cruz METRO and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions.  
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
As described in Note 15 to the financial statements, in 2022, Santa Cruz METRO adopted new 
accounting guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board No. 87, Leases. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Santa Cruz METRO’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about Santa Cruz METRO’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios, and 
Schedule of Contributions – Pension, as well as the Schedule of Changes in the Net Other 
Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) Liability and Schedule of Contributions – OPEB, as presented in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements. The accompanying statements of operating 
expenses and schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 9, 
2022, on our consideration of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That 
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG  
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of activities and financial performance of 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO or the District) provides a narrative and 
analytical overview of the financial activities of Santa Cruz METRO with selected comparative information 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Following the MD&A are the basic financial statements of Santa 
Cruz METRO together with the notes thereto, which are essential for a full understanding of the data 
contained in the financial statements. 
 
Activities and Highlights 
 
Santa Cruz METRO is an independent special-purpose district formed in 1969 by the legislature of the 
State of California for the purpose of providing fixed route bus service to the general public in Santa Cruz 
County. Santa Cruz METRO assumed direct operation of federally mandated Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) complementary paratransit (Paracruz) services in November 2004.  Prior to 2004, the 
paratransit service was delivered under contract.  Santa Cruz METRO also operates the Highway 17 
(Commuter) Express bus service to Santa Clara County in cooperation with the Santa Clara Valley 
Transportation Authority (VTA), Amtrak, San Joaquin Joint Powers Authority (SJJPA), and the Capitol 
Corridor Joint Powers Authority (CCJPA).  Overseeing the employees who work in the public interest, the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)/General Manager coordinates the operation of Santa Cruz METRO 
according to the policy and direction of the governing Board of Directors (Board), composed of eleven 
directors and two ex-officio directors as described in Note 1.A. 
 
The Financial Statements 
 
Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements are prepared using proprietary fund (enterprise fund) 
accounting that uses the same basis of accounting as private-sector business enterprises. Santa Cruz 
METRO reports its financial results using one enterprise fund under the accrual basis of accounting, 
which records revenue when earned and expenses when incurred.  
 
The Statement of Net Position presents complete information on Santa Cruz METRO’s assets and 
deferred outflows of resources, as well as liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference 
reported as net position. Over time, increases and decreases in net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the agency is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position reports the operating 
revenues and expenses, non-operating revenues and expenses, and capital contributions. Federal capital 
grant expenses are listed in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and are included in the 
current year increase in capital assets.   
 
The Statement of Cash Flows reports the sources and uses of cash for the fiscal year resulting from 
operating activities, non-capital financing activities (operating grants and sales tax receipts), capital and 
related financing activities (capital acquisitions and disposals), and investing activities (interest and rental 
receipts). The net result of these activities, added to the cash balances at the beginning of the year, 
reconciles to the cash balances (current plus restricted) at the end of the current fiscal year on the 
Statement of Net Position. 
 
The Notes to Basic Financial Statements are an integral component of the report, as they provide 
additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the financial 
statements. The notes describe the nature of Santa Cruz METRO’s operations and significant accounting 
policies as well as clarify financial information unique to Santa Cruz METRO. 
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Following the basic financial statements and footnotes is the Required Supplementary Information, which 
provides a schedule of changes in the net pension liability, schedule of contributions to Santa Cruz 
METRO’s defined benefit pension plan, schedule of changes in the net other postemployment benefits 
(OPEB) liability, and schedule of contributions to the OPEB plan. 
 
The Statement of Operating Expenses, located in the Supplementary Information section of the financial 
statements, reports expenses in greater detail. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
 Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of Santa Cruz METRO exceeded its assets and deferred 

outflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, resulting in a Total Net 
Position (Deficit) of $(20.1 million), a favorable reduction of $23.3 million from the prior year Net 
Position (Deficit) of $(43.4 million) at June 30, 2021. 
 

 Of this amount, $87.1 million consisted of Net Investment in Capital Assets, which reflects investment 
in capital assets used for operational and administrative functions (e.g., facilities, vehicles, and 
equipment), net of accumulated depreciation and related debt.  Accordingly, these assets are not 
available for future spending.  
 

 The remaining balance of Total Net Position (Deficit) represents Unrestricted Net Position (Deficit) of 
$(107.2 million).  The Unrestricted Net Position (Deficit) is the result, in large part, of Santa Cruz 
METRO’s pension obligations (Net Pension Liability) associated with the District’s defined benefit 
pension plan, that reached $44.1 million by June 30, 2022, retiree medical benefits obligations 
(OPEB) in fiscal year 2022 totaling $121.9 million at year-end, as well as pension obligation bonds 
debt incurred in fiscal year 2022 of $51.75 million. The Net Pension Liability and OPEB liabilities are 
required to be accounted for under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 
No. 68, and GASB Statement No. 75 respectively, and represent future long-term retiree pension and 
benefits obligations, however they do not significantly affect the District’s ability to meet immediate 
(short-term) operational cash flow needs.  Therefore, although the projected long-term pension and 
OPEB obligation costs have generated a deficit fund net position balance on the financial statements, 
Santa Cruz METRO is able to utilize current, available funds to pay for ongoing obligations for 
pension and retiree medical expenses as they come due.   
 

 Total passenger fares revenue increased by $1.2 million, a 104.2% increase, to $2.4 million and 
Special Transit fares increased by $2.1 million, a 57.0% increase, to $5.8 million.  These operating 
revenues increased significantly due to increased ridership and steadily increasing demand across all 
categories as more riders returned to recreational activities, work and school in-person, and reflect a 
growing recovery of customer trust in public transportation. The ridership increase was largely driven 
by increased service on University of California Santa Cruz (UCSC) routes as students returned to 
campus, as well as the restoration of local service. METRO was also unable to fully return to pre-
pandemic levels of service hours however, due to an ongoing operator shortage, which is affecting 
most transit agencies across the county.   
  

 Operating expenses (excluding depreciation) of $50.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2022 reflect 
a decrease of 9.8% over the prior year, compared to a 6.6% decrease for the year ended June 30, 
2021, over the previous year. Although a steep increase in operator overtime costs was incurred (as 
a result of increased service hours in tandem with challenges experienced in recruiting and retaining 
bus operators to keep up with service demand), a net decrease in operating expenses resulted in the 
current year due to the actuarially-determined expense account adjustments for pension and other 
postemployment benefits, as required under GASB 68 and 75.  In the prior year, the decrease in 
operating expenses was mainly attributable to the significant reduction in straight and overtime 
wages, due to an increased number of vacant positions along with extended unpaid leaves of 
absence during the pandemic. 
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 Capital assets (after the application of accumulated depreciation and amortization) of $87.7 
million reflect a net increase of $1.5 million over the previous year.  Depreciable asset additions 
were $7.8 million, offset by asset retirements of $4.3 million. An increase in accumulated 
depreciation and amortization of $5.4 million (from the current year depreciation and amortization 
expense adjustment) was offset by a $3.4 million write-off of accumulated depreciation 
associated with retired assets.  Current year capital asset additions were attributed primarily to 
the purchase of ten new CNG buses along with several maintenance facilities upgrades and 
improvement projects. See the Financial Activities – Capital section of the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis for more information about capital projects and Note 4 to the financials 
for a schedule of changes in capital asset balances. Capital procurements are funded by a 
combination of federal, state, and local grants, Measure D sales tax proceeds, and Operating and 
Capital Reserves. 

 
Financial Activities - Operations 
 
The following discussion provides an overview of the financial activities related to operations (operating 
revenue and expense) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Financial Activities related to capital (e.g., 
buses, equipment, and facilities improvements) are discussed later in this report.  
 
Operating Revenue and Expense: 
 
Santa Cruz METRO utilizes five primary sources of revenue to operate its public transit services: 
passenger fares, sales and use taxes, local transportation funds (TDA), federal funds, and other non-
transportation related revenues (including advertising income, investment income, and rental income).  
Operating expenses are classified into the following basic categories: labor and fringe benefits, services, 
mobile and other materials and supplies, utilities, insurance costs (casualty and liability), taxes, 
miscellaneous expense, interest, leases and rental expenses. These categories are consistent with the 
Uniform System of Accounts (USOA) and National Transit Database (NTD) reporting.  
 
As with many transit and public agencies across the region and throughout the state, Santa Cruz METRO 
faced financial challenges in the decade pre-pandemic, due to significant increases in operating and 
capital costs with lagging increases in operating or capital contributions.  Operating expenses nearly 
doubled in the last ten years, primarily in the categories of labor and fringe benefits due to substantial 
increases in the retirement and medical insurance costs. Furthermore, the recurring costs for health 
benefits, retirement, services, materials and supplies, insurance, and utilities have significantly exceeded 
the annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) for the region since 2012. Faced with constantly increasing costs, 
Santa Cruz METRO is constantly analyzing the economic and political landscape and redesigning its 
operations in order to align expenses with the available revenue stream in the current and future fiscal 
years. Significant fluctuations in the five primary operating revenue sources year-over-year are frequent 
and in direct correlation to the economy. Periods of economic downturns translate into sharp declines in 
sales and use tax revenues, and local and state transportation funds (TDA-LTF and TDA-STA) and vice 
versa.  
 
Santa Cruz METRO receives a ½-cent sales tax levied on all taxable sales in Santa Cruz County, 
collected and administered by the California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA). 
Additionally, in November 2016, the majority of Santa Cruz County approved Measure D, a ½-cent sales 
tax measure designed to fund a comprehensive and inclusive package of transportation improvements. 
Santa Cruz METRO receives 16% of net Measure D sales tax proceeds, in accordance with the set 
percentages detailed in the Measure D Expenditure Plan for direct allocations. Total sales tax receipts 
account for approximately 48% of Santa Cruz METRO’s operating revenue sources as per the fiscal year 
2022 Budget, adopted in June 2021. Actual sales tax revenues significantly exceeded budget projections, 
which resulted in favorable budget, as well as year-over-year variances, 22% and 12%, respectively.  
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Two other major sources of funding for public transportation, the Local Transportation Fund (LTF) and the 
State Transit Assistance Fund (STA), provided by the California Transportation Development Act (TDA), 
also contributed to the favorable budget variance for the year ended June 30, 2022. The combined share 
of TDA-LTF and TDA-STA Operating Assistance is 20% of Santa Cruz METRO’s non-operating revenues 
& expenses. The funds are allocated to areas of each county based on population, taxable sales, and 
transit performance and mirrored the increase in taxable sales, fuel prices and consumption in 2021 and 
2022. The year-over-year increase in TDA-LTF and TDA-STA were 21% and 29.5%, respectively.   
 
System performance during the fiscal year was marked by slow and steady ridership and service 
recovery. Santa Cruz METRO restored service to pre-pandemic levels on most routes and ridership 
ended the year at 55% of pre-pandemic levels (fiscal year 2019). The increase was largely driven by 
increased service on UCSC routes as students returned to campus, as well as the full restoration of local 
service. Passenger and Special Transit Fares reflected the growth in ridership and service hours and 
increased by 104% and 57% year-over-year, respectively.  
 
As effects of the pandemic were receding and service levels slowly restored, targeted advertising efforts 
and outreach contributed to the doubling of advertising income during the year that ended June 30, 2022. 
Year-over-year advertising revenues increased 100%.  On the other hand, long-term vacancies at the two 
main Transit Centers, Pacific and Watsonville Stations, resulted in lower rental income – 16.2% decline 
year-over-year. 
 
Santa Cruz METRO continued charging operating expenses to the supplemental FTA 5307 grants – 
Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act of 2021 (CRRSAA) and American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) - at 100% Federal share, with no local match requirements. FTA funds were 
used to support eligible operating expenses and maintain transit services during the pandemic. Total FTA 
operating assistance accounted for approximately 30% of total revenue, or $20.6 million, largely due to 
reimbursements of FTA-qualifying operating expenses related to the CRRSAA and ARPA. Furthermore, 
the supplemental COVID-19 FTA funding would allow Santa Cruz METRO to continue reinvesting other 
fungible revenues into its operating budgets in years to come in order to sustain services to the greatest 
extent possible during the economic recovery, or until these funds are exhausted.  
 
Operating expenses decreased by 8.7% year-over-year, with personnel expenses, comprising 70% of 
total operating expenses, decreasing by 16.7%. The decrease was primarily due to year-end Other 
Postemployment Benefits adjusting entries for GASB 68 and 75. As service hours increased and 
challenges of recruiting and retaining Bus Operators and other essential positions continued, overtime 
costs nearly tripled during the year. Paid absences decreased by 6% year-over-year, but remained 
relatively high, compared to pre-pandemic years, primarily due to the California Supplemental Sick Leave 
(SPSL), which provided public employees with paid time for qualifying reasons related to COVID-19.   
 
Non-personnel operating expenses: materials and supplies and other expenses, increased by 33.9% and 
23.1% year-over-year, respectively and in direct correlation with service levels. Additionally, high inflation 
and supply chain issues heavily contributed to the year-over–year increases in the costs of fuels and 
lubricants, tires and vehicle parts to name a few. 
 
Ridership: 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2022, Santa Cruz METRO’s fixed-route bus system consisted of 23 routes, and 
provided 2,775,283 rides with a fleet of 98 CNG, diesel, and electric buses.  Ridership increased by 
1,868,143 fixed-route rides (205.9%) from the previous year.  
 
System performance in fiscal year 2022 was characterized by a near return to pre-COVID (compared to 
FY19) levels of service and a slow but steady recovery of ridership. After falling by half in the pandemic’s 
early months, METRO provided 87% of pre-pandemic service in fiscal year 2022 as compared to fiscal 
year 2019. This increase was largely driven by increased service on UCSC routes as students returned to 
campus, as well as the full restoration of local service. Efforts to return to pre-pandemic levels of service 
were hindered however, by an ongoing operator shortage, which is affecting most transit agencies across 
the country. Santa Cruz METRO is working hard to address the operator shortage to meet the growing 
demand for service in the upcoming fiscal year. 
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Fiscal year 2022 ridership increased threefold compared to fiscal year 2021 to just over 2.7 million annual 
boardings, and finished the fiscal year at 55% of fiscal year 2019 levels. Throughout the pandemic, non-
student ridership decreased the least and recovered the fastest: fiscal year 2022 showed a steady 
increase in non-student ridership from 57% of pre-pandemic levels at the beginning of the year to 68% by 
year’s end. This is likely due to greater numbers of employers calling employees back to physical 
workplace settings and the large scale return of in-person activities (e.g. shopping, doctor’s appointments, 
etc). Highway 17 commuter ridership increased from 37% of pre-pandemic levels at the beginning of the 
year to 46% by year’s end. This was largely driven by the return of UCSC and SJSU to in-person 
learning, as well as increases in weekend ridership. Cabrillo College ridership increased steadily 
throughout the year from 6% of pre-pandemic levels in July 2021 to 27% by June 2022. Finally, rather 
than increasing throughout the year, UCSC ridership returned to its pre-pandemic form of peaks and 
valleys coinciding with high ridership months in fall and spring when classes are in session. The peaks 
averaged 65% of pre-pandemic activity while the valleys hovered below 40%, likely due to less on-
campus residential activity. 
 
Paracruz, Santa Cruz METRO’s paratransit service, provided 62,006 paratransit rides to mobility-impaired 
patrons on 32 specially equipped minibuses and minivans during fiscal year 2022. This represents a 
37.54% increase in Paracruz ridership from the prior year (23,280 additional paratransit rides), resulting 
primarily from the COVID-19 pandemic Shelter in Place orders ending in Santa Cruz METRO’s 
paratransit service area. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 
Following are the condensed comparative financial statements, which highlight key financial data. Certain 
significant year-to-year variances are discussed following the statements.  
 
Statements of Net Position: 
 

Condensed Statements of Net Position

2022 2021 Amount % 
Assets

Current Assets 81,120,074$    62,759,155$    18,360,919$    29.3%
Capital Assets - Net 87,719,045      86,248,588      1,470,457         1.7%
Restricted Assets 15,732,891      12,716,365      3,016,526         23.7%

Total Assets 184,572,010$  161,724,108$  22,847,902$    14.1%

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension and OPEB Contributions 69,495,555$    19,835,043$    49,660,512$    250.4%

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 69,495,555$    19,835,043$    49,660,512$    250.4%

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 13,973,036$    8,576,339$      5,396,697$      62.9%
Non-Current Liabilities 13,469,489      14,083,904      (614,415)          -4.4%
Other Long-Term Liabilities 217,080,225    198,799,403    18,280,822      9.2%

Total Liabilities 244,522,750$  221,459,646$  23,063,104$    10.4%

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Leases 431,003$          -$                     431,003$          100.0%
Pension and OPEB Deferrals 29,213,327      3,493,401         25,719,926      736.2%

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 29,644,330$    3,493,401$      26,150,929$    748.6%

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 87,122,102$    85,588,763$    1,533,339$      1.8%
Unrestricted Net Position (Deficit) (107,221,617)   (128,982,659)   21,761,042      16.9%

Total Net Position (Deficit) (20,099,515)$   (43,393,896)$   23,294,381$    -53.7%

2022 to 2021
Increase/(Decrease)
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2022 vs 2021 Analysis 
 
Key changes include: 
 
 Current assets increased by $18.4 million, or 29.3%, to $81.1 million. Change was driven by the 

significant increase in operating cash on hand by fiscal year 2022 year-end, a result of Coronavirus 
relief grants, ($7.3 million of Federal CRRSAA and $5.9 million of Federal ARPA operating assistance 
recognized in fiscal year 2022), as well as increases in sales tax, TDA-LTF and TDA-STA revenues. 
 

 Capital assets – net increased by $1.5 million, or 1.7%, to $87.7 million.  Although significant capital 
purchases were made in fiscal year 2022, including ten CNG buses for $6.5 million, net capital assets 
reflected only a moderate increase, due to the dampening offset effect of increased accumulated 
depreciation balances, which decreases the carrying value of existing capital assets. Santa Cruz 
METRO tracks the usage (depreciation) of capital assets to inform forecasting and capital planning, 
as part of METRO’s continuing strategy to maintain a state of good repair and working-order, manage 
deferred maintenance backlog, and replace, upgrade and improve aging facilities, infrastructure and 
fleet. 
 

 Restricted assets consists of restricted cash held in segregated accounts in the Santa Cruz County 
Pooled Investment Fund.  Total balances increased slightly from last year, by $3.0 million, or 23.7%, 
resulting in a $15.7 million balance by year end.  PTMISEA restricted funds of $3.9 million were spent 
down on the purchase of six CNG buses, while the accumulation of restricted unspent Measure D 
sales tax allocations and State Transit Assistance – State of Good Repair (STA-SGR) funds during 
the year tempered the decrease in total restricted assets.  Unspent restricted funds are currently 
committed as cost-sharing on awarded capital grants. The District deposited $3.4 million with a bond 
trustee for the pension obligation bond. 
 

 Deferred outflows of resources totaling $69.5 million include $10.5 million in OPEB retiree medical, 
dental and vision insurance premium payments, $7.6 million in pension contributions and actuarial 
adjustments that were recorded in the current fiscal year, and a $51.4 million employer pension 
contribution made by the application of proceeds derived from the fiscal year 2022 issuance of 
pension obligation bonds. See Note 14 for further information. 

 
 Current liabilities increased by $5.4 million, or 62.9%, to $14.0 million in total, in large part due to the 

current year issuance of pension obligation bonds ($2.8 million short-term portion of the debt), and 
the year-end accrual of the cost of four CNG buses for $2.6 million. 
 

 Non-current liabilities decreased by $614 thousand, or 4.4%, to $13.5 million: Capital grant funds and 
subsidies received are restricted and reported as liabilities (unearned revenue); Revenue recognition 
is deferred until grant funds are spent on the specific project or purpose for which they were awarded. 
Measure D sales tax allocations and STA-SGR grant funds received during the current year (unspent 
and restricted for capital costs) increased unearned revenue balances. However significant capital 
project outlays in fiscal year 2022 using California Proposition 1B Transportation Bonds Public 
Transportation Modernization, Improvement, and Service Enhancement Account (PTMISEA) grant 
funding resulted in a net decrease in total unearned revenue (liabilities) at year-end.    
 

 Other long-term liabilities increased by $18.3 million, or 9.2%, to $217.1 million, primarily as a result 
of incurring debt related to the issuance of pension obligation bonds in fiscal year 2022. 
 

 Deferred inflows of resources that netted to $29.6 million in pension investment earnings, OPEB 
deferrals and leases were recognized in the current year through the application of GASB Statements 
No. 68, No. 75 and No. 87 respectively. 
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position: 
 

2022 2021 Amount %

Operating Revenues 8,247,748$      4,898,901$      3,348,847$      68.4%
Operating Expenses 56,067,764      61,432,972      (5,365,208)       -8.7%

Net Operating Loss (47,820,016)     (56,534,071)     8,714,055        -15.4%
Non-Operating Revenues 63,785,154      54,149,739      9,635,415        17.8%
Capital Grant Contributions 7,329,243        5,485,327        1,843,916        33.6%

Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 23,294,381$    3,100,995$      20,193,386$    651.2%

2022 to 2021
Increase/(Decrease)

 
2022 vs 2021 Analysis 
 
Operating Revenues (Passenger Fares) of $8.2 million reflects an increase variance of $3.3 million, or 
68.4% increase, over prior year revenues, primarily due to the steady ridership and system recovery as 
the pandemic slowly receded.  
 
Operating Expenses of $56.1 million reflects a year-over-year decrease of $5.4 million, or 8.7%, due to 
several factors: Other Postemployment Benefits adjusting entries for GASB 68 and 75, increase in the 
number of vacant funded positions, extended unpaid leaves of absence, offset by increases in overtime, 
as well as retiree-related expenses.  
 
Non-Operating Revenues increased overall by $9.6 million, or 17.8%, over last year revenues primarily 
due to year-over-year increases in the following revenue categories: Sales and Use Tax, Transportation 
Development Act – Local and State Transit Assistance, as well as supplemental FTA 5307 Operating 
Assistance Grants (CRRSAA and ARPA).  
 
Capital Grant Contributions represents the total amount of capital grant and Measure D sales tax funds 
that were used to subsidize the purchase of facilities improvements and capital equipment, including 
revenue vehicles, during fiscal year 2022. The receipt and application of capital funds can fluctuate year 
over year based on a variety of factors including project eligibility conditions, formula-based funding 
criteria, government procurement processes, the economy, etc.  Capital contributions increased by $1.8 
million, or 33.6%, from last year.  
 
Budgetary Highlights 
 
The annual Operating and Capital budgets are used as management tools to monitor Revenues and 
Expenses, evaluate operating performance, and track the progress of Capital projects at any given time 
period.  The District’s Board approves these items prior to implementation.  The fiscal year 2022 budget 
total of $83,803,797 included $56,614,701 for Revenue and Expenses and $27,189,096 for Capital 
Projects (Capital Portfolio). The District finished fiscal year 2022 with operating expenses of $54,328,832, 
net of depreciation, workers’ compensation IBNR, and retirement-related actuarial adjustments; Capital 
expenses of $7,799,735 included $470,491 Capital Reserve spending and $7,329,244 of pass-through 
grant  
 
Financial Activities - Capital 
  
Capital Program: 
 
In fiscal year 2022, Santa Cruz METRO spent $7.8 million on the purchase of capital assets and on new 
and ongoing capital projects. A total of $7.3 million of these capital additions were paid for with capital 
contributions funded by a variety of sources, including the FTA, PTMISEA, STA, STA - State of Good 
Repair (STA-SGR), and Measure D local sales tax allocations.  A total of $0.5 million of these capital 
purchases were made using Capital Reserve Funds.  
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Noteworthy capital project activity in fiscal year 2022 includes:  
 
 New Santa Cruz METRO-owned Paracruz facility –Ongoing efforts continue to construct a new facility 

for Paracruz operations at the site of the Soquel Park and Ride lot in mid-Santa Cruz County. Metro 
successfully submitted an application for and received the local Planning Permit to build the ParaCruz 
Facility at this site in fiscal year 2022. Metro successfully submitted an application for Federal funding 
in fiscal year 2022, however the project was not awarded. Metro is revisiting the design and scope for 
the property, to potentially include affordable housing, which may allow the project to be eligible for 
other grant funding sources/prospects as well as financing opportunities. This project is in alignment 
with the METRO’s “10-Year Strategic Business Plan” adopted by the Board in January 2019.  
 

 Purchase of Ten (10) CNG Buses - METRO continues to replace aging vehicles in its fixed route 
fleet. METRO’s Transit Asset Management Plan (TAM) establishes the useful life of a bus as 14 
years; several buses in METRO’s fleet exceed this age and need to be replaced as soon as possible. 
In fiscal year 2022, 10 CNG buses were purchased utilizing a combination of capital grants and Bus 
Replacement Funds:  

 
 Three Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Plus low floor buses (35-foot) 

and three CNG BRT Plus low floor buses (40-foot) were purchased with PTMISEA funds to 
replace vehicles which had reached their useful life in METRO’s fleet, for a total of six CNG BRT 
Plus Low Floor buses. The vehicles replaced include four 1998 diesel buses and two 2003 CNG 
buses.  
 

 Two 35-foot CNG buses purchased utilizing the Bus Replacement Fund: One funded from fiscal 
years 2018 and 2019 State of Good Repair (SGR) funds that were originally programmed to have 
been spent on a pandemic-delayed project and were due to expire, and another from the last of 
the remaining deferred PTMISEA funds, with the difference covered by fiscal year 2020 SGR 
funds.  These two new bus purchases replace (and allow METRO to dispose of) two 20-year old 
diesels (with an average of 790,259 road miles) out of the fleet. 
 

 Two 35 foot CNG buses purchased utilizing FY19 FTA 5339 Caltrans Discretionary Funds and 
Measure D sales tax allocations.  These two new bus purchases replace (and allow METRO to 
dispose of) two 20-year old diesels (with an average of 790,259 road miles) out of the fleet. 

 
 Gate Control at JKS Bus Entry - METRO is in the process of enhancing security at all locations.  This 

project focused on the JKS and Bus Wash/Fueling station to have the lot closed at all times, and 
open as needed for vehicle movement. Previously the lot was open and accessible to the public, for 
both vehicles and pedestrians, which created a safety hazard to people who are not employees of 
METRO, as they are not trained on the proper use of the lot.  Additionally, it left METRO employees 
and property open to vandalism and other damaging actions.  Two automated gates were installed - 
for vehicle and pedestrian access -that provide security to METRO’s facility while maintaining access 
for METRO buses and employees. 
 

 Three (3) 2016 New Flyer Buses – Santa Cruz METRO entered into a lease-to-purchase agreement 
(financed purchase) in fiscal year 2018 for three New Flyer Xcelsior buses that extends through 
November 2023. This purchase is part of Santa Cruz METRO’s effort to replace and update its aging 
fleet.  The principal portion of the ongoing monthly lease payments is funded by Measure D funds, 
and totaled $267 thousand in fiscal year 2022. 
 

 JKS Facility - Bus Wash Rehab - N/S Corporation installed Santa Cruz METRO’s bus washer in June 
2006. With a life expectancy of 15 to 20 years, the bus washer at Santa Cruz METRO was due for 
and in need of rehabilitation.  Staff concluded a refurbished bus wash provides Santa Cruz METRO 
time (at least seven years) to research the reconfiguration of the JKS bus yard to accommodate a 
larger footprint for a new bus wash that has the ability to wash articulated buses and allow for 
modifications to wash the variety of bus models and configurations.  This project was completed 
using FTA 5339(a) grant and Capital Reserve funds. 
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 Maintenance Facilities Improvements: 
 

 Upgrade to Maintstar maintenance management software to the latest version in an off-premises 
configuration.  Funded with Capital Reserves  
 

 Radio console for Dispatch was replaced; The previous console was an outdated unit for radio 
communications and did not access the frequency required by Santa Cruz METRO.  Funded with 
Capital Reserves 
 

 The Santa Cruz METRO Maintenance Facility exterior was painted in Fall 2021: Cracks had 
allowed for water intrusion into the interior portion of the building, resulting in damage to the wall 
surfaces. Water damage had occurred on metal surfaces as well, resulting in rust and 
degradation of the infrastructure.  Rehabilitation of the external surfaces using proper methods 
and materials restored the building to its original functionality.  FTA 5339(a) funded. 
 

 Various Facilities Maintenance equipment was purchased with FTA 5339(a) funds including floor 
scrubbers, drain snakes, pressure washers, and vacuums.   

 
 Automatic Vehicle Location (AVL) – On board technology in the transit industry has afforded transit 

operators the ability to utilize detailed data to optimize services and offer an array of conveniences to 
their riders.  An AVL system provides real-time arrival and departure information to riders via mobile 
and desktop web applications.  Because AVL is becoming so common, it is increasingly becoming 
expected as standard in public transit.  Accordingly, AVL was approved by the Board of Directors in 
fiscal year 2018.  METRO partnered with Clever Devices in fiscal year 2022 to continue work on the 
AVL project to bring this technology to full and final system-wide implementation in the near future. 

 
Future Outlook 
 
In July 2022, Santa Cruz METRO started the new fiscal year with a balanced budget and a sustainable 
five-year projection of revenues and expenses, providing a clear road map for the delivery of service, 
future planned improvements and addressing anticipated challenges. Years of fiscally responsible 
decisions, enhanced focus on service efficiency, productivity, and sustainability coupled with favorable 
economic environment all contributed to Santa Cruz METRO’s improved financial position. The renewed 
focus on prudent financial planning by shoring up Operating and Capital reserve levels, allow public 
agencies the ability to navigate difficult times and respond to short-term crisis and funding disruptions. 
The COVID-19 pandemic that started at the beginning of 2020 is yet another example of the critical 
importance of sound financial planning and fiscal responsibility. Spreading with alarming speed and 
infecting millions, the pandemic brought the economy to a near standstill as shelter in place orders were 
imposed. Although the nation and world have not fully recovered, the District continues to monitor and 
financially plan to weather this pandemic.  Over the longer horizon, inflation, personnel shortages, supply 
chain issues, and uncertain economic environmental landscape are expected to leave lasting scars for a 
long period of time.  The impacts of the pandemic on transit agencies was immediate and devastating. 
Public transit plummeted nationwide as people telecommuted and avoided buses for fear of contracting 
COVID-19, resulting in less revenue from fares. However, sales tax revenues have increased more than 
expected due to people working from home. As we emerge from COVID-19, inflation has increased more 
than expected, resulting in higher costs on materials, supplies and equipment.  
 
Operational Improvements and Service Initiatives 
 
Even though transit ridership has yet to return, traffic congestion has. While Santa Cruz METRO was able 
to increase operating speeds during a few months of the pandemic due to a lack of congestion, traffic has 
returned to pre-pandemic levels, with a slightly shorter a.m. congested period but a longer mid-
afternoon/p.m. congested period. Changing traffic patterns have forced continual schedule adjustments 
while slower speeds make taking transit less attractive. This trend will continue to negatively impact 
transit operations unless Santa Cruz METRO can work with the cities and counties in which it operates to 
create dedicated roadway space for Santa Cruz METRO buses. 
 
Santa Cruz METRO’s priorities in fiscal year 2023 will continue to focus on rebuilding ridership post-
pandemic, planning for Santa Cruz METRO’s transition to zero-emission vehicles, and leading efforts with 
the City and County to develop affordable housing near key transit corridors.  
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Rebuilding Ridership 
 
Efforts to rebuild ridership post-pandemic will focus on service restructuring, planning for speed and 
reliability improvements, and customer-focused improvements to fare options and real time passenger 
information. 
 
Better Bus Network Reimagining 
 
Staff is currently seeking consultant assistance to develop a Five Year Bus Network Reimagining Plan 
scheduled for implementation between 2023 and 2028. Key project outcomes will include: 1) an 
evaluation of Santa Cruz METRO’s current fixed route system; 2) Completion of at least two alternative 
scenarios illustrating different policy directions that the Santa Cruz METRO bus network might take, 
focusing on the tradeoffs between ridership and coverage goals; 3) final network scenarios matching 
three possible financial projections, one with current resources and two with additional financial 
resources; and 4) a process of interaction with stakeholders, city councils, the Santa Cruz METRO Board, 
and the public that provides opportunities to provide substantive and impactful input to the plan. Santa 
Cruz METRO completed its last comprehensive service analysis in 2016 on the heels of a fiscal crisis that 
led to service cuts. The current planning effort will focus on service expansion, with a goal of doubling 
ridership in five years. The first phase of the planning effort will focus on ensuring Santa Cruz METRO is 
making the best use of current resources while subsequent phases will envision a future transit network 
should additional resources become available.  
 
New Service Initiatives  
 
Staff continuously seeks grant opportunities to fund new service. In fiscal year 2021, staff completed 
planning for a new zero-emission, free fare circulator in the Watsonville area, funded by a grant from the 
California Department of Transportation. Launched last fall, the service connects the downtown 
Watsonville Transit Center with retail and medical destinations, operating as a loop along Main Street, 
Green Valley Road, Freedom Centre, Freedom Boulevard and Lincoln Street. New service takes time to 
build ridership and in fiscal year 2022, the Watsonville Circulator was the fifth least productive route in the 
METRO system. Staff will continue to evaluate ridership on the circulator as part of the Better Bus 
Network Reimagining Plan and make recommendations for future service changes. 
 
Speed and Reliability Improvements 
 
Throughout Santa Cruz County, Santa Cruz METRO buses travel along congested streets and corridors 
without the benefit of transit supportive elements such as bus only lanes, traffic queue jumps, or bus 
boarding islands. This means travel by bus takes significantly longer and is less reliable than private 
automobile. In fiscal year 2021, Caltrans awarded Santa Cruz METRO a Caltrans Sustainable 
Transportation Planning Grant (STPG) to fund the Watsonville - Santa Cruz Intercity Transit Speed and 
Reliability Study. In fiscal year 2022, staff released a request for proposals for the project and awarded a 
consultant contract to Kimley-Horn to assist in evaluating traffic and travel conditions along the primary 
transit corridors connecting Watsonville and Santa Cruz, including Main Street and Freedom Boulevard in 
Watsonville, and Soquel Avenue and Capitola Road, in order to identify opportunities for pedestrian, bus 
stop and transit priority improvements aimed at improving the accessibility, speed and reliability of 
METRO’s core intercity routes. Besides recommending improvements for existing service, the study will 
lay the groundwork for planned rapid service along the Soquel Avenue/Main Street corridor. The project 
kicked off in September and is expected to be complete by the spring of 2024. 
 
In addition, staff continues to coordinate with the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC), Caltrans and Santa Cruz County on the Watsonville – Santa Cruz Multimodal 
Corridor Program (WSC-MCP), including the Highway 1 Auxiliary Lanes/Bus On Shoulder component and 
Soquel Avenue/Drive to Freedom Boulevard bicycle/pedestrian improvements. In fiscal year 2021, the 
California Transportation Commission approved over $100 million in funding for the WSC-MCP Cycle 2 
Project, which will construct auxiliary lanes on Highway 1 between Soquel Ave and State Park Drive and 
add buffered/protected bike lanes and transit signal priority (TSP) on Soquel Drive along the same 
segment. Staff is currently coordinating with the regional partners on a SB1 Cycle 3 grant application, a 
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$200 million project to extend the corridor improvements to Freedom Boulevard. As part of the 
application, Santa Cruz METRO is planning to install bus boarding islands, new bus shelters, and real 
time passenger information displays at up to 30 locations along the corridor. Application and 
announcement of award are expected in fiscal year 2023.  
 
Fare Programs 
 
Besides a focus on service and operations, staff is also working to build ridership through more 
convenient fare programs. In fiscal year 2021, Santa Cruz METRO launched a mobile ticket “Splash 
Pass,” which lets customers purchase Santa Cruz METRO fare products using a smartphone, and 
completed the installation of electronic validators on all Highway 17 buses for more accurate and efficient 
validation of tickets. Mobile fare payment can help reduce the cost of cash collection, speed up the 
boarding process, and improve convenience and access to fare products. The next phase of the project, 
planned for fiscal year 2023, will allow for contactless credit and smart card transactions to happen with 
the tap of a card on the Highway 17 validators. If successful, staff will seek funding to purchase and install 
validators fleet-wide. The final phase will involve the rollout of a new smart card and account based 
ticketing system using stored value accounts. Account-based ticketing will allow riders to exchange cash 
for pass products at an expanded local retailer network, enabling customers without a bank account to 
tap and ride. It will also allow Santa Cruz METRO to introduce fare-capping at day- or monthly-pass rates, 
so that customers will know they are always getting the best value no matter how much they ride. 
 
In addition, Santa Cruz METRO continued its partnership in fiscal year 2022 with the City of Santa Cruz 
Go Pass program, providing free rides to all 4,000+ downtown Santa Cruz employees, paid for by the 
City. The project aims to increase Santa Cruz METRO ridership while reducing the demand for parking in 
downtown Santa Cruz. Staff is looking to expand the program to County employees in fiscal year 2023. 
 
Finally, Santa Cruz METRO supported Assembly Bill 1919, as amended, which would have established a 
five-year Youth Transit Pass Pilot Program in California. While Governor Newsom vetoed the bill due to 
lack of funding in the state budget, staff will continue to explore funding opportunities to implement free 
fare programs, particularly for youth under 18. 
 
Real Time Passenger Information 
 
Staff is also working to improve the customer experience through improving access to real time 
information. Staff is currently implementing a Computer-Aided Dispatch / Automatic Vehicle Location 
(CAD/AVL) system on its fleet, which will allow real time vehicle location tracking and help the agency 
better track bus speed and reliability. Besides providing better data with which to plan and schedule, the 
system will provide customers with real time bus location and next bus arrival predictions, allowing 
customers to track vehicles in real time. The system is expected to go live in early 2023. 
 
Additionally, Santa Cruz METRO plans to install new Automated Passenger Counters (APCs) on its fleet 
in fiscal year 2023. APCs will provide the Planning Department with a rich dataset for route and service 
planning, including boarding and alighting information at the level of individual bus stops for all trips. It will 
also provide real time crowding information to customers so that they can make more informed decisions 
when trip planning. 
 
Zero-Emission Vehicle Transition 
 
Santa Cruz METRO has set an ambitious goal of purchasing only zero emission buses (ZEB) moving 
forward, converting the entire 96 bus Santa Cruz METRO fleet by 2037. Phase 1 of this plan involved the 
procurement and deployment of four battery electric buses (BEB) on the Watsonville Circulator Route, 
which was completed in fiscal year 2022. Phase 2 will convert 100% of Santa Cruz METRO’s fleet serving 
Watsonville to ZEB by 2027. Phase 3 will involve the full transition of Santa Cruz METRO’s fleet to ZEB 
by the end of 2037, through a mix of fuel cell electric buses (FCEB) and BEB. This would put the agency 
ahead of the California Air Resources Board (CARB) mandate that all transit agencies in California 
operate 100% ZEB by 2040. In fiscal year 2022, the Planning and Development Department worked with 
the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) to use funding available for Highway 17 service to procure four  
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additional BEBs. Staff also submitted a highly competitive grant to the FTA Low or No Emission Vehicle 
and Bus and Bus Facilities Programs for 20 hydrogen fuel cell buses and construction of a hydrogen 
fueling facility and associated improvements. While the FTA did not select the proposal for funding, staff 
will continue to support METRO’s transition to a 100% ZEB fleet in fiscal year 2023 by identifying funding 
opportunities and preparing grant applications. 
  
Supporting Affordable Housing Development in Santa Cruz County 
 
The housing market in the Santa Cruz – Watsonville area is by many measures one of the least 
affordable housing markets in the country. In the last on-board survey (2019), half of respondents 
reported household incomes below $50,000. Providing access to affordable housing near transit corridors 
is therefore critical to supporting future ridership. Access to high quality transit also makes housing more 
affordable by reducing the need to build expensive parking, while the ability to live a car-free or car-light 
lifestyle reduces the costs of transportation for residents. 
 
In the next decade, Santa Cruz METRO plans to develop 175 affordable housing units at Santa Cruz 
METRO transit centers and facilities, including Pacific Station, the Watsonville Transit Center and the 
Soquel Park and Ride. In fiscal year 2022, Santa Cruz METRO and the City of Santa Cruz were awarded 
$30 million from the state’s Affordable Housing and Sustainable Communities (AHSC) grant to redevelop 
the current Pacific Station site and adjacent City owned properties into 120 affordable housing units and a 
new bus station and tarmac. The project is currently in design and is expected to break ground in fall 
2023. Building on the success of the Pacific Station project, staff is working to develop conceptual design 
concepts for affordable housing projects at the Watsonville and Soquel Park and Ride sites. 
 
Marketing Initiatives 
 
In November 2022, Santa Cruz METRO hired an external marketing firm, Celtis Ventures Inc., to assist 
the agency in promotions, included in the contract is the design and implementation of a new website, 
development of a customer loyalty program, update to Santa Cruz METRO’s existing brand standards, 
creation of a video/photo library, marketing materials, social media support, and community engagement. 
 
Santa Cruz METRO’s marketing will be targeted at increasing environmental awareness in the community 
and the emissions savings that occurs from riding public transit over personal vehicle use. Campaigns will 
also tie into Santa Cruz METRO’s ZEB transition plan. 
 
In late fiscal year 2023, Santa Cruz METRO hopes to launch a customer loyalty program via a website 
that will track riders trips with a point system, the accumulated points can then be used to donate to a 
local environmental non-profit. Omissions savings from riding public transit will also be tracked. This 
loyalty program will be promoted through bus wraps encouraging riders to join the program. 
 
By fiscal year 2024, Santa Cruz METRO hopes to unveil a new website that will be more user-friendly and 
mobile responsive. The site will focus on connecting riders to service maps and schedules and highlight 
Santa Cruz METRO’s sustainability initiatives, specifically the emissions savings of our ridership. 
Additionally, Santa Cruz METRO will increase our social media footprint by creating an Instagram account 
and doubling our posts across all platforms to increase awareness.  Santa Cruz METRO also plans to 
participate in more community outreach events including parades, fairs, holiday events, community 
meetings, etc. 
 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
 
Santa Cruz METRO has selected Workday as its ERP with Avaap as the consultant to configure and 
install Workday at METRO.  The first phase will replace our HR system and bring in all payroll services 
from Santa Cruz County to Santa Cruz METRO.  The second phase will be to replace our legacy finance 
and purchasing systems that are not interconnected. An ERP will provide Santa Cruz METRO with the 
tools to expediently make informed business decisions and realize efficiencies in the staff workflow. In 
addition, as part of the ERP project, Santa Cruz METRO will be evaluating its existing systems as their 
viability within the ERP ecosystem.  
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 
 
State law requires Santa Cruz METRO to adopt an annual budget by resolution of the Board. In the 
spring preceding the start of each fiscal year, staff presents an annual budget based on established 
District goals, objectives and performance measures to the Board.  
 
The Santa Cruz METRO Board approves the annual budget prior to implementation.  Once adopted, the 
Board has the authority to amend the budget. While the legal level of budgetary control is at the entity 
level, the District maintains stricter control at departmental and line item levels to serve various needs. 
Any increase to the expense budget as a whole requires the approval of the Board.  
 
During the fiscal year, the adopted Operating and Capital budgets are used as management tools to 
monitor revenues and expenses and evaluate operating performance at any given time period. The 
Board of Directors monitors budget-to-actual performance through monthly staff reports and 
presentations.  Department managers monitor budget-to-actual performance on an accrual basis and 
meet with the Finance team periodically to review significant variances.  
 
The Board adopted the fiscal year 2023 Operating budget on June 24, 2022, totaling Revenue of 
$69,813,238; Operating Expenses of $60,959,938, and Transfers of $8,853,300.  
 
Total Operating Revenues are expected to increase 27.5% compared to the fiscal year 2022 budget 
primarily due to the inclusion of the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA) Covid-19 Relief grant, as 
well as increased TDA-LTF and TDA–STA, and Sales Tax (including Measure D) revenues. Additionally 
Passenger Fares (Fixed Route, Paratransit, and Highway 17 Fares) are projected to increase as recovery 
from the pandemic continues and riders return. Modest increases are anticipated in Special Transit Fares 
(contracts with UCSC, Cabrillo College, and Highway 17 Partners – Amtrak and VTA).  
 
Total Operating Expenses are projected to increase 7.7% compared to the fiscal year 2022 budget, 
driven by Labor and Fringe benefits increases such as cost of living adjustments, annual step increases, 
as well as anticipated higher medical costs. Non-personnel expenses are increasing as general 
inflationary adjustments are applied across all categories.  
 
Budgeted transfers are a combination of commitments made to maintain assets in a state of good repair, 
pre-funding of pension and other postemployment benefits liabilities, as well as excess fungible revenues 
set aside to be used in the future for Capital and/or Operating expenses.  
 
The Capital Budget Portfolio, adopted by the Board in June 2022 is $87,030,558, approximately 30% of 
which (or $25,500,773) is anticipated to be spent by the end of fiscal year 2023. Over 85% of the fiscal 
year 2023 Capital Budget Portfolio is allocated to bus and paratransit vehicle replacement projects and 
related infrastructure.   
 
Contacting Santa Cruz METRO’s Financial Management 
 
Santa Cruz METRO’s financial report is designed to provide Santa Cruz METRO’s Board of Directors, 
management, and the public with an overview of Santa Cruz METRO’s finances. For additional 
information about this report, please contact Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer, at 110 Vernon Street, 
Santa Cruz, CA  95060. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 62,094,202$    
Sales Taxes and Other Receivables 6,466,567        
Grants Recivables 10,342,102      
Lease Receivable 438,208           
Inventory 889,761           
Prepaid Expenses 889,234           

Total Current Assets 81,120,074      

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,732,891      

CAPITAL ASSETS
Building and Improvements 80,124,319      
Revenue Vehicles 48,809,131      
Operations Equipment 7,852,739        
Other Equipment 2,355,853        
Other Vehicles 1,242,443        
Office Equipment 3,950,861        

Total Depreciated Capital Assets 144,335,346    
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (73,044,294)     

Total Depreciated Capital Assets Net of
Accumulated Depreciation 71,291,052      

Construction-in-Progress 4,622,870        
Land 11,596,311      

Right-to-use Leased Asset, Net 208,812           

Total Capital Assets 87,719,045      

Total Assets 184,572,010    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Amounts from Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 10,450,283      
Deferred Amounts from Pension Activities 59,045,272      

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 69,495,555$    
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Continued) 

JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 4,345,545$      
Accrued Payroll and Employee Benefits 5,163,969        
Interest Payable 503,420           
Deferred Rent 3,543               
Workers' Compensation Liabilities, Current 461,764           
Other Accrued Liabilities 331,715           
Security Deposit 10,470             
Financed Purchase, Current 275,409           
Lease Liability, Current 92,201             
Pension Obligation Bonds, Current 2,785,000        

Total Current Liabilities 13,973,036      

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Unearned Revenue - State Transit Assistance (STA) 220,696           
Unearned Revenue - State of Good Repair (SGR) 2,936,015        
Unearned Revenue - PTMISEA Grant 584,864           
Unearned Revenue - Proposition 1B Grant 2                      
Unearned Revenue - Measure D 7,577,895        
Unearned Revenue - LCTOP 2,150,017        

Total Non-Current Liabilities 13,469,489      

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Workers' Compensation Liabilities, Net of Current 1,845,571        
Financed Purchase, Net of Current 117,244           
Lease Liability, Net of Current 112,089           
Pension Obligation Bonds, Net of Current 48,965,000      
Net OPEB Liability 121,906,043    
Net Pension Liability 44,134,278      

Total Other Long-Term Liabilities 217,080,225    

Total Liabilities 244,522,750    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred Amounts from Leases 431,003           
Deferred Amounts from OPEB 14,559,778      
Deferred Amounts from Pension Activities 14,653,549      

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 29,644,330      

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Net Investment in Capital Assets 87,122,102      
Unrestricted Net Position (Deficit) (107,221,617)   

Total Net Position (Deficit) (20,099,515)$   
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND  

CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022  

 
 
OPERATING REVENUES

Passenger Fares 2,400,603$      
Special Transit Fares 5,847,145        

Total Operating Revenues 8,247,748        

OPERATING EXPENSES
Wages, Salaries, and Employee Benefits 39,323,131      
Materials and Supplies 4,002,037        
Other Expenses 7,321,146        
Depreciation and Amortization 5,421,450        

Total Operating Expenses 56,067,764      

Net Operating Loss (47,820,016)     

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Sales and Use Taxes 29,313,308      
Transportation Development Act (TDA) Assistance 8,592,943        
State Transit Assistance (STA) 4,437,224        
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 
 Operating Assistance 20,454,906      
FTA Section 5311 Rural Operating Assistance 198,586           
Low Carbon Tranist Operations Program 405,067           
Alternative Fuel Credit 148,777           
Interest Income 239,452           
Interest Expense (523,059)          
Rental Income 52,787             
Other Revenue 361,819           
Lease Revenue 76,592             
Gain on Sale and Disposal of Property, Equipment, 
 and Inventory 26,752             

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses) 63,785,154      

Net Income Before Capital Contributions 15,965,138      

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Grants Restricted for Capital Expenditures 7,329,243        

NET POSITION
Change in Net Position 23,294,381      

Net Position (Deficit), Beginning of Year (43,393,896)     

Total Net Position (Deficit), End of Year (20,099,515)$   
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from Customers 8,028,579$      
Payments to Employees (87,800,555)     
Payments to Suppliers (9,571,529)       
Payments from Other (5,394,067)       

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (94,737,572)     

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Operating Grants Received, Including Sales and Use Taxes 63,395,626      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from Sale of Property and Equipment 26,752             
Capital Grants Received/(Used) 7,695,220        
Capital Expenditures (7,532,563)       
Gain on Sale of Assets 945,843           
Payments Made on Financed Purchase (368,069)          
Proceeds from Pension Obligation Bonds 51,750,000      

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Capital and 
  Related Financing Activities 52,517,183      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investment and Rental Income Received 292,239           

  
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21,467,476      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 56,359,617      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 77,827,093$    

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 62,094,202$    
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted 15,732,891      

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 77,827,093$    
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued) 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 

RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH 
  USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Operating Loss (47,820,016)$   
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Loss to Net Cash 
  Used in Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 5,421,450        
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

Decrease in Receivables (211,964)          
Decrease in Lease Receivables (7,205)              
Decrease in Inventory (115,577)          
Decrease in Prepaid Expenses (54,075)            
Increase in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 1,747,675        
Decrease in Interest Payable 503,420           
Decrease in Net Pension Liability (56,270,878)     
Increase in Net OPEB Liability 1,796,768        
Increase in Other Liabilities 272,830           

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (94,737,572)$   
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 
NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Description of Organization 

 
The Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO) was formed February 9, 1969, 
following a favorable election in conformity with Section 9800 et. seq. of the Public Utilities Code 
(PUC). The transit system serves the general public in the cities of Santa Cruz, Watsonville, Scotts 
Valley, Capitola, and the unincorporated areas of Santa Cruz County. The Board of Directors (Board) 
consisting of eleven directors and two ex-officio directors representing the University of California, 
Santa Cruz and Cabrillo College govern Santa Cruz METRO. At June 30, 2022, the Board was as 
follows: 
 
 Chairperson: Larry Pageler 
 Vice Chair: Jimmy Dutra 
 Members: Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson Donna Meyers Bruce McPherson 
   Ari Parker Manu Koenig Rebecca Downing 
   Kristen Brown Donna Lind Mike Rotkin 

 Ex-Officios: Dan Henderson Alta Northcutt 
 
Santa Cruz METRO also serves the Highway 17 corridor into Santa Clara County to provide a 
commuter express service through a memorandum of understanding with the San Joaquin Joint 
Powers Authority (SJJPA), the Capitol Corridor Joint Powers Authority (CCJPA), and the Santa Clara 
Valley Transportation Authority (VTA).  Amtrak Thruway bus service is also provided by Santa Cruz 
METRO on the same corridor. 
 

B. Reporting Entity 
 
Santa Cruz METRO and the Santa Cruz Civic Improvement Corporation (the Corporation) have a 
financial and operational relationship, which meets the reporting entity definition criteria of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, as amended by GASB 
Statement No. 39, The Financial Reporting Entity, for inclusion of the Corporation as a blended 
component unit of Santa Cruz METRO. Accordingly, the financial activities of the Corporation have 
been included in the basic financial statements of Santa Cruz METRO. For the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2022, these activities were minimal. 

 
Scope of Public Service: 
 
The Corporation is a nonprofit, public benefit corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of 
California and recorded by the Secretary of State in July 1986. The Corporation was formed for the 
sole purpose of providing financial assistance to Santa Cruz METRO for the construction and 
acquisition of major capital facilities. 
 
The following are those aspects of the relationship between Santa Cruz METRO and the Corporation 
which satisfy GASB Statement No. 14/39 criteria. 
 
Accountability: 
 
1. Santa Cruz METRO’s Board appointed the Corporation’s Board of Directors. 
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
B. Reporting Entity (Continued) 
 

2. Santa Cruz METRO is able to impose its will upon the Corporation based on the following: 
 

 All major financing arrangements, contracts, and other transactions of the Corporation must 
have the consent of Santa Cruz METRO. 
 

 Santa Cruz METRO exercises significant influence over operations of the Corporation as it is 
anticipated that Santa Cruz METRO will be the sole lessee of all facilities owned by the 
Corporation. Likewise, it is anticipated that Santa Cruz METRO’s lease payments will be the 
sole revenue source of the Corporation. 

 
3. The Corporation provides specific financial benefits or imposes specific financial burdens on 

Santa Cruz METRO based upon the following: 
 

 Santa Cruz METRO has assumed a “moral obligation,” and potentially a legal obligation, for 
any debt incurred by the Corporation. 

 
C. Basis of Accounting and Presentation 
 

Santa Cruz METRO is accounted for as a Business-Type Activity, as defined by GASB Statement No. 
34, Basic Financial Statements  Management’s Discussion and Analysis  for State and Local 
Governments, and its basic financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. 
Under this method, revenues are recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized 
when they are incurred. 
 
Santa Cruz METRO adopted GASB Statement No. 34, as amended by GASB Statement No. 37, 
Basic Financial Statements  and Management’s Discussion and Analysis  for State and Local 
Governments: Omnibus, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003, and applied those 
standards on a retroactive basis. GASB Statement No. 34 establishes standards for external financial 
reporting for state and local governments and requires that resources be classified for accounting and 
reporting purposes into three net position categories, namely, net investment in capital assets, 
restricted net position, and unrestricted net position. 

 
Contributed Capital/Reserved Retained Earnings: 
 
Santa Cruz METRO receives grants from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and other 
agencies of the U.S. Department of Transportation, state, and local transportation funds for the 
acquisition of transit-related equipment and improvements. Prior to July 1, 2001, capital grants were 
recognized as donated capital to the extent that project costs under the grant had been incurred. 
Capital grant funds earned, less amortization, equal to accumulated depreciation of the related 
assets, were included in contributed capital. As required by GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, Santa Cruz METRO changed its method of 
accounting for capital grants from capital contributions to reserved non-operating revenues. In 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, capital grants are required to be included in the 
determination of net income (loss) resulting in an increase in net revenue of $7,329,243 for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
Under GASB Statement No. 34, contributed capital and reserved retained earnings are presented in 
the net position section as net investment in capital assets. 
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
C. Basis of Accounting and Presentation (Continued) 
 

Proprietary Accounting and Financial Reporting: 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services, and producing and delivering goods, 
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues 
of Santa Cruz METRO are passenger fares and special transit fares. Operating expenses for Santa 
Cruz METRO include wages, benefits, professional services, materials and supplies, casualty and 
liability costs, depreciation/amortization on capital assets, and other expenses. All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 
 
Net Position: 
 
Net position represents the residual interest in Santa Cruz METRO’s assets and deferred outflows of 
resources after liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are deducted. In accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 34, the fund equity section on the statements of net position was combined to report 
total net position and present it in three broad components: net investment in capital assets, 
restricted, and unrestricted. Net position invested in capital assets includes capital assets net of 
accumulated depreciation. Net position is restricted when constraints are imposed by third parties or 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. All other net position is unrestricted. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is Santa Cruz 
METRO’s policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Santa Cruz METRO considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity date within three months of 
the date acquired to be cash equivalents. Santa Cruz METRO deposits funds into an external 
investment pool maintained by Santa Cruz County. These deposits are considered cash equivalents. 
The Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund is authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. 
Treasury agencies and instrumentalities, commercial paper rated A-1 by Standard and Poor’s 
Corporation or P-1 by Moody’s Commercial Paper Record, bankers’ acceptances, repurchase 
agreements, and the State Treasurer’s investment pool. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at fair 
value. For purposes of the statements of cash flows, Santa Cruz METRO considers all highly liquid 
investments (including restricted assets) to be cash equivalents. 

 
E. Inventory 
 

Inventory is carried at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory held by Santa Cruz 
METRO consists of spare bus parts and operating supplies that are consumed by Santa Cruz 
METRO and are not for resale purposes. 

 
F. Restricted Assets 
 

Certain assets are classified as restricted assets on the statements of net position because their use 
is subject to externally imposed stipulations, either by laws or regulations. 

 
Unspent grant funds from the State Transit Assistance (STA) and State Transit Assistance - State of 
Good Repair (STA-SGR) programs; Proposition 1B Public Transportation Modernization, 
Improvement, and Service Enhancement Account (PTMISEA); Proposition 1B Office of Homeland 
Security (OHS) and the California Transit Security Grant Program (CTSGP); the Low Carbon Transit 
Operations Program (LCTOP); State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and a portion of 
Measure D sales tax allocations are restricted for capital expenditures.  Additionally, the District has 
$3,423,140 of restricted cash deposited with a fiscal agent to meet pension obligation bonds debt 
reserve fund requirements. 
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
F. Restricted Assets (Continued) 
 

Restricted assets at June 30 are as follows: 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Proposition 1B PTMISEA Grant 584,864$         
Proposition 1B OHS and CTSGP Grants 2                      

   STA Grant 220,696           
   STA - State of Good Repair (SGR) Grant 2,811,084        
   Measure D 6,820,314        

LCTOP Grant 1,075,446        
STIP 797,345           
Pension Obligation Bonds 3,423,140        

Total Restricted Assets 15,732,891$    

 
G. Property and Equipment 
 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation for all such assets is computed on a 
straight-line basis. Estimated useful lives of assets are as follows: 

 
Buildings and improvements 20-39 years 
Revenue vehicles 12 years 
Other vehicles and equipment 3-10 years 

 
Depreciation expense on assets acquired with capital grant funds are transferred to net position, net 
investment in capital assets, after being charged to operations. 
 
Major improvements and betterments to existing facilities and equipment are capitalized. Costs for 
maintenance and repairs, which do not extend the useful lives of the applicable assets, are charged 
to expense as incurred. Upon disposition, costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
accounts and resulting gains or losses are included in operations. 
 
Santa Cruz METRO completed and capitalized the Scotts Valley Transit Center in fiscal year 1999. 
The cost of this facility totaled $4,063,634, which was funded by federal, state, and local funds. The 
former Scotts Valley Redevelopment Agency, a political subdivision of the State of California, was 
one of Santa Cruz METRO’s funding sources for this project and the Successor Agency has retained 
an interest in the property. The title to the property is retained by both Santa Cruz METRO and the 
Successor Agency as tenants in common with each party holding an individual interest in proportion 
to each party’s financial participation in the project. The Successor Agency’s portion of the property is 
13.87%. The Successor Agency’s portion is not recorded in Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial 
statements. 

 
H. Sales and Use Taxes Receipts 
 

1979 Gross Sales Tax (1/2-cent): In June 1978, voters in Santa Cruz County approved Measure G 
which changed the basis of transit support for Santa Cruz METRO from property tax to a ½-cent 
sales and use tax effective January 1979. This ½-cent sales and use tax levied on all taxable sales in 
Santa Cruz County is collected and administered by the California State Board of Equalization. Actual 
receipts of Measure G sales and use tax for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 was $27,902,479.  
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
H. Sales and Use Taxes Receipts (Continued) 
 

2017 Net Sales Tax (Measure D): This local ordinance to fund a comprehensive package of county-
wide transportation improvements passed in November 2016 by over 2/3 of Santa Cruz County 
voters. The transportation tax measure levies a 0.5% sales and use tax on retail sales within Santa 
Cruz County for a thirty-year period, effective April 1, 2017. Measure D sales and use tax receipts are 
administered by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission according to the 
Expenditure Plan identified in the ordinance. Santa Cruz METRO is allocated 16% of Measure D local 
sales and use tax receipts collected, net of administrative costs, to provide transit and paratransit 
service for seniors and people with disabilities. Measure D sales and use tax receipts were 
$4,327,486 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  During fiscal year 2022, $1,410,829 of Measure 
D funds were earned and spent on operating expenses, and $603,522 of Measure D funds were 
earned and spent on capital projects.  At June 30, 2022, $7,577,895, of Measure D funds were 
unspent and recorded as unearned (deferred) revenue. 
 
Additionally, Santa Cruz METRO is allocated, through the Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission, a portion of the 0.025% sales and use tax levied by the Transportation 
Development Act (TDA). 

 
I. Operating Assistance Grants 
 

Operating assistance grants are recognized as revenue in the grant period when earned. 
 

J. Self-Insurance 
 

Santa Cruz METRO is self-insured for the first $250,000 of general and vehicular liability. For 
settlements in excess of $250,000, Santa Cruz METRO has total coverage up to $25,000,000 per 
occurrence. The District also self-insures for vehicle physical damage coverage with a deductible 
option of $5,000 per vehicle and coverage up to $30,000,000 per occurrence. Additionally, Santa 
Cruz METRO is self-insured up to $350,000 for workers’ compensation claims. Santa Cruz METRO 
has recorded a liability for estimated claims to be paid, including incurred but not reported claims 
(IBNR). 
 

K. Employee Benefits 
 

Annual and medical leave benefits are accrued when earned and reduced when used. Any paid 
medical leave accrued beyond 96 hours may, at the employee’s option, be converted to annual leave 
and credited to the employee’s annual leave schedule or paid in cash, depending on the bargaining 
unit, at 100% of the earned rate. Employees are paid accrued and unused annual leave at the time of 
separation from Santa Cruz METRO service. 

 
L. Payroll 
 

Santa Cruz METRO contracts with the Santa Cruz County Auditor-Controller to provide payroll 
processing services. 

 
M. Pension Costs 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pension, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of Santa Cruz METRO’s 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) pension plan (Plan) and additions 
to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as 
reported by CalPERS.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value. 
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

N. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) 
 
For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
Santa Cruz METRO’s OPEB plan (OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from the OPEB Plan’s 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by CalPERS. For 
this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when currently due and payable in accordance with 
the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. Accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America require that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes. 
 

O. Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  
 

P. Implementation of GASB Statements 
 

GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases. The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after June 15, 2021. On July 1, 2021, Santa Cruz METRO implemented the provisions of 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, which establishes a single model for lease accounting based on 
the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. As a 
result, the District’s financial statements have been modified to reflect the recognition of certain lease 
assets and liabilities for leases that were previously classified as operating leases and recognized as 
inflows or outflows of resources based on the contract payment provisions. Under this Statement, a 
lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use asset, and a lessor is 
required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the 
relevance and consistency of information about a government’s leasing activities. See Notes 14 and 
15 for detailed discussion of the effects of Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements as a result of 
implementing this standard.  
 
GASB Statement No. 97 – Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans—an Amendment of 
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 84, and a Supersession of GASB Statement No. 32.  The 
requirements are applicable for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2021. There was no effect on 
Santa Cruz METRO’s accounting and financial reporting as a result of implementing this standard.  

 
Q. Future GASB Statements  

 
GASB Statement No. 89 – Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End of a Construction 
Period. The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2021. Santa Cruz METRO has not fully judged the effect of implementation of GASB Statement No. 
89 as of the date of the basic financial statements. 
 
GASB Statement No. 91 – Conduit Debt Obligations. The requirements of this statement are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Santa Cruz METRO will implement 
GASB Statement No. 91 if and where applicable.   
 
GASB Statement No. 92 – Omnibus 2020. The requirements of this statement related to Statement 
No. 87, implementation guide 2019-3, and reinsurance recoveries are to be implemented with GASB 
Statement No. 87; all other requirements are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022. 
Santa Cruz METRO will implement GASB Statement No. 92 if and where applicable.  
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NOTE 1 – OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Q. Future GASB Statements (Continued) 

 
GASB Statement No. 93 – Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates. The requirements of this 
statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022. Early application is 
encouraged. Santa Cruz METRO will implement GASB Statement No. 93 if and where applicable. 
 
GASB Statement No. 94 – Public-Private and Public-Private Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements. The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 
15, 2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. Early application is encouraged. Santa Cruz METRO 
will implement GASB Statement No. 94 if and where applicable.  
 
GASB Statement No. 96 – Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. The 
requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all 
reporting periods thereafter. Santa Cruz METRO will implement GASB Statement No. 96 if and where 
applicable.  
 
GASB Statement No. 99 – Omnibus 2022. The requirements of this statement are effective as 
follows: 
 

 The requirements related to the extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for SNAP 
distributions, disclosures of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues by 
pledging governments, clarification of certain provisions in GASB Statement No. 34, as 
amended, and terminology updates related to GASB Statement No. 53 and GASB Statement 
No. 63 are effective upon issuance. 

 The requirements related to leases, public-public partnerships (PPPs), and subscription-
based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) are effective for fiscal years beginning 
after June 15, 2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. 

 The requirements related to financial guarantees and the classification and reporting of 
derivative instruments within the scope of GASB Statement No. 53 are effective for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. 

 
Santa Cruz METRO will implement GASB Statement No. 99 if and where applicable. 
 
GASB Statement No. 100 – Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. The requirements of this 
statement are effective for accounting changes and error corrections made in fiscal years beginning 
after June 15, 2023, and all fiscal years thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. Santa Cruz 
METRO will implement GASB Statement No. 100 if and where applicable. 
 
GASB Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences. The requirements of this statement are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and all fiscal years thereafter. Earlier 
application is encouraged. The Authority will implement GASB Statement No. 101 if and where 
applicable. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents (restricted and unrestricted) consist of the following at June 30, 2022: 
 

Cash on Hand 12,930$           
Demand Deposits 1,215,467        
Certificates of Deposit (CD) 111,728           
Deposits with Trustee 3,423,140
Deposits in Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund 73,063,828      

77,827,093$    
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 
 
Cash on Hand and Cash in Banks 
 
Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and Santa Cruz METRO’s Investment 
Policy 
 
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for Santa Cruz METRO by the 
California Government Code (or Santa Cruz METRO’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The 
table also identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code (or Santa Cruz METRO’s 
investment policy, where more restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration 
of credit risk.  
 

   Maximum Maximum 
 Authorized Maximum Percentage Investment 
 Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer 

     

 Local Agency Bonds 5 years None None 

 U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None 

 U.S. Agency Securities 5 years None None 

 Bankers’ Acceptances 180 days None None 

 Commercial Paper 270 days None None 

 Negotiable CDs 5 years None None 

 Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None 

 Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days None None 

 Medium-Term Notes 5 years None None 

 Mutual Funds N/A None None 

 Money Market Mutual Funds N/A None None 

 Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 years None None 

 Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund N/A 100% None 

 Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A None None 
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value 
to changes in market interest rates.  
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of Santa Cruz METRO’s investments to market interest 
rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of Santa Cruz METRO’s 
investments by maturity: 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 
 
Cash on Hand and Cash in Banks (Continued) 
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 
 

12 Months 13 to 24 25 to 60 More Than
Investment Type Amount or Less Months Months 60 Months

Santa Cruz County 
Pooled Investment Fund 73,063,828$  73,063,828$  -$                   -$                   -$                   

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

 
Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of 
the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California 
Government Code or Santa Cruz METRO’s investment policy, and the actual rating as of year-end for 
each investment type. The column marked “exempt from disclosure” identifies those investment types for 
which GASB Statement No. 40 does not require disclosure as to credit risk: 
 

Minimum Exempt
Legal From Not

Investment Type Amount Rating Disclosure AAA Aa Rated

Santa Cruz County 
Pooled Investment Fund 73,063,828$  N/A -$                   -$                   -$                   73,063,828$  

Rating as of Year-End

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The investment policy of Santa Cruz METRO contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested 
in any one issuer beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code. Santa Cruz METRO did not 
have any investments in any one issuer (other than external investment pools) that represent 5% or more 
of total Santa Cruz METRO’s investments at June 30, 2022. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments is the 
risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government 
will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
another party. The California Government Code and Santa Cruz METRO’s investment policy do not 
contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or 
investments, other than the following provision for deposits:  The California Government Code requires 
that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging 
securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived 
by the governmental unit). The fair value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at 
least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies.  
 
GASB Statement No. 40 requires that the following disclosure be made with respect to custodial credit 
risks relating to deposits and investments: None of Santa Cruz METRO’s deposits with financial 
institutions in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits were held in uncollateralized 
accounts. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 
 
Cash on Hand and Cash in Banks (Continued) 
 
Investment in Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund 
 
Santa Cruz METRO is a voluntary participant in the Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund. The fair 
value of Santa Cruz METRO’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying basic financial 
statements at amounts based upon Santa Cruz METRO’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by 
Santa Cruz County for the entire Santa Cruz County portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that 
portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by Santa 
Cruz County, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis.  
 
Fair Value Measurements 

 
Santa Cruz METRO categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These principles recognize a 
three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows: 
 

 Level 1: Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets; 
 Level 2: Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset, either directly 

or indirectly, which may include inputs in markets that are not considered to be active; 
and 

 Level 3: Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources. 
 

Santa Cruz METRO has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2022: 
 

Investments by fair value level 

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical 
Assets 

(Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3)

Certificates of Deposit (CD) 111,728$            111,728$       -$                   -$                   

Total investments measured at fair value 111,728              111,728$       -$                   -$                   

Investments measured at amortized cost:

Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund 73,063,828         

Total pooled and directed investments 73,175,556$       

Fair Value Measurement Using

 
Investments in the Santa Cruz County Pooled Investment Fund totaling $73,063,828 as of June 30, 2022, 
are measured at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. 
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NOTE 3 – RECEIVABLES 
 
Sales taxes and other receivables at June 30, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Sales and Use Tax Revenue 5,724,714$      
Other 741,853           

 
6,466,567$      

 
Grant receivables at June 30, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Federal Grants 5,140,755$      
State Grants 4,597,825        
Local Grants 603,522           

 
10,342,102$    

 
 
NOTE 4 – CHANGES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Facilities, property, and equipment at June 30 are summarized as follows: 
 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2021 Additions Retirements Transfers June 30, 2022

Non-Depreciated Assets
Land 11,596,311$     -$                      -$                      -$                      11,596,311$     
Construction-in-Progress 5,191,107         7,520,623         (945,843)           (7,143,017)        4,622,870         

Total Non-Depreciated Assets 16,787,418       7,520,623         (945,843)           (7,143,017)        16,219,181       

Depreciated Assets
Building and Improvements 79,602,688       11,940              (12,028)             521,719            80,124,319       
Revenue Vehicles 45,946,726       -                        (3,309,447)        6,171,852         48,809,131       
Operations Equipment 7,740,769         -                        -                        111,970            7,852,739         
Other Equipment 2,147,277         -                        (4,484)               213,060            2,355,853         
Other Vehicles 1,210,602         -                        -                        31,841              1,242,443         
Office Equipment 3,911,209         -                        (52,923)             92,575              3,950,861         
Right-to-Use Leased Asset -                        305,187            -                        -                        305,187            

Total Depreciated Assets 140,559,271     317,127            (3,378,882)        7,143,017         144,640,533     

Less Accumulated Depreciation 
  and Amortization (71,098,101)      (5,421,450)        3,378,882         -                        (73,140,669)      

Depreciated Assets Net of 
  Accumulated Depreciation 69,461,170       (5,104,323)        -                        7,143,017         71,499,864       

Total Capital Assets 86,248,588$     2,416,300$       (945,843)$         -$                      87,719,045$     

 
Depreciation and amortization expense for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, was $5,421,450. 
 
 
NOTE 5 – CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Santa Cruz METRO receives capital grants from the FTA, which provide financing for the acquisition of 
rolling stock and construction of facilities. Santa Cruz METRO also receives capital grants under the State 
TDA primarily for the acquisition of rolling stock, support equipment, and the purchase of furniture and 
fixtures.  Additionally, a portion of sales tax allocations received through local Measure D are restricted for 
use on capital projects, as specified in Santa Cruz METRO’s Measure D funds annual expenditure plan 
approved by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC). 
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NOTE 5 – CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS (Continued) 
 
A summary of federal, state, and local capital grants and sales tax allocations for the fiscal years ended 
June 30 is as follows: 
 

Federal Grants 1,496,889$      
State Grants 5,228,832        
Measure D Local Sales Tax Allocations 603,522           

Total Capital Contributions 7,329,243$      

 
 
NOTE 6 – JOINT VENTURES (JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY WITH CalTIP) 
 
Santa Cruz METRO participates in a joint power authority (JPA), the California Transit Indemnity Pool 
(CalTIP). The relationship between Santa Cruz METRO and the JPA is such that the JPA is not a 
component unit of Santa Cruz METRO for financial reporting purposes. 
 
CalTIP arranges for and provides property and liability insurance for its 34 members. CalTIP is governed 
by a board that controls the operations of CalTIP, including selection of management and approval of 
operating budgets, independent of any influence by the member districts. Each member of the district 
pays a premium commensurate with the level of coverage requested and shares in surpluses and deficits 
proportionate to their participation in CalTIP. 
 
Condensed audited financial information of CalTIP for the year ended April 30 (most recent information 
available) is as follows: 
 

Total Assets 48,536,262$    
Total Liabilities 22,421,134      

Fund Balance 26,115,128$    

Total Revenues 15,106,543$    
Total Expenditures 14,136,598      

Net Increase in Fund Balance 969,945$         

 
CalTIP has not calculated Santa Cruz METRO’s share of year-end assets, liabilities, or fund balance. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
Santa Cruz METRO has received state and federal funds for specific purposes that are subject to review 
and audit by grantor agencies. Although such audits could generate expenditure disallowances under the 
terms of the grants, Santa Cruz METRO believes that any required reimbursement will not be material. 
 
Additionally, Santa Cruz METRO is party to various claims and litigation in the normal course of business. 
In the opinion of management and in-house counsel, any ultimate losses have been adequately provided 
for in the basic financial statements. 
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NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN  
 
A. General Information About the Pension Plan 

 
Plan Description 
 
Santa Cruz METRO’s defined benefit pension plan, the Miscellaneous Plan for Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (the Plan), provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-
living adjustments, and death benefits to Plan members and beneficiaries. The Plan is part of 
CalPERS, an agent multiple-employer plan administered by CalPERS, which acts as a common 
investment and administrative agent for participating public employers with the State of California. A 
menu of benefit provisions, as well as other requirements, is established by state statutes within the 
Public Employees’ Retirement Law. Santa Cruz METRO selects optional benefit provisions from the 
benefit menu by contract with CalPERS and adopts those benefits through Board action. CalPERS 
issues a separate annual comprehensive financial report. Copies of the CalPERS’ annual financial 
report may be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Office, 400 P Street, Sacramento, California 
95814. 
 
Funding Policy 
 
There were 290 active members in the Plan as of June 30, 2022, who were required to contribute a 
percentage of their annual covered salary.  Santa Cruz METRO is also required to contribute the 
actuarially determined remaining amounts necessary to fund the benefits for its members.  The 
actuarial methods and assumptions used are those adopted by the CalPERS Board of Administration. 
 Beginning in fiscal year 2018, CalPERS changed how it bills/collects employer contributions.  The 
total minimum required employer contribution is now the sum of the Plan’s Normal Cost Rate 
(expressed as a percentage of payroll) plus the Employer Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) 
Contribution Amount (billed monthly in dollars).  The required employer contribution for fiscal year 
2022 was 9.96% of covered payroll plus twelve (12) monthly payments of $427,165. The contribution 
requirements of the Plan members are established by state statute and the employer contribution rate 
is established and may be amended by CalPERS. 

 
The Plan’s provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2022, are summarized as follows: 
 

Prior to On or after
Hire Date January 1, 2013 January 1, 2013

Benefit Formula 2.5%@55 2%@62
Benefit Vesting Schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit Payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement Age 50 52
Monthly Benefits, as a Percentage of Eligible Compensation 2.000% - 2.500% 1.000%-2.500%
Required Employee Contribution Rates 8.000% 7.000%
Required Employer Normal Cost Contribution Rates 9.960% 9.960%
Required Monthly Employer Dollar UAL Payment $427,165/month $427,165/month

 
Employees Covered – At June 30, 2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms 
for the Plan: 
 

Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 413                  
Inactive Employees Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 175                  
Active Employees 290                  

Total 878                  
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NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
B. Net Pension Liability 
 

Santa Cruz METRO’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total pension liability, less 
the Plan’s fiduciary net position.  The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 
2021, using an annual actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2020, rolled forward to June 30, 2021, using 
standard update procedures.  A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine 
the net pension liability is shown below.   

 
Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

Valuation Date June 30, 2020
Measurement Date June 30, 2021
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%
Inflation 2.50%
Payroll Growth 2.75%
Projected Salary Increase Varies by Entry 

Age and Service (1)

Investment Rate of Return 7.000% (2)

Mortality Derived using 
CalPERS' Membership 

Data for all Funds

(3)

(1) Depending on age, service, and type of employment.
(2) Net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses, including inflation.
(3) The probabilities of mortality are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study for the 
period from 1997 to 2015. Pre-retirement and Post-retirement mortality rates include 15 years 
of projected mortality improvement using 90% of Scale MP-2016 published by the Society of 
Actuaries.  

 
Further details of the Experience Study can found on the CalPERS website. 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability for June 30, 2022, was 
7.15%.  To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount 
rate for the Plan, CalPERS stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that 
would be different from the actuarially assumed discount rate.  Based on the testing, none of the 
tested plans run out of assets.  Therefore, the current 7.15% discount rate for 2022 is adequate and 
the use of the municipal bond rate calculation is not necessary.  The long-term expected discount rate 
of 7.15% for 2022 will be applied to all plans in the Public Employees Retirement Fund (PERF). The 
stress test results are presented in a detailed report that can be obtained from the CalPERS website. 
  
According to Paragraph 30 of GASB Statement No. 68, the long-term discount rate should be 
determined without reduction for pension plan administrative expense.  For the reporting period 
ended June 30, 2022, the 7.15% discount rate was not reduced for administrative expenses. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 
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NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
B. Net Pension Liability (Continued) 

 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows.  Using 
historical returns of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound returns were calculated over the 
short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11-60 years) using a building-block approach.  Using the 
expected nominal returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was 
calculated for each fund.  The expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent 
expected return that arrived at the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one 
calculated using both short-term and long-term returns.  The expected rate of return was then set 
equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one 
quarter of one percent. 
 
The table below reflects the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class.  The rate of return 
was calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation.  These rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 
 

Asset Class
New Strategic 

Allocation

Real Return 

Years 1 - 10 (a)

Real Return 

Years 11+ (b) 

Public Equity 50.0% 4.80% 5.98%
Fixed Income 28.0% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation Assets 0.0% 0.77% 1.81%
Private Equity 8.0% 6.30% 7.23%
Real Estate 13.0% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1.0% 0.00% (0.92%)

Total 100.0%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.00% used for this period.
(b) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.

 

Attachment A

10.4A.40



 

37 

NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
C. Changes in the Net Pension Liability  
 

The changes in the net pension liability for the Plan follow: 
 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)

Balance at June 30, 2020 (1) 195,087,165$  130,877,015$  64,210,150$    

Changes in the year:
Service Cost 3,290,053        -                       3,290,053        
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 13,685,292      -                       13,685,292      
Differences between Actual and 
 Expected Experience 276,385           -                       276,385           
Contribution - Employer -                       6,469,902        (6,469,902)       
Contribution - Employee -                       1,514,329        (1,514,329)       

Net Investment Income (2) -                       29,474,109      (29,474,109)     
Administrative Expenses -                       (130,738)          130,738           
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds of 
 Employee Contributions (11,211,777)     (11,211,777)     -                       

Net Changes 6,039,953        26,115,825      (20,075,872)     

Balance at June 30, 2021 (1) 201,127,118$  156,992,840$  44,134,278$    

Increase (Decrease)

 

(1) The plan fiduciary net position includes receivables for employee service buybacks, deficiency 
reserves, fiduciary self-insurance, and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) expense. This may 
differ from the Plan assets reported in the funding actuarial valuation report. 

(2) Net of administrative expenses.  
 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents 
the net pension liability of the Plan, calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what 
Santa Cruz METRO’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease 6.15%
Net Pension Liability 68,449,412$    

Current Discount Rate 7.15%
Net Pension Liability 44,134,278$    

1% Increase 8.15%
Net Pension Liability 23,824,424$    

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 
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NOTE 8 – DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
D. Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO recognized a pension expense of 
$1,940,239. At June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Pension Contributions Subsequent to Measurement Date 58,203,721$        -$                         
Differences between Actual and Expected Experience 841,551               -                           
Changes in Assumptions -                           -                           
Net Differences Between Projected and Actual Earnings on

Plan Investments -                           (14,653,549)         

Total 59,045,272$        (14,653,549)$       

 
The $58,203,721 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability, as determined by 
CalPERS, in the measurement periods ended June 30, 2022. These subsequent contributions 
include $51,364,266 of net proceeds from the sale of pension obligation bonds in fiscal year 2022.  
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 
 

Measurement
Period Ended

June 30

2022 (3,120,564)$     
2023 (3,171,887)       
2024 (3,465,728)       
2025 (4,053,819)       

Total (13,811,998)$   

 
E. Payable to the Pension Plan  
 

At June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO reported a payable of $0 for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the Plan required for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 

 
 
NOTE 9 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
Santa Cruz METRO offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 and provisions of the Government Code of the State of California. 
The plan, available to all Santa Cruz METRO employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary 
until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, 
or unforeseeable emergency. Santa Cruz METRO employees participate in two such plans, the Great-
West Life and Annuity Insurance (Great-West) plan and the other through CalPERS. 
 
At June 30, 2022 and 2021, all amounts held under the Great-West plan and the CalPERS plan are held 
in trust and are not reflected on the accompanying statements of net position as required under GASB 
Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers. 
 
Complete financial statements for Great-West can be obtained from Great-West at P.O. Box 173764, 
Denver, Colorado 80217-3764.  Complete financial statements for CalPERS can be obtained from 
CalPERS at Lincoln Plaza North, 400 Q Street, Sacramento, California 94229. 
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NOTE 10 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Santa Cruz METRO is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which Santa Cruz METRO carries 
commercial insurance. Santa Cruz METRO has also established limited risk management programs for 
workers’ compensation, and general and vehicular liability, as described in Note 1. 
 
Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be 
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been IBNR.  
 
The IBNR for workers’ compensation was based on an actuarial study dated March 2022. Claim liabilities 
are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends including frequency and 
amount of payouts, and other economic and social factors. Changes in the balances of claims liabilities 
are as follows: 
 

Workers' Compensation Liabilities:
Unpaid Claims, Beginning of Fiscal Year 2,333,954$      
Claim Payments (967,267)          
Other Adjustments (Including IBNRs) 940,648           

Unpaid Claims Liability, End of Fiscal Year 2,307,335$      

 
 
NOTE 11 – TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT/CALIFORNIA CODE OF REGULATIONS  
 
Santa Cruz METRO is subject to compliance with the TDA provisions; Sections 6634 and 6637 of the 
California Code of Regulations; and Sections 99267, 99268.1, and 99314.6 of the PUC. 
 
Section 6634 
 
Pursuant to Section 6634, a transit claimant is precluded from receiving monies from the Local 
Transportation Fund (LTF) and the STA Fund in an amount which exceeds the claimant’s operating costs, 
less fares, federal funding, and local support. Santa Cruz METRO did not receive TDA, STA, or LTF 
revenues in excess of the prescribed formula amounts. 
 
Section 6637 
 
Pursuant to Section 6637, a claimant must maintain its accounts and records in accordance with the 
Uniform System of Accounts and Records for Transit Operators adopted by the State Controller. Santa 
Cruz METRO did maintain its accounts and records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts 
and Records for Transit Operators. 
 
Sections 99267, 99268.1, and 99314.6 
 
Santa Cruz METRO is defined in the TDA as an older operator, having started service prior to July 1, 
1974. Older operators may qualify for TDA under the 50% expenditure limitation (PUC Section 99268.1) 
or the farebox recovery ratio (PUC Section 99268.2).  Pursuant to the TDA, Santa Cruz METRO meets 
the 50% expenditure limitation required by PUC §99268 and does not use the alternative revenue ratio to 
determine eligibility for TDA funds. 
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NOTE 12 – PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION MODERNIZATION, IMPROVEMENT, AND SERVICE 
ENHANCEMENT ACCOUNT (PTMISEA) 

 
In November 2006, California voters passed a bond measure enacting the Highway Safety, Traffic 
Reduction, Air Quality, and Port Security Bond Act of 2006, Proposition 1B.  Of the $19.925 billion of state 
general obligation bonds authorized, $4 billion was set aside by the State, as instructed by the statute, as 
PTMISEA.  These funds are available to the California Department of Transportation for intercity rail 
projects and to transit operators in California for rehabilitation, safety, or modernization improvements; 
capital service enhancements or expansions; new capital projects; bus rapid transit improvements; or for 
rolling stock procurement, rehabilitation, or replacement. 
 
The audit of public transportation operator finances, pursuant to Section 99245 of the PUC and required 
under the TDA, was expanded to include verification of receipt and appropriate expenditure of PTMISEA 
bond funds. 
  
The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) is responsible for allocating the 
Proposition 1B PUC Section 99313 funds in Santa Cruz County.  In December 2007, the SCCRTC 
programmed 100% of its share of Section 99313 Proposition 1B PTMISEA funds (approximately $2.1 
million) to Santa Cruz METRO for the Consolidated MetroBase Project.  Funds audited include the 
SCCRTC share of PUC Section 99313 Proposition 1B transit funds that have been passed-through to 
Santa Cruz METRO. 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO earned interest of $12,130 from the 
State’s PTMISEA account for construction funding for the Consolidated MetroBase Project.  During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, qualifying expenditures of $3,905,392 were incurred and the remaining 
balance of $584,864, including accrued interest, was deferred.  Qualifying expenditures must be 
encumbered within three years from the date of the allocation and expended within three years from the 
date of encumbrance. 
 

Balance - beginning of the year 4,478,126$      

Receipts:

Interest accrued 7/1/2021 through 6/30/2022 12,130             

Expenses:
Transit bus (3,905,392)       

Balance - end of year 584,864$         

Schedule of PTMISEA Proposition 1B Grants
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

 
 
NOTE 13 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 
 
Plan Description – Santa Cruz METRO provides post-retirement CalPERS medical benefits to qualified 
retired employees age 50 and older (including eligible dependents) who have completed at least five 
years of CalPERS eligible service.  Santa Cruz METRO pays medical premiums depending on bargaining 
union and Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) contract requirements.  If the 
retiree has ten years of Santa Cruz METRO eligible service, Santa Cruz METRO provides post-retirement 
dental and vision benefits for qualified retirees (including eligible dependents), and life insurance for the 
retiree only, until the retiree reaches age 65. The costs of providing these benefits are recognized when 
paid.  
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NOTE 13 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
Employees Covered – As of the June 30, 2021 valuation, the following current and former employees 
were covered by the benefit terms for the OPEB Plan: 
 

Inactive Employees or Beneficiaries Currently Receiving Benefits 320                  
Inactive Employees Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 24                    
Active Employees 297                  

Total 641                  

 
Contributions – The contribution requirements of OPEB Plan members and Santa Cruz METRO are 
established and may be amended by Santa Cruz METRO’s Board. These contributions are neither 
mandated nor guaranteed. Santa Cruz METRO has retained the right to unilaterally modify its payment 
for retiree health care benefits. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO contributed 
$4,259,836. Employees are not required to contribute to the OPEB Plan. 
 
Net OPEB Liability – Santa Cruz METRO’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2021 and 
2020, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was the OPEB Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position of the OPEB trust held with CalPERS as of those dates. The following actuarial methods and 
assumptions were used: 
 

Reporting Date June 30, 2022
Valuation Date June 30, 2021
Measurement Date June 30, 2021
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 2.18%
Inflation 2.50%
Salary Increases 3.00%
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 5.8% in 2023, fluctuating down to 

3.9% by 2076
Mortality Rate CalPERS 2017 Experience 

Study; Projected with MW Scale 
2022

 
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB Plan investments was determined using a building block 
method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB Plan investment 
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce 
the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

New Strategic Real Return Real Return

Asset Class Allocation Years 1-10(a) Years 11+ (b)

Public Equity 50.00% 4.80% 5.98%
Fixed Income 28.00% 1.00% 2.62%
Inflation assets 0.00% 0.77% 1.81%
Private Equity 8.00% 6.30% 7.23%
Real Estate 13.00% 3.75% 4.93%
Liquidity 1.00% 0.00% -0.92%

Total 100.00%

(a) An expected inflation of 2.00% used for this period.
(b) An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.
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NOTE 13 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 2.18% June 30, 2022. 
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that Santa Cruz METRO 
contributions will be sufficient to fully fund the obligation over a period not to exceed 30 years. Historic 30-
year real rates of return for each asset class along with the assumed long-term inflation assumption were 
used to set the discount rate. The expected investment return was offset by the investment expenses of 
15 basis points. Based on those assumptions, the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected OPEB payments for current active and inactive members and 
beneficiaries. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB Plan investments was applied to 
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability. 
 
Changes in the Net OPEB Liability – The changes in the net OPEB liability for the OPEB Plan are as 
follows: 
 

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)

Balance at June 30, 2020 132,363,695$  -$                     132,363,695$  

Changes in the Year:
Service Cost 6,234,396        -                       6,234,396        
Interest 3,632,144        -                       3,632,144        
Changes of Benefit Terms (1,866,384)       -                       (1,866,384)       
Differences Between Expected
  and Actual Experience (14,678,446)     -                       (14,678,446)     
Changes in Assumptions 347,863           -                       347,863           
Contribution - Employer -                       4,127,225        (4,127,225)       
Benefit Payments (4,127,225)       (4,127,225)       -                       

Net Changes (10,457,652)     -                       (10,457,652)     

Balance at June 30, 2021 121,906,043$  -$                     121,906,043$  

Increase (Decrease)

 
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents the 
net OPEB liability of Santa Cruz METRO if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate, for the measurement period ended June 
30, 2021: 
 

1% Decrease 1.18%
Net OPEB Liability 143,896,953$  

Current Discount Rate 2.18%
Net OPEB Liability 121,906,043$  

1% Increase 3.18%
Net OPEB Liability 104,545,025$  

 
OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about the OPEB Plan’s fiduciary net position 
is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial reports. 
 
Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources – Gains and losses related to 
changes in total OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in OPEB expense systematically 
over time. Amounts are first recognized in OPEB expense for the year the gain or loss occurs. The 
remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB and are to be recognized in future OPEB expense.  
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NOTE 13 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (Continued) 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB – For the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO recognized OPEB expense of $6,056,604. As of fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO reported deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB from 
the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

OPEB Contributions Subsequent to Measurement Date 4,259,836$          -$                       
Differences between Actual and Expected Experience -                           (14,559,778)       
Changes in Assumptions 6,190,447            -                         

Total 10,450,283$        (14,559,778)$     

 
The $4,259,836 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
June 30, 2021 measurement dates will be recognized as a reduction in the net OPEB liability in the 
measurement periods ended June 30, 2023.  In addition, future recognition of the deferred inflows of 
resources is shown below. 
 

Measurement Period 
Ended June 30,

2023 (1,780,824)$      
2024 (744,854)           
2025 (1,327,584)        
2026 (2,089,614)        
2027 (1,629,629)        

Thereafter (796,826)           

Total (8,369,331)$      

 
 
NOTE 14 – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of Santa Cruz METRO’s long-term debt activity for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2022: 
 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2021 Additions Payments June 30, 2022

Financed Purchase 659,825$       -$                   (267,172)$      392,653$       275,409$       
Lease Liability -                     305,187         (100,897)        204,290         92,201           
Pension Obligation Bonds -                     51,750,000    -                     51,750,000    2,785,000      

Total Long-Term Debt 659,825$       52,055,187$  (368,069)$      52,346,943$  3,152,610$    

Due Within 
One Year

 
Financed Purchase: 
 
Santa Cruz METRO has acquired three CNG buses under a financed purchase agreement for a total 
purchase price of $1,553,250 (principal amount). The terms of the contract call for monthly payments of 
$23,627 over a 72-month period beginning in December 2017, and include a 3.04% effective interest rate. 
At June 30, 2022, the outstanding balance was $392,653. 
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NOTE 14 – LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
The following schedule details debt service requirements to maturity for the District’s financed purchase 
at June 30, 2022: 
  

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2023 275,409$         8,121$             283,530$         
2024 117,244           893                  118,137           

Total 392,653$         9,014$             401,667$         

 
Lease Liability: 
 
On July 1, 2021, the District entered into a 38-month lease as lessee for Paracruz facilities for the use of 
approximately 9,318 rentable square feet of floor space. As of June 30, 2022, the value of the lease 
liability is $204,290. The District is required to make monthly fixed payments of $7,650. Effective 
September 1, 2022 and 2023, the fixed payments increase to $7,900 and $8,100, respectively. The lease 
has an interest rate of 1.29%. The right-to-use leased asset useful life was 38 months as of the contract 
commencement. The value of the right-to-use leased asset as of June 30, 2022, was $305,187, and 
accumulated amortization was $96,375. Refer to Note 4 of the financial statements. 
 
The annual requirements to amortize the lease liability outstanding, including interest, are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2023 92,201$           2,099$             94,300$           
2024 95,916             884                  96,800             
2025 16,173             26                    16,199             

Total 204,290$         3,009$             207,299$         

 
Pension Obligation Bonds (POBs): 
 
In fiscal year 2022, pension obligation bonds (POBs) were issued by the District to reduce its pension 
unfunded actuarial liability, with the intended purpose of achieving interest rate savings by issuing the 
bonds at interest rates which would be less than the assumed rate of return earned on proceeds placed in 
the CalPERS pension plan.  Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District issued its Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 
(Measure G), Series 2022 (Federally Taxable) under an Indenture of Trust, dated as of March 1, 2022, by 
and between the District and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, totaling $51,750,000. Net 
proceeds of $51,364,266 from the sale of the bonds were used to repay a portion of the District’s 
unfunded accrued actuarial liability to CalPERS in March 2022.  
 
The payment of debt service on the Bonds is secured solely by Measure G sales tax revenues, which are 
received by the District from a 0.5% sales tax collected in the County of Santa Cruz, for deposit in the 
debt service fund in accordance with the Indenture.  The Measure G sales tax revenues are the sole 
source of payment of the bonds.  
 
The pension obligation bonds are structured as fixed rate bonds with a 15-year final maturity and 10-year 
call (refinance) option, and were sold as a series of 15 bonds with 1 Year to 15 Year maturities, yielding 
interest rates from 1.539% to 3.842%, increasing with the term to maturity. The final maturity date is 
August 1, 2037.  
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NOTE 14 – LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
The annual requirements to amortize the pension obligation bonds liability outstanding, including interest, 
are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Principal Interest Total

2023 2,785,000$      1,362,973$      4,147,973$      
2024 2,700,000        1,445,271        4,145,271        
2025 2,750,000        1,397,858        4,147,858        
2026 2,805,000        1,342,107        4,147,107        
2027 2,870,000        1,277,638        4,147,638        

2028-2032 15,535,000      5,196,286        20,731,286      
2033-2037 18,240,000      2,492,071        20,732,071      
2038-2042 4,065,000        78,089             4,143,089        

Total 51,750,000$    14,592,293$    66,342,293$    

 
 
NOTE 15 – LESSOR TRANSACTIONS 
 
Retail spaces at Pacific Station, Watsonville Transit Center and Scotts Valley Transit Center are leased to 
commercial organizations and small businesses under financing lease agreements with terms ranging 
from 2 to 10 years, with fixed 3% - 3.5% annual lease escalations and options to extend the leases for a 
period ranging from 1 to 5 additional years.  Santa Cruz METRO had six financing leases subject to 
GASB Statement No. 87 (GASB 87) accounting treatment in this first year of implementation. Under 
GASB 87, leases receivable totaled $438 thousand, lease revenue totaled $77 thousand, and deferred 
inflows of resources from leases totaled $431 thousand for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
 
NOTE 16 – STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE - STATE OF GOOD REPAIR (STA-SGR) 
 
Santa Cruz METRO was allocated $742,920 of State Transit Assistance - State of Good Repair (STA-
SGR) program funds for fiscal year 2022.  Interest earned on STA-SGR funds held in the Santa Cruz 
County Pooled Investment Fund during fiscal year 2022 was $11,043. The unspent (unearned) balance of 
STA-SGR funds was $2,936,015 at June 30, 2022. 
 
 
NOTE 17 – DEFICIT NET POSITION 
 
As of June 30, 2022, Santa Cruz METRO had a deficit net position of $20,099,515. The deficit was 
primarily due to the reporting of the net pension liability and the net liability for OPEB, pursuant to the 
implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 and GASB Statement No. 75. Santa Cruz METRO is 
committed to fully funding the actuarially determined contributions annually. 
 
 
NOTE 18 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Subsequent events were evaluated by management through December 9, 2022, which is the date of 
issuance.  
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
LAST 10 YEARS* 

 
 

Measurement 
Period 2020/21

Measurement 
Period 2019/20

Measurement 
Period 2018/19

Measurement 
Period 2017/18

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost 3,290,053$      3,235,943$      3,267,506$      3,267,575$      
Interest on Total Pension Liability 13,685,292      13,261,238      12,800,717      12,278,470      
Differences between Expected and 
 Actual Experience 276,385           651,255           1,427,437        (1,025,273)       
Changes in Assumptions -                       -                       -                       (1,231,759)       
Changes in Benefits -                       -                       -                       -                       
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds 
 of Employee Contributions (11,211,777)     (10,527,796)     (9,997,925)       (9,340,636)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 6,039,953        6,620,640        7,497,735        3,948,377        

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 195,087,165    188,466,525    180,968,790    177,020,413    

Total Pension Liability - Ending  (a) 201,127,118$  195,087,165$  188,466,525$  180,968,790$  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Net Plan to Plan Resource Movement -$                     -$                     -$                     (285)$               
Contributions - Employer 6,469,902        5,889,484        5,300,243        4,686,264        
Contributions - Employee 1,514,329        1,552,782        1,560,484        1,592,606        
Net Investment Income 29,474,109      6,333,686        7,933,310        9,742,558        
Administrative Expense (130,738)          (180,179)          (87,847)            (182,238)          
Benefit Payments (11,211,777)     (10,527,796)     (9,997,925)       (9,340,636)       
Other Miscellaneous Income/(Expense) -                       -                       285                  (346,072)          

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 26,115,825      3,067,977        4,708,550        6,152,197        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 130,877,015    127,809,038    123,100,488    116,948,291    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending  (b) 156,992,840$  130,877,015$  127,809,038$  123,100,488$  

Net Pension Liability  [(a) - (b)] 44,134,278$    64,210,150$    60,657,487$    57,868,302$    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
 of the Total Pension Liability 78.06% 67.09% 67.82% 68.02%

Covered Payroll 19,677,351$    18,956,899$    18,780,928$    19,075,163$    

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of 
 Covered Payroll 224.29% 338.72% 322.97% 303.37%

 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only eight years are shown. 
 
Notes to Schedule: 

 
Benefit changes.  In 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, there were no benefit 
changes. 
 
Changes in assumptions.  In 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, amounts reported 
as changes in assumptions resulted primarily from adjustments to expected retirement ages of 
miscellaneous employees. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS (Continued) 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
LAST 10 YEARS* 

 
 

Measurement 
Period 2016/17

Measurement 
Period 2015/16

Measurement 
Period 2014/15

Measurement 
Period 2013/14

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost 3,422,455$      3,160,455$      3,294,147$      3,200,114$      
Interest on Total Pension Liability 12,002,686      11,775,833      11,234,261      10,709,850      
Differences between Expected and 
 Actual Experience (1,952,270)       162,174           (414,257)          -                       
Changes in Assumptions 9,337,059        -                       (2,564,554)       -                       
Changes in Benefits -                       -                       -                       -                       
Benefit Payments, Including Refunds 
 of Employee Contributions (9,126,454)       (7,903,179)       (7,185,556)       (6,660,594)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 13,683,476      7,195,283        4,364,041        7,249,370        

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 163,336,937    156,141,654    151,777,613    144,528,243    

Total Pension Liability - Ending  (a) 177,020,413$  163,336,937$  156,141,654$  151,777,613$  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Net Plan to Plan Resource Movement 107$                -$                     -$                     -$                     
Contributions - Employer 4,047,221        3,991,447        4,086,806        3,668,004        
Contributions - Employee 1,556,993        1,603,071        1,645,356        1,573,391        
Net Investment Income 12,015,977      608,702           2,493,939        16,262,179      
Administrative Expense (160,362)          (67,272)            (124,362)          -                       
Benefit Payments (9,126,454)       (7,903,179)       (7,185,556)       (6,660,594)       
Other Miscellaneous Income/(Expense) -                       -                       -                       -                       

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 8,333,482        (1,767,231)       916,183           14,842,980      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 108,614,809    110,382,040    109,465,857    94,622,877      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending  (b) 116,948,291$  108,614,809$  110,382,040$  109,465,857$  

Net Pension Liability  [(a) - (b)] 60,072,122$    54,722,128$    45,759,614$    42,311,756$    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
 of the Total Pension Liability 66.06% 66.50% 70.69% 72.12%

Covered Payroll 19,343,552$    19,550,012$    19,490,839$    18,385,116$    

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of 
 Covered Payroll 310.55% 279.91% 234.77% 230.14%

 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only eight years are shown. 
 
Notes to Schedule: 

 
Benefit changes.  In 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, there were no benefit 
changes. 
 
Changes in assumptions.  In 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, amounts reported 
as changes in assumptions resulted primarily from adjustments to expected retirement ages of 
miscellaneous employees. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS – PENSION 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
LAST 10 YEARS* 

 
 
 

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19

Actuarially Determined Contributions 6,469,902$    5,889,484$    5,300,243$    4,686,264$    
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially
 Determined Contributions (6,469,902)     (5,889,484)     (5,300,243)     (4,686,264)     

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Covered Payroll 19,677,351$  16,874,245$  18,956,899$  18,780,928$  

Contributions as a Percentage of 
 Covered Payroll 32.88% 34.90% 27.96% 24.95%

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15

Actuarially Determined Contributions 4,047,221$    3,991,447$    4,086,806$    3,668,004$    
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially
 Determined Contributions (4,047,221)     (3,991,447)     (4,086,806)     (3,668,004)     

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   

Covered Payroll 19,075,163$  19,343,552$  19,550,012$  19,490,839$  

Contributions as a Percentage of 
 Covered Payroll 21.22% 20.63% 20.90% 18.82%

 
 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only eight years are shown. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT  

BENEFITS (OPEB) LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

LAST 10 YEARS* 
 
 

 
Measurement Period June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,

Date 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost 6,234,396$      5,853,462$      5,638,591$      5,259,186$      5,708,352$      
Interest 3,632,144        3,574,866        3,522,407        3,452,776        3,047,381        
Actual and Expected Experience Difference (14,678,446)     -                       (4,602,485)       -                       -                       
Changes in Assumptions 347,863           2,720,145        9,172,330        2,643,408        (7,860,824)       
Changes in Benefits Terms (1,866,384)       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Benefit Payments (4,127,225)       (4,125,446)       (3,906,373)       (3,784,611)       (3,898,705)       

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability (10,457,652)     8,023,027        9,824,470        7,570,759        (3,003,796)       

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 132,363,695    124,340,668    114,516,198    106,945,439    109,949,235    

Total OPEB Liability - Ending  (a) 121,906,043$  132,363,695$  124,340,668$  114,516,198$  106,945,439$  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer 4,127,225$      4,125,446$      3,906,373$      3,784,611$      3,898,705$      
Benefit Payments (4,127,225)       (4,125,446)       (3,906,373)       (3,784,611)       (3,898,705)       

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending  (b) -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Net OPEB Liability  [(a) - (b)] 121,906,043$  132,363,695$  124,340,668$  114,516,198$  106,945,439$  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage 
 of the Total OPEB Liability 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Covered Payroll 21,475,538$    23,485,892$    22,768,353$    22,116,603$    22,483,538$    

Net OPEB Liability as a Percentage of
 Covered Payroll 567.65% 563.59% 546.11% 517.78% 475.66%

 
 
* Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only five years are shown. 
 
Notes to the Schedule: 
 
Historical information is required only for measurement periods for which GASB Statement No. 75 is 
applicable. Future years’ information will be displayed up to 10 years as information becomes available.  
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS – OPEB 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
LAST 10 YEARS* 

 
 
 

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Actuarially Determined Contributions 4,127,225$      4,125,446$      3,906,373$      3,784,611$      3,898,705$      
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially
 Determined Contributions (4,127,225)       (4,125,446)       (3,906,373)       (3,784,611)       (3,898,705)       

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Covered Payroll 21,336,510$    21,475,538$    23,485,892$    22,768,353$    22,116,603$    

Contributions as a Percentage of 
 Covered Payroll 19.34% 19.21% 16.63% 16.62% 17.63%

 
 
Notes to the Schedule: 
 
Actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined contributions for fiscal year 
2021, were from the June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation.  
 
Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contributions:
Actuarial Cost Method
Asset Valuation Method
Discount Rate
Inflation
Salary Increases

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Mortality Rate
CalPERS 2017 Experience Study; 

Projected with MW Scale 2022

Entry Age Normal
Market Value

2.18%
2.50%
3.00%

5.8% in 2023, fluctuating down to 
3.9% by 2076

 
 
* Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only five years are shown. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF OPERATING EXPENSES 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022  
 
 
 
Labor

Operators' salaries and wages 7,724,637$      
Other salaries and wages 8,440,598        
Overtime 2,838,450        

19,003,685      

Fringe Benefits
Absence with pay 4,141,354        
Pension plans 6,839,455        
Vision, medical, and dental plans 6,547,961        
Workers' compensation insurance 914,029           
Disability insurance 384,699           
Other fringe benefits 341,956           
Other postemployment benefits 1,149,992        

20,319,446      

Services
Accounting 96,013             
Administrative and banking 383,565           
Professional and technical services 1,756,076        
Security 660,931           
Outside repairs 1,591,858        
Other services 173,304           

4,661,747        

Materials and Supplies Consumed
Fuels and lubricants 1,981,109        
Tires and tubes 204,954           
Vehicle parts 1,200,681        
Other materials and supplies 615,293           

4,002,037        

Utilities 617,567           

Casualty and Liability Costs 1,171,441        

Taxes and Licenses 48,449             

Miscellaneous Expenses 252,083           

Equipment and Facility Lease 192,494           

Debt Issuance Cost 377,365           

Depreciation and Amortization 5,421,450        

Total Operating Expenses 56,067,764$    
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 

Pass-Through
Assistance Entity Passed Total

Federal Grantor / Pass-Through Grantor / Listing Identifying Through to Federal
 Program or Cluster Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION                                
Direct Programs:
Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Cluster Defined by the Department of Transportation
Section 3/5309 Consolidation

Pacific Station Expansion FY2006 (Design/Engineering) 20.500 CA-04-0021 -$                        4,114$                

Section 9/5307

Operating Assistance 20.507 FY-2021-113-00 -                          7,297,339           
Operating Assistance - CRRSAA 20.507 CA-2021-114-01 -                          7,253,973           
Operating Assistance - ARPA 20.507 CA-2022-044-01 -                          4,250,587           
Operating Assistance - ARPA 20.507 CA-2022-044-02 -                          1,653,007           

-                          20,454,906         

Section 5339
FY16 5339 (c) LoNo Discretionary 20.526 CA-2017-071-00 -                          18,299                
FY18 5339(a) Bus & Bus Facilities 20.526 CA-2019-070-00 -                          255,310              
FY19 5339(a) Bus & Bus Facilities 20.526 CA-2020-088-00 -                          129,553              
FY20 5339(a) Bus & Bus Facilities 20.526 CA-2021-029-00 -                          31,840                
FY19 5339 Discretionary (CalTrans) 20.526 CA-2021-125-00 -                          1,057,776           

-                          1,492,778           

Total Federal Transit Cluster -                          21,951,798         

Total Federal Transit Administration -                          21,951,798         

Section 18/5311-5317

Rural Operating Assistance - 5311 20.509 CA-2022-055 -                          198,556              
Rural Operating Assistance - 5311 - CARES Act 20.509 CA-2020-285 -                          30                       

-                          198,586              

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards -$                        22,150,384$       
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 
NOTE 1 – GENERAL 
 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal 
financial assistance programs of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO). 
Federal financial assistance received directly from federal agencies, as well as federal financial 
assistance passed through other governmental agents, is included on the schedule. 
 
 
NOTE 2 – BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards has been prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting. Federal capital grant funds are used to purchase property, plant, and equipment. Federal 
grants receivable are included in capital and operating grants receivable, which also includes receivables 
from state and local grant sources. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – INDIRECT COST RATE 
 
Santa Cruz METRO has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN  
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO), as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Santa Cruz METRO’s basic 
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 9, 2022. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Santa Cruz METRO’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of c’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters  
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s 
internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

BROWN ARMSTRONG  
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH 
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements identified 
as subject to audit in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of Santa Cruz METRO’s major federal programs for the 
fiscal fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Santa Cruz METRO’s major federal programs are identified in the 
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
In our opinion, Santa Cruz METRO complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards 
and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
Compliance section of our report. 
 
We are required to be independent of Santa Cruz METRO and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Santa Cruz METRO’s 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to Santa 
Cruz METRO’s federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about Santa Cruz METRO’s 
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over compliance relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified.  
 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Santa Cruz METRO as of and for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Santa Cruz 
METROs basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated December 9, 2022, which 
contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of 
forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The 
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards 
is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

BROWN ARMSTRONG  
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION  

  
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE OVER FINANCIAL  
REPORTING BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STATUTES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS OF THE  
CALIFORNIA TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT AND THE ALLOCATION  
INSTRUCTIONS AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States; the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Compliance Supplement; and the statutes, rules, and regulations of the California Transportation 
Development Act (TDA), the financial statements of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa 
Cruz METRO) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, and have issued our report thereon 
dated December 9, 2022.  
 
Compliance 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on 
the determination of financial statement amounts.  Additionally, we performed tests to determine that 
allocations made and expenditures paid by Santa Cruz METRO were made in accordance with the 
allocation instructions and resolutions of the Transportation Commission and in conformance with the 
TDA.  Specifically, we performed each of the specific tasks identified in the California Code of 
Regulations Sections 6666 and 6667 that are applicable to Santa Cruz METRO.  In connection with our 
audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe Santa Cruz METRO failed to comply with 
the statutes, rules, and regulations of the TDA and the allocation instructions and resolutions of the 
Transportation Commission.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not 
an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 
 
Also as part of our audit, we performed tests of compliance to determine whether certain state funds were 
received and expended in accordance with the applicable bond act and state accounting requirements. 
 
Other Matters 
 
In November 2006, California voters passed a bond measure enacting the Highway Safety, Traffic 
Reduction, Air Quality, and Port Security Bond Act of 2006 (Proposition 1B).  Of the $19.925 billion of 
state general obligation bonds authorized, $4 billion was set aside by the State as instructed by statute as 
the Public Transportation Modernization, Improvement, and Service Enhancement Account (PTMISEA).  
These funds are available to the California Department of Transportation for intercity rail projects and to 
transit operators in California for rehabilitation, safety, or modernization improvements; capital service 
enhancements or expansions; new capital projects; bus rapid transit improvements; or for rolling stock 
procurement, rehabilitation, or replacement. 
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As of June 30, 2022, PTMISEA interest received and funds expended were verified in the course of our 
audit as follows: 
 

Balance - beginning of the year 4,478,126$      

Receipts:

Interest accrued 7/1/2021 through 6/30/2022 12,130             

Expenses:
Transit bus (3,905,392)       

Balance - end of year 584,864$         

Schedule of PTMISEA Proposition 1B Grants
For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

The results of our tests indicated that, with respect to the items tested, Santa Cruz METRO complied, in 
all material respects, with the provisions referred to in the preceding paragraph.  With respect to items not 
tested, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that Santa Cruz METRO had not 
complied, in all material respects, with those provisions. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal 
control or on compliance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of management and the Board of Directors of 
Santa Cruz METRO, the California Department of Transportation, the State Controller’s Office, and 
officials of applicable grantor agencies. However, this report is a matter of public record and its 
distribution is not limited.  
 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG  
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION  
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022  
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
I. Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 

Financial Statements     
     
Type of auditor’s report issued:  Unmodified 
     
Internal control over financial reporting:     
     
  Material weakness identified? __ Yes X No 
     
  Reportable conditions identified that are not considered 
  to be material weaknesses? __ Yes X None reported 

     
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? __ Yes X No 
     
Federal Awards     
     
Internal control over major federal programs:     
     
  Material weakness identified? __ Yes X  No 
     
  Reportable conditions identified that are not considered     
  to be material weaknesses? __ Yes X  None reported 
     
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:  Unmodified 
     
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in     
accordance with the Uniform Guidance? __ Yes X  No 
     
Identification of major programs:  
     

Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Clusters 
     

 Federal Transit Cluster 
20.500 Federal Transit Capital Investment Grants – Section 3 
20.507 Federal Transit Formula Grants – Section 9 
20.526 Bus and Bus Facilities Formula and Discretionary Programs 

  
Dollar threshold used to distinguish type A and B programs: $750,000  
     
Auditee qualified as low risk auditee? X Yes __ No 

 
 
II. Findings Relating to Financial Statements Required Under Generally Accepted Government 

Auditing Standards 
 

None. 
 
 

III. Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
None. 
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IV. State Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 

None. 
 
 

V. A Summary of Prior Audit (all June 30, 2021) Findings and Current Year Status Follows 
 

None. 
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To the Board of Directors  
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California  
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO) 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. Professional standards require that we provide you with information 
about our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the 
planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated 
August 2, 2022. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information 
related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by Santa Cruz METRO are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. Santa 
Cruz METRO implemented Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB) Statement No. 87 – Leases 
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. We noted no transactions entered into by Santa Cruz METRO 
during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions 
have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly 
from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements 
were:  

 
Management’s estimate of the useful lives of capital assets for purposes of calculating annual 
depreciation expense to be reported in Santa Cruz METRO’s results of operations. Estimated 
useful lives range from three to thirty-nine years. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the estimates of useful lives of capital assets in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of both its net pension liability and net other postemployment benefits 
(OPEB) liability are based on actuarial valuations that involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. We 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates of the net pension liability 
and net OPEB liability in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
 
Management’s estimate of the accrued claims is based upon management’s past experience and 
useful lives. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates of the 
accrued claims in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken 
as a whole.
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Management’s estimate of the discount rate for the purpose of calculating the right-to-use leased 
asset and liability, and lease revenue. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 
develop the discount rate for the purpose of calculating the right-to-use leased asset and liability, 
and lease revenue in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were:  
 

The disclosure of capital assets, unpaid claims, pension plan, OPEB, lease liability and lease 
revenue in notes to the financial statements.  

 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. No such misstatements occurred during the course of our audit.  
 
Disagreements with Management  
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or 
the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our 
audit. 
 
Management Representations  
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated December 9, 2022. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to Santa Cruz METRO’s financial statements or a determination of the type of 
auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues  
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as Santa Cruz Metro’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Changes in 
Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios, and Schedule of Contributions – Pension, Schedule of Changes 
in OPEB Liability and Related Ratios, and Schedule of Contributions – OPEB, which are required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplement the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted 
of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the 
RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI.  
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We were engaged to report on the Statement of Operating Expenses and the Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and 
methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the 
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial 
statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting 
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management 
of Santa Cruz METRO and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties. 
 

BROWN ARMSTRONG  
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Measure D Program of the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Measure D Program of Santa 
Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the Measure D Program of Santa Cruz METRO, as of June 30, 2022, and 
the respective changes in financial position for the fiscal years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the Santa Cruz METRO and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions.  
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Measure D Program of Santa 
Cruz METRO’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement 
date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance  
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and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control relating to the Measure D 
Program. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Measure D Program of Santa Cruz METRO’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Measure D Program and do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial positions of Santa Cruz METRO as of June 30, 2022, and the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this 
matter. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Measure D Program of Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements. The accompanying 
schedule of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance – budget and actual is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balance – budget and actual is fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 9, 
2022, on our consideration of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over financial reporting, relating to the 
Measure D Program, and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance, relating to the Measure D 
Program, and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz 
METRO’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance relating to the Measure D Program. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance relating to the 
Measure D Program. 
 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG  
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
  
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
MEASURE D PROGRAM 

BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2022 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash and Investments 6,820,314$      
Intergovernmental Receivables

Receivables from SCCRTC for Measure D Allocations 757,581           

Total Assets 7,577,895$      

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities
Unearned Income 6,974,373$      
Interfund Payable

Reimbursements for Capital Expenditures 603,522           

Total Liabilities 7,577,895        

Fund Balance
Restricted -                       

Total Fund Balance -                       

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 7,577,895$      
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
MEASURE D PROGRAM 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 

REVENUES

Measure D Revenue 1,984,619$      
Interest Income 29,732              

Total Revenues 2,014,351         

EXPENDITURES

Transit Operations 1,410,829         
Transit Capital 603,522            

Total Expenditures 2,014,351         

REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES -                       

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of Year -                       

End of Year -$                     
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
MEASURE D PROGRAM 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

 
 
 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 

 
On November 8, 2016, the voters of Santa Cruz County, pursuant to the provisions of the Local 
Transportation Authority and Improvement Act (the Act), California Public Utilities Code, Division 19, 
Section 180000 et seq., adopted an ordinance approving the Santa Cruz County Transportation 
Improvement Plan Measure (Measure D), thereby authorizing Santa Cruz County Regional 
Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) to administer the proceeds from a retail transaction and use 
tax of one-half of one-percent (0.5%) that will last 30 years from the initial date of collection.  The 
Measure D Ordinance authorizes SCCRTC to allocate, administer, and oversee the expenditure of all 
Measure D revenues and to distribute revenues no less than quarterly to local agencies (including 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District). 
 
All transactions of the Measure D Program by the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa 
Cruz METRO) are included as an enterprise fund in the basic financial statements of Santa Cruz 
METRO. These statements account for Santa Cruz METRO’s share of revenues earned and 
expenditures incurred under Santa Cruz METRO’s Transportation for Seniors and People with 
Disabilities Program. The accompanying financial statements are for the Measure D Program only 
and are not intended to fairly present the financial position or results of operations of Santa Cruz 
METRO. 
 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 
 
Santa Cruz METRO uses an enterprise fund format to report its activities for financial statement 
purposes. The accompanying financial statements are prepared using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned 
and expenditures are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred regardless of when the related cash 
flows take place. 
 

C. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
 

NOTE 2 – MEASURE D PROGRAM 
 
Under Measure D, Santa Cruz METRO receives 16% of the proceeds (after administrative costs) of a 
one-half cent local sales tax, to be used for transportation-related expenditures. This Measure was 
adopted with the intention that the funds generated by the sales tax will not fund transportation-related 
expenditures previously paid for by existing funds, revenues, and other resources, but rather, will be used 
for additional projects and programs, so as to supplement (and not replace) the revenue funds designated 
and used for transportation programs and expenditures. 
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NOTE 2 – MEASURE D PROGRAM (Continued) 
 
Santa Cruz METRO must receive Board approval of a 5-year Program of Projects prior to expending 
Measure D funding on any project or program, in accordance with the requirements of the Measure D 
Master Funding Agreement. The approved 5-year Program of Projects is submitted to the SCCRTC 
annually, and includes information about each of the projects to be funded with the estimated annual 
Measure D revenues, allocated according to the Measure D Ordinance and Expenditure Plan. 
 
The major project funded by Measure D was as follows:  
 
Transportation for Seniors and People with Disabilities Program – To provide transit services to seniors 
and people with disabilities, and to purchase transportation capital improvements.  
 
In fiscal year 2022, $1,410,829 of Measure D sales tax proceeds were used to fund bus operator wages 
and benefits in order to sustain paratransit service levels during the year. Measure D capital outlays of 
$603,522 were used to purchase three (3) New Flyer CNG buses, two (2) 35’ CNG buses, and two (2) 
new Proterra zero-emission buses during the year. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Cash and investments are tracked and held in a separate Measure D fund account in the Santa Cruz 
County Pooled Investment Fund, and consisted of $6,820,314 of Measure D sales tax allocations and 
interest earnings at June 30, 2022. 
 
See Santa Cruz METRO’s basic financial statements for disclosures related to the cash and investments 
as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 40.  The basic financial statements may be obtained from Santa 
Cruz METRO at 110 Vernon Street, Santa Cruz, CA  95060. 
 
 
NOTE 4 – INTERGOVERNMENTAL RECEIVABLES 
 
Intergovernmental receivables of $757,581 represent the Measure D Program sales tax allocations for 
fiscal year 2022 that were received from the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission 
(SCCRTC) after June 30, 2022. 
 
 
NOTE 5 – UNEARNED INCOME 
 
Measure D Program sales tax allocations that are allocated to Santa Cruz METRO during the fiscal year 
are restricted and reported as liabilities (unearned income) until spent on the specific purpose for which 
they were intended, as outlined in the 5-Year Program of Projects approved by the Santa Cruz METRO 
Board of Directors and submitted to the SCCRTC. The balance of unearned Measure D proceeds is 
currently committed as cost sharing on awarded capital grants in progress. 
 
 
NOTE 6 – INTERFUND PAYABLE 
 
Interfund payables of $603,522 represent amounts due to Santa Cruz METRO’s general operating fund, 
in order to reimburse the agency for the Measure D Program capital expenditures paid for with Santa 
Cruz METRO unrestricted monies during the fiscal year. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Subsequent events were evaluated by management through December 9, 2022, which is the date of 
issuance. 
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
MEASURE D PROGRAM 

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND  
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 

Actual Variance with
Original Final Amounts Final Budget

REVENUES

Measure D Revenue 3,556,627$      3,556,627$      1,984,619$      (1,572,008)$     
Interest Income -                       -                       29,732              29,732              

Total Revenues 3,556,627         3,556,627         2,014,351         (1,542,276)       

EXPENDITURES

Transit Operations 1,410,829         1,410,829         1,410,829         -                       
Transit Capital 2,145,798         2,145,798         603,522            1,542,276         

Total Expenditures 3,556,627         3,556,627         2,014,351         1,542,276         

REVENUES OVER 
 EXPENDITURES -                       -                       -                       -                       

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of Year -                       -                       -                       -                       

End of Year -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

Budgeted Amounts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER  
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS  

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Measure D 
Program of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Santa 
Cruz METRO’s Measure D Program’s financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
December 9, 2022. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Santa Cruz METRO’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control), relating to the Measure D Program, as a basis 
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control relating to the Measure D Program. Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control relating to the 
Measure D Program. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of Santa Cruz METRO’s Measure D Program’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Measure D Program’s financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
relating to the Measure D Program and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control or on compliance relating to the Measure D 
Program. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control and compliance relating to the Measure D 
Program. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
   BROWN ARMSTRONG  
   ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON  
MEASURE D PROGRAM COMPLIANCE 

 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
Santa Cruz, California 
 
 
Compliance  
 
We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (Santa Cruz METRO) Measure D Program as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2022, and the related notes, and have issued our report thereon dated December 9, 2022. 
 
Management’s Responsibility  
 
Compliance with the requirements referred to above is the responsibility of Santa Cruz METRO’s 
management.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance based on our audit.  
 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the agreement between Santa Cruz METRO 
and Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC). Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a material effect on the Measure D Program 
occurred. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Santa Cruz METRO’s 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit 
does not provide a legal determination of Santa Cruz METRO’s compliance with those requirements.  
 
Opinion on Measure D Program 
 
In our opinion, Santa Cruz METRO complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements 
referred to above that are applicable to the Measure D Program for the year ended June 30, 2022.  
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Internal Control Over Compliance  
 
Management of Santa Cruz METRO is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing 
our audit, we considered Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over compliance relating to the Measure D 
Program as a basis for designing auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on 
compliance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance relating to the Measure D Program. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Santa Cruz METRO’s internal control over compliance relating to the Measure D 
Program.  
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not 
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such that 
there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a compliance requirement will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the agreement between 
Santa Cruz METRO and SCCRTC. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
   BROWN ARMSTRONG  
   ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
December 9, 2022 
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Chuck Farmer, CFO 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF DECLARING VEHICLES AND/OR EQUIPMENT 
AS EXCESS FOR PURPOSES OF DISPOSAL OR AUCTION 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors approve a resolution declaring vehicles and/or 
obsolete equipment as ready for disposal or auction and direct the CEO to 
dispose of the surplus item in conformance with METRO’s Administrative 
Policy Number AP-2020 - Fixed Assets and Inventoried Items. 

II. SUMMARY 

• In accordance with Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District’s (METRO’s) policy 
on disposal of fixed assets, at least once per year Finance Department 
management shall recommend to the Board of Directors a list of items to be 
declared excess with appropriate action for disposal. 

• Vehicles and/or equipment have exceeded their useful lives and are no longer 
needed by METRO. 

• Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve the resolution for the 
disposal or auction of excess property (Attachment A) and declare the item(s) 
listed in Exhibit A as excess and direct staff to use appropriate action for 
disposal. 

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

The following vehicles identified in the Excess Vehicle & Equipment Listing 
(Exhibit A) have become obsolete and surpassed their useful life expectancy:  

 
• One (1) 2000 GMC Safari Minivan: no. 003 

• One (1) 2002 Toyota Prius Sedan: no. 203 

• One (1) 2005 Honda Civic Sedan: no. 501 

• One (1) 2006 Chevrolet Colorado Pickup Truck: no. 601 

• One (1) 2006 Ford Explorer: no. 602 

• One (1) 2007 Ford Focus Sedan: no. 714 

• Two (2) 2011 Dodge/Eldorado Amerivans: nos. PC1125 & PC1127 
  

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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SR Asset Disposals  

The vehicles recommended for disposal are fully depreciated, so there is no 
financial obligation to a granting agency with regard to the recommended 
disposal.  METRO no longer has a need for the assets listed in Exhibit A; 
therefore, it is recommended that they be disposed of at this time.  

The disposition of these assets has been coordinated with management and staff 
in processing them for disposal, recycling or auction, if appropriate.  

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors approve a resolution (Attachment A) 
and declare the items listed in Exhibit A as excess and direct staff to use 
appropriate action for disposal.  

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

This report pertains to Financial Stability, Stewardship, & Accountability. 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

The estimated gross market value of each of the vehicles included in the disposal 
list is approximately $1,500 (a total of $12,000).  These vehicles have reached the 
end of their useful life and are obsolete. There is minimal financial impact as a 
result of these disposals. 

Any revenue generated from the sale of equipment or inventory is recorded in the 
District’s general ledger, to account 407090-100 “Gain/Loss on Disposal of 
Assets.” 

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

N/A 

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

• Keep the vehicles in the capital asset inventory. Staff does not recommend this 
alternative because the items have exceeded their useful life and/or are cost-
prohibitive to repair and are no longer in use.  

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Resolution to Approve the Disposal or Auction of Excess 
Assets 

Exhibit A:  Excess Vehicle & Equipment Listing – as of January 27, 2023 
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IX. APPROVALS: 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

SR Asset Disposals 
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 
 Resolution No. 
 On the Motion of Director: 
 Duly Seconded by Director: 
 The Following Resolution is Adopted: 

 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE DISPOSAL OR AUCTION OF EXCESS ASSETS  

 
 WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (District), receives 
federal financial assistance from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) to acquire 
real property, equipment and supplies, and rolling stock; and  
 

WHEREAS, all such assets must be managed, used, and disposed of in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations; and  

 
WHEREAS, the FTA prescribes the method and delivers guidance to public 

transit operators to comply with grant management requirements in accordance with the 
regulations in Title 49 Code of Federal Regulations, part 24 (49CFR 24) and FTA 
Circular 5010.1E; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the acquisition cost of each item identified as excess is greater than 
$5,000; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the District has determined that it is necessary to either dispose of 
the property, and/or to place the items up for auction.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

THE SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT, that it hereby resolves, 
determines and orders as follows: 
 

1. The following assets are declared excess property on the Excess Vehicle & 
Equipment Listing as of 01/27/2023, “Exhibit A” and may be disposed of or 
auctioned as such: 

 
a. “One (1) 2000 GMC Safari Minivan: no. 003”; 
b. “One (1) 2002 Toyota Prius Sedan: no. 203”; 
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Excess Property - Resolution 

 

c. “One (1) 2005 Honda Civic Sedan: no. 501”; 
d. “One (1) 2006 Chevrolet Colorado Pickup Truck: no. 601”; 
e. “One (1) 2006 Ford Explorer: no. 602”; 
f. “One (1) 2007 Ford Focus Sedan: no. 714”; 
g. “Two (2) 2011 Dodge/Eldorado Amerivans: nos. PC1125 & PC1127”; 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz 

Metropolitan Transit District on January 27, 2023, by the following vote: 
 
 
AYES:  DIRECTORS – 
 
NOES: DIRECTORS – 
 
ABSENT: DIRECTORS –    
 
ABSTAIN: DIRECTORS –                                                        

 
 
 APPROVED: 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Larry Pageler 
Board Chair 

 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Michael Tree 
CEO/General Manager 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________ 
JULIE SHERMAN 
General Counsel 
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Excess Property - Resolution 

 

 
 
EXHIBIT A, SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
RESOLUTION NO.     
   

SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTIRCT 
EXCESS VEHICLE & EQUIPMENT LISTING AS OF 01/27/2023 

 
(Attached) 
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DATE: January 27, 2023  

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS 
AND DIRECTING THAT THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
WILL CONTINUE TO BE HELD VIA TELECONFERENCE  

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors approve a resolution making certain findings 
and directing that the Board and its committee meetings will continue to be 
held via teleconference 

II. SUMMARY 

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Interim CEO/General Manager and 
General Counsel recommend the Board adopt a resolution making certain 
findings and directing that Board meetings and Board committee meetings will 
continue to be held via teleconference because the proclaimed COVID-19 
pandemic State of Emergency continues to impact the ability of the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) Board of Directors (Board) and its 
committees to meet safely in person.   

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

On September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed into law Assembly Bill (AB) 
361 amending Government Code Section 54953 to allow local agencies to use 
teleconferencing for public meetings without requiring teleconference locations to 
be included on published agendas or accessible to the public, and without 
requiring a quorum of the members of the legislative body of the agency to 
participate from locations within the boundaries of the agency's jurisdiction, during 
proclaimed states of emergencies.    
Local agency determinations to meet using the modified teleconferencing rules 
under AB 361 must be reviewed every 30 days following the first teleconferenced 
meeting held pursuant to this law, which as an urgency statute, came into effect 
on October 1.  The legislative body must reconsider the circumstances of the state 
of emergency and find that they directly impact the ability to meet safely in person.  
These findings can be relied upon for up to 30 days, so the Board will need to 
consider the circumstances of the state of emergency at each subsequent Board 
meeting in order to continue meeting remotely under the modified teleconference 
rules. 
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Continue Teleconference Meetings  

The Governor's State of Emergency related to the COVID-19 pandemic remains 
active and the Santa Cruz County Health Officer, the California Department of 
Public Health, and the Department of Industrial Relations have imposed or 
recommended measures to promote social distancing.  Compliance with these 
measures directly impacts the ability of the public to meet safely in person, and 
METRO cannot ensure social distancing recommendations are met in 
circumstances of in-person public meetings.   
Furthermore, there is a continuing threat of COVID-19 to the community, and 
Board and committee meetings have characteristics that give rise to risks to 
health and safety of meeting participants. Consequently, it is recommended that 
METRO continue to use remote teleconferencing for public meetings as permitted 
under AB 361 and to reconsider its determination (and make the necessary 
findings) every 30 days.   

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

This report pertains to METRO’s Safety First Culture priority. 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

There is no financial impact.  

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

N/A  

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

The Board could decide to no longer meet via teleconference. Due to the ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic, this is not recommended.   

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Authorizing Resolution  
 
Prepared by:  Donna Bauer, Executive Assistant  
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IX. APPROVALS 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

Continue Teleconference Meetings 
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Resolution No.  
On the Motion of Director:   
Duly Seconded by Director:   

 The Following Resolution is Adopted: 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT FINDING THAT THE PROCLAIMED 

STATE OF EMERGENCY FOR THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
CONTINUES TO IMPACT THE ABILITY FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS 

COMMITTEES TO MEET SAFELY IN PERSON, AND DIRECTING THAT  
VIRTUAL BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS CONTINUE 

WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom declared a State of 
Emergency to exist in California as a result of the threat of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which declaration remains in effect; and 

WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz County Board of Supervisors subsequently 
declared a local emergency related to COVID-19, which declaration also remains in 
effect; and 

WHEREAS, on March 17 and June 11, 2020, the Governor issued 
Executive Orders N-29-20 and N-08-21, respectively, suspending certain provisions of 
the Ralph M. Brown Act related to teleconferencing through September 30, 2021 to 
facilitate legislative bodies conducting public meetings remotely to help protect against 
the spread of COVID-19 and to protect the health and safety of the public; and 

WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, the Governor signed Assembly Bill 
(AB) 361 into law, amending Government Code Section 54953, effective immediately, to 
allow legislative bodies to continue to meet remotely under less restrictive requirements 
during a proclaimed State of Emergency provided that (1) state or local officials have 
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, or (2) the legislative 
bodies determine that meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or 
safety of attendees, and (3) the legislative bodies make such findings at least every 
thirty days during the term of the declared state of emergency; and 

WHEREAS, on November 19, 2021, pursuant to Resolution 21-11-01, 
Board of Directors (Board) made the requisite findings to allow teleconferencing under 
AB 361 for 30 days; and 
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 WHEREAS, the Board has reviewed its previous findings and again 
concludes that there is a continuing threat of COVID-19 to the community, and that 
Board and committee meetings have characteristics that continue to give rise to risks to 
health and safety of meeting participants; and 

 
 WHEREAS,  to help protect against the spread of COVID-19 and its 

variants, and to protect the health and safety of the public, the Board desires to take the 
actions necessary to continue to hold its Board and committee meetings remotely as 
authorized by AB 361. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the 

Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) has reconsidered the circumstances 
of the COVID-19 State of Emergency, and finds and determines that the state of 
emergency continues to directly impact its ability to meet safely in person; and 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in light of these findings, the Board 

directs the Interim CEO/General Manager and Board Secretary to continue to agendize 
public meetings of the Board, and all METRO committees that are subject to the Brown 
Act, only as online teleconference meetings; and 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that METRO will comply with the 

requirements of Government Code Section 54953(e)(2) when holding Board and 
committee meetings pursuant to this Resolution; and  

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution will be in effect for the 

maximum period of time permitted under AB 361 (30 days), and the Board will consider 
the findings in this Resolution each month and may, by motion, reaffirm these findings. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz   

Metropolitan Transit District this 27th Day of January 2023 by the following vote: 
 

AYES: Directors -   
 
NOES: Directors - 
 
ABSTAIN: Directors - 
 
ABSENT: Directors – 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 

      
        LARRY PAGELER, Board Chair 
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ATTEST: 
 
 
   ______   
MICHAEL TREE, 
CEO/General Manager 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
       
JULIE SHERMAN 
General Counsel 
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors  

FROM: Julie Sherman, General Counsel 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF A RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN AMENDED 
RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE FOR THE SANTA CRUZ 
METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors approve a resolution amending the Santa Cruz 
Metropolitan Transit District Records Retention Schedule. 

II. SUMMARY

Public Utilities Code Section 98234 authorizes the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit
District (METRO) Board of Directors (Board) to determine, by resolution, the
disposition of METRO's records.  METRO's Records Retention Schedule is
periodically reviewed and updated to reflect METRO's current needs and
applicable law.

Due to new Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements that grantees must
maintain certain records relating to their Agency Safety Plans (ASP) for a minimum
of three years, the Records Retention Schedule needed to be amended.

No other substantive changes to the Records Retention Schedule are being made
at this time, however, formatting changes have been made to align the schedule
with the current METRO policy format.

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND

In August 1998, the Board implemented METRO’s Records Retention Schedule
and it was last updated in 2012.  Numerous federal and state statutes require
certain records be maintained for various periods of time.

The proposed revisions to the Record Retention Schedule is to specify the
appropriate retention period for Agency Safety Plan (ASP) records.  As an
Urbanized Area Formula Grant (Section 5307) recipient, METRO is subject to the
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) regulation (49 CFR Part 673),
which requires METRO to develop an ASP that includes and implements Safety
Management Systems (SMS) processes and procedures.  Pursuant to 49 CFR
Section 673.31 (Safety plan documentation), the FTA requires METRO to maintain
ASP records for at least three years after the documents are created.  ASP records
include documents related to the implementation of METRO's SMS, results from

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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Records Retention Schedule 

SMS processes and activities, and any other documents that are included in whole, 
or by reference, in the ASP that describe the programs, policies, and procedures 
for carrying out the ASP (i.e., training records, written safety, policies, and 
employee bulletins). 

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT

This report pertains to Financial Stability, Stewardship and Accountability.

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

There is no financial impact. 

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE

N/A

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

The Board could decide not to adopt the amended Record Retention Schedule.
Staff does not recommend this because METRO is federally required to maintain
ASP records for a minimum of three years.

VIII. ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A: Resolution Adopting an Amended Records Retention Schedule
(red-lined showing changes) 

Prepared by: Donna Bauer, Executive Assistant 
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IX. APPROVALS 

Julie Sherman, District Counsel 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree 
CEO/General Manager 
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 
Resolution No.      
On the Motion of Director:     
Duly Seconded by Director:    
The Following Resolution is Adopted:  

 
RESOLUTION ADOPTING AN AMENDED RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

FOR THE SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) implemented a 
Records Retention Schedule on August 21, 1998; and 

 
WHEREAS, through adoption of the Records Retention Schedule, METRO 

records are managed in a consistent manner; and 
 
WHEREAS, Public Utilities Code Section 98234 vests authority with the Board of 

Directors to determine if and when a record, map, book or paper in the possession of 
METRO is of no further value; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Federal Transit Administration requires the District to maintain 

certain records relating to its Agency Safety Plan (ASP) for a minimum of three years; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, METRO management staff finds it necessary to propose 

amendments to the Records Retention Schedule detailing the disposition of ASP records 
to comply with federal law. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Santa 

Cruz Metropolitan Transit District does hereby adopt the attached amended Records 
Retention Schedule and that such amended Records Retention Schedule shall become 
effective upon adoption of this resolution.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District this 27th Day of January 2023 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Directors -   
 
NOES: Directors - 
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Records Retention Schedule 

ABSTAIN: Directors - 
 
ABSENT: Directors - 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 

Larry Pageler, Chair   

Attest: 
Michael Tree, 
CEO/General Manager   
 
 
 
 

Approved as to form: 
Julie A. Sherman, General Counsel   
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                                               Administration Department 
 

            _________________________________                           _________ 
                                Department Manager/Title                                                   CEO 
                            
                             RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 

 
Policy #: AP-1019      Origination Date: August 21, 1998      Revised Date:  Jan. 2023 
 

Administrative Policy #1019                                                                                                                                        Page 1 of 2 

I. PURPOSE 
 

 

1.01 Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) requires that records be 
retained in accordance with federal and state requirements or when it is in 
the best interest of METRO to do so. 

1.02 In accordance with California Public Utilities Code Section 98234, the 
METRO Board of Directors is solely vested with the power and authority to 
authorize destruction of METRO’s records, maps, books or paper that is of 
no further value to METRO. 

1.03 METRO reserves the right to amend, modify, or delete this Records 
Retention Policy and Schedule at any time. 

1.04 Attached is METRO’s Records Retention Schedule, which details the 
length of time each record series is to be maintained in department files, 
how long it is to be maintained in inactive status, if and when such record 
can be destroyed, and the department that is the keeper of the official 
copy of the record. 

II. APPLICABILITY 
 

2.01 This Records Retention Schedule applies to all applicable METRO 
employees at all METRO facilities. 

2.02 Every METRO employee that handles the records described herein shall 
follow and abide by the Records Retention Schedule so that METRO will 
have a consistent policy and procedure for managing its records. 

2.03 Specific categories control over the general categories. 

III. DEFINITIONS 

N/A 
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IV. PROCEDURES 
 

N/A 
 
V. STANDARDS  

5.01 Employee personnel files, medical files, and other similar files or records 
in METRO's possession that contain confidential information will be kept 
and maintained in a confidential manner, on a need to know basis only 
and in accordance with federal and California laws and regulations and 
sound business practices.  Confidential files and records may not be 
disclosed except:   

a) To METRO Directors, officers, and employees as required in the 
ordinary course of business (including disclosure during the 
grievance and/or disciplinary process); 

b) Upon written consent by the affected employee or other proper 
written authorization; or  

c) Where compelled by law, such as by subpoena, court order or 
search warrant.  

VI.      ADMINISTRATION OF POLICY 
 

6.01 Each Department Manager is responsible for administering this policy 
within their department. 

VII.        REVISION HISTORY 
 

Date Action Approved By 
August 21, 1998 Implementation of policy and schedule Jeff Almquist 
September 17, 1999 Add amendments to schedule Jan Beautz 
January 18, 2002 Add amendments to schedule Sheryl Ainsworth 
March 25, 2005 Add amendments to schedule, including title change Michael W. Keogh 
May 22, 2009 Add ParaCruz records; revise records and retention periods Dene Bustichi 
March 9, 2012 Add and revise records and retention periods Lynn Robinson 
January 27, 2023 Revise policy format; add and revise records and retention 

periods 
Michael Tree 

 
 
                                                             END OF POLICY 
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

APPLICABLE TO ALL 
DEPARTMENTS: 

     

DEPARTMENT WORKING PAPERS & 
DRAFTS 
 

ACT NA APPLICABLE 
GENERATING 
DEPT. 
 

ACT  

E-MAIL MESSAGES ON SERVERS 
 

WU NA APPLICABLE 
GENERATING/
RECEIVING 
DEPT. 
  

WU  

EMPLOYEE FIELD FILE 
 
 

ACT  02 APPLICABLE 
GENERATING 
DEPT. 
 

ACT +02  

GENERAL (DEPARTMENT FILES) 03    02 APPLICABLE 
GENERATING 
DEPT. 
 

05  

PROJECT FILES 
 

ACT 06 APPLICABLE 
GENERATING 
DEPT. 
 

ACT+06 PA,GR 

SUBJECT AND REFERENCE MATERIALS 
 

ACT NA APPLICABLE 
GENERATING 
DEPT. 
 

ACT  

ADMINISTRATION 
RECORDS: 
 

     

AGENDA PACKETS/MINUTES – OTHER 
AGENCIES & ORGANIZATIONS 
 

ACT 03 ADM ACT+03  

BOARD OF DIRECTOR AGENDA PACKETS 
(METRO) 
 

02 IND ADM IND V, PA 

BOARD OF DIRECTOR MEETING AUDIO 
AND VIDEO TAPE RECORDINGS (METRO) 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

CONFLICT OF INTEREST (BOARD/STAFF) 
 

02 05 ADM 07  

CONTRACT COMPLIANCE FILE 
 

ACT 06 ADM ACT+06 GR 

CONTRACT PAYMENT/PERF ADMIN 
DOCUMENTS 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

CONTRACTED SERVICE RECORDS 
 

04 03 ADM 07  

CONTRACTS/AGREEMENTS   
 

ACT IND ADM IND V 

CONTRACTS – REAL PROPERTY 
IMPROVEMENTS 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

COPYRIGHT/TRADEMARK PATENT 
RECORDS 
 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

ADMINISTRATION 
RECORDS (CONTINUED): 
 

      

CORRESPONDENCE FILES 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

DISTRICT-WIDE REGULATIONS 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

ENGINEERING/CONSTRUCTION TECH 
DOCUMENTS (MOVED FROM OLD 
PLANNING/MARKETING ENTRY) 
 

ACT LOS+10 ADM 
 

LOS+10 To be stored on 
CD or zip disk 
 

ETHICS TRAINING PARTICIPATION 
CERTIFICATES 
 

ACT 05 ADM ACT+05  

GENERAL SVCS (MAIL/ SUPPLIES/ 
GRAPHICS)  
 

03 NA ADM 03  

GRANT MANAGEMENT FILES 
 

ACT 03 ADM (Grants) ACT+03 GR 

GRANT RECORDS (GRANT-FUNDED 
PROJECTS) 
 

ACT 03 ADM (Grants) ACT+03 GR 

INSURANCE – CALTIP STUDY SESSION 
PACKETS, AUDIT REPORTS, AGENDA 
PACKETS 
 

ACT 03 ADM ACT+03  

INTERNAL AUDITS 
 

03 IND ADM IND  

INVESTIGATION FILES (INSPECTOR 
GENERAL) 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

JOINT DEVELOPMENT PROJECT FILES 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

LEASE FILES (INCLUDES PROPERTY 
MGMT.) 
 

ACT 06 ADM ACT+06   

LEGAL COMPLIANCE DOCS (FTA) 
 

06 IND ADM 
(GRANTS) 

IND GR 

MARKETING ACTIVITY RECORDS 
MOVED FROM OLD 
PLANNING/MARKETING ENTRY 
 

03 NA ADM 
 

03 GR - To be 
stored on CD or 
zip disk 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICES 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

RTC TRIENNIAL REVIEWS, FTA 
TRIENNIAL REVIEWS, CUSTOMER 
SERVICE COMPLAINTS 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

PLANNING/FORECASTING (5-YR/30-YR,)- 
MOVED FROM OLD 
PLANNING/MARKETING ENTRY 

ACT IND 
 
 

ADM  
 

IND PA - To be 
stored on CD or 
zip disk 
  

PROPERTY ACQUISTION (APPRAISAL) 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

PROTEST FILE (CONTRACTS) 
 

ACT 03 ADM ACT+03 GR 
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

ADMINISTRATION 
RECORDS (CONTINUED): 
 

     

PUBLIC AFFAIRS (PRESS RELEASES, 
PHOTOS) 
 

05 IND ADM IND  

PUBLIC COMMENT LETTERS 
 

01 IND ADM IND PA,GR 

PUBLIC MEETING FILES 
 

01 IND ADM IND PA,GR 

PURCHASE ORDERS (REGULAR/YEARLY) 
 

03 03 ADM/PURCH 06 GR 

PURCHASING (UNSUCCESSFUL BIDS & 
PROPOSALS 
 

03 NA ADM/PURCH 03 GR 

REAL ESTATE GENERAL FILES 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

SRTP  
MOVED FROM PREVIOUS 
PLANNING/MARKETING ENTRY 
 

IND IND ADM  
 

IND PA - To be 
stored on CD or 
zip disk 

TAPE RECORDINGS OF PUBLIC 
HEARINGS, COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND 
OTHER MEETINGS OTHER THAN BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS (IF 
RECORDED) 
 

60 DAYS 0 ADM 60 DAYS  

TRAINING/TRAVEL PACKETS 
(EMPLOYEE) 
 

ACT 03 ADM ACT+03  

TRAINING ANNOUNCEMENT 
 

ACT 0 ADM ACT  
UNIONS – GRIEVANCES, 
CORRESPONDENCE, ARBITRATION 
PROCEEDINGS, LABOR AGREEMENTS 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  

VEHICLE REHAB & PURCHASE  
 

ACT 04 ADM ACT + 04  

WARRANTIES 
 

ACT IND ADM IND  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

FACILITY MAINTENANCE 
RECORDS: 
 

     

AIR COMPRESSOR CERTIFICATION 
 

05 01 MAINT 06  

BUILDING BLUEPRINTS AS BUILTS 
 

ACT 01 MAINT ACT +01 GR 

BUILDING SPECS 
 

ACT 01 MAINT ACT +01 GR 

BUILDING WARRANTIES 
 

ACT 01 MAINT ACT +01 GR 

BUS STOP BLUEPRINTS AS BUILTS 
 

ACT 01 MAINT ACT +01 GR 

CONSTRUCTION/ENCROACHMENT 
PERMITS/RIDERS 
 

ACT  LOS + 10 MAINT LOS + 10 LOS 

EMPLOYEE MEDICAL RECORDS – 
HAZARD EXPOSURE 
 

ACT IND MAINT IND  

ENVIRON/ TESTING/ EXPOSURE/ 
MONITORING REPORT 
 

01 29 MAINT 30  

EQUIPMENT WARRANTIES 
 

ACT LOS MAINT LOS GR 

HAZARDOUS MAT. CHEM INV. FORMS 
(HCS-88) 
 

ACT IND MAINT IND  

HAZARDOUS WASTE MANIFEST FORMS 
 

03 IND MAINT IND  

HAZCOM TRAINING RECORDS 
 

IND IND MAINT IND  

MATERIAL SAFETY DATA SHEETS 
 

ACT IND MAINT IND  

NOISE EXPOSURE/AUDIOMETRIC 
TESTING 
 

02 IND MAINT IND  

RELEASE REPORT 
 

03  01 MAINT 04  

UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK 
PERMITS 
 

ACT LOS  MAINT LOS  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

FINANCE RECORDS: 
 

     

ACCOUNTING INFORMATION RPTS   
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

ACCOUNTING  JOURNAL/ LEDGERS   
 

01 06 
 

FINANCE 07 V 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE & RECEIV 
VOUCHERS/ INVOICES 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07 GR 

ACCRUAL ADJUSTMENT REPORTS 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

ADMIN COMP TIME, FLOATING HOLIDAY 
BALANCE REPORT 

01 06 FINANCE 07 
 

 

ANNUAL LEAVE, SICK LEAVE, 
PERSONAL LEAVE BALANCE REPORT 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

ASSETS RECONCILATION TO PHYSICAL 
COUNT 
 

ACT 03 FINANCE ACT +03 GR 

ATTENDANCE REGISTER/PAYROLL 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

ATTRIBUTABLE INCOME REPORTS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

BAD DEBTS/UNCOLLECTABLE ACCT 
RECORDS 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

BANK STATEMENTS 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

BANKING (DEPOSITS/CANCELLED 
CHECKS)  
 

01 06 FINANCE 07  

BOND/DEBENTURE/INVESTMENT 
RECORDS 
 

ACT IND FINANCE IND V 

BUDGET (ANNUAL) 
 

02 IND FINANCE IND PA 

BUDGET (ANNUAL) SUPPORT 
DOCUMENTS 
 

02 08 FINANCE 10  

CASH RECEIPT LEDGER 
 

01 06 FINANCE 07   

DBE CERTIFICATION RECORDS – 
APPROVED 
 

ACT 06 FINANCE/ 
PURCH 

ACT+06 MOVED 
FROM ADM 

DBE CERTIFICATION RECORDS –  
DENIED 
 

02 01 FINANCE/ 
PURCH 

03 MOVED 
FROM ADM 

DEDUCTIONS LIST  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

DEDUCTIONS MASTER LOG FILE 
SUMMARY 
 

01 01 FINANCE 02  

DEEDS OF TRUST 
 

IND NA FINANCE  IND LOS 

DEPOSIT SLIP BOOKS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

FINANCE RECORDS 
(CONTINUED): 

     

EARNINGS HISTORY  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

EARNINGS LIST  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

EMPLOYEE MASTER LOG FILE 
SUMMARY 
 

01 01 FINANCE 02  

EMPLOYEE PAYROLL DATA  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

EMPLOYEE PAYROLL FILE  
 

ACT 07 FINANCE ACT+07   

FINANCE GENERAL 
 

01 02 FINANCE 03  

FINANCIAL AUDITS (EXTERNAL) 
 

01 IND FINANCE IND V 

FIXED ASSET INVENTORY LISTING  
 

ACT 03 FINANCE ACT +03 GR 

FIXED ASSET RECORDS – PERMANENT 
 

ACT IND FINANCE IND  

GFI REPORTS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

HOURS ACCUMULATOR REPORT 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

INSURANCE (POLICIES/AMENDMENTS) 
 

ACT IND FINANCE    IND V 

LOBBYIST REPORTS (QUARTERLY) 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

MASTER FILE  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

METRO HOURS REPORT 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

NOTICE – PAY RATE FOR BUS 
OPERATORS 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

NOTICE – PAY RATE FOR 
MANAGEMENT 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE  ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

NOTICE – PAY RATE FOR PSA 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE  ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

NOTICE – PAY RATE FOR SEA 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE  ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

NOTICE – PAY RATE FOR VMU 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

PAYROLL ADJUSTMENTS REPORTS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

PAYROLL INTERFACE  
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

PAYROLL REGISTER 
 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

FINANCE RECORDS 
(CONTINUED): 

     

PURCHASING (IFB/RFP/SUCCESS BIDS & 
PROPS 

03 IND FINANCE/ 
PURCH 

IND MOVED 
FROM ADM 

SALES TAX ALLOCATION  
 

01 IND FINANCE IND  

SIGNATURE LOG FOR PAY WARRANTS 
 

01 01 FINANCE 02  

SUPPLEMENTAL LIFE DEDUCTIONS 
RECORDS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

TIME BANK RECORDS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

TIME SHEETS 
 

03 04 FINANCE 07 GR 

TIME SHEETS – DUBOIS 
 

ACT 07 FINANCE ACT+07  

TRUST WARRANT CLAIMS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

UNION BILL BACKS RECORDS 
 

01 01 FINANCE 02  

UNION COPE DEDUCTIONS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

UNION CORRESPONDENCE 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

UNION DUES NOTICES  ACT 07 FINANCE  ACT+07 SEE 
EMPLOYEE 
FILE 

UNION INSURANCE NOTICES 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

UNION TPEL NOTICES 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

VAULT ROOM DAILY DATA BALANCE 
SHEETS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07  

VEHICLE TITLES 
 

IND NA FINANCE IND LOV 

WIRE TRANSFER BOOKS 
 

02 05 FINANCE 07 V 
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

FLEET MAINTENANCE 
RECORDS: 

     

ACCIDENT APPRAISAL REPORTS 
(COPIES) 
 

01 06 MO MAINT 18 MO  

AIR COMPRESSOR CERTIFICATION 
 

05 01 MAINT 06  

BLUE FUEL CARDS 
 

03 MO 10 MO MAINT 13 MO   

BUS MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR 
RECORDS (BUS #2210-2238 AND  
BUS #2301-2311) 
 

IND IND MAINT IND  

CALLSTOP MAINTENANCE REQUEST 
FORMS 

ACT 02 MAINT ACT+02  

DAILY FUEL/SERVICING 
 

03 MO 10 MO MAINT 13 MO   

DAILY SHIFT ATTENDANCE RECORD 
(DSAR’S) ORIGINALS IN FLEET 
 

02 05  MAINT 07  

DRIVER’S LICENSE PULL NOTICE & DMV 
RECORDS 
 

ACT 01 OPS, MAINT ACT+01  

DRIVER VEHICLE CHECK SHEET 
ORIGINALS 
 

06 MO NA MAINT 06 MO  

EMPLOYEE ATTENDANCE RECORDS 
.  

01 07 MAINT 08  

FLEET MAINTENANCE PLAN ONLY  
 

05 IND MAINT IND  

INSPECTION FORMS (A-E) ORIGINALS 
 

03 MO 02 MAINT 27 MO  

INVENTORY COUNTS 
 

01 07 MAINT 08  

INVENTORY VALUATIONS  
(MO END/YR END) 
 

01 07 MAINT 08  

LICENSES/PERMITS (VEHICLES) 
 

ACT 03 MAINT ACT+03  

MONTH END REPORTS  
 

01 07 MAINT 08  

REQUESTS FOR TIME OFF  (RTO’S) 
  

02 05 MAINT 07  

UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK 
REPORTS 
 

01 IND MAINT IND  

VEHICLE HISTORIES 
 

ACT 05 MAINT ACT +05  

VEHCILE OPACITY READINGS 
 

01 01 MAINT 02  

VEHICLE REGISTRATION 
 

ACT NA MAINT ACT  

VEHICLE WARRANTIES IN VEHICLE 
FILES 

ACT 05 MAINT ACT + 05  

WORK ORDERS 03 MO 03 MAINT 03+03 MO DISCARDED 
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
RECORDS: 
 

     

BENEFITS/INSURANCE PLANS 
 

ACT 
 

10 HR ACT+10 V 

COMPLAINT FILES EEOC/DFEH 
 

ACT 05 HR ACT+05  

DISCIPLINARY APPEALS/GRIEVANCES 
(LEVELS 1 AND 2; ARBITRATION) 
 

ACT 04 HR ACT+04   

DOCUMENTATION OF REFUSALS OF 
REQUIRED ALCOHOL/DRUG TESTS 
 

05 01 HR 06  

DRUG & ALCOHOL COLLECTION & 
EMPLOYEE TRAINING 
 

02 01 HR 03  

DRUG & ALCOHOL FOLLOW-UP TEST 
RESULTS AND SCHEDULES 
 

05 01 HR 06  

DRUG & ALCOHOL INSPECTION, 
MAINTENANCE AND CALIBRATION OF 
EBTS 
 

02 01 HR 03  

DRUG & ALCOHOL NEGATIVE TEST 
RESULTS 
 

01 01 HR 02 V 

DRUG & ALCOHOL POSITIVE TEST 
RESULTS 
 

05 01 HR 06  

DRUG & ALCOHOL SAP & MIS REPORTS 
SUBMITTED TO FTA 
 

05 01 HR 06  

DRUG & ALCOHOL TEST RESULTS FROM 
PREVIOUS EMPLOYERS 
 

03 01 HR 04  

EEO/AA PLAN 
 

ACT 05 HR ACT+05  

EMPLOYEE ACCIDENT/INJURY (W/C) 
 

ACT 05 HR ACT+05  

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT FILES 
 

ACT 10 HR ACT+10  

EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL FILES 
 

ACT 07 HR ACT +07  

EMPLOYEE SELECTION LISTS 
 

03 07 HR 10  

HEALTH DEDUCTIONS RECORDS 
 

ACT 10 HR ACT+10  

I-9 FORMS 
 

ACT 03 HR ACT +0 3  

JOB FLYERS 
 

02 02 HR 04  

LABOR CONTRACTS ACT IND HR IND V 
 

LABOR NEGOTIATION FILES 
 

ACT IND HR IND  

OSHA 300 LOG & SUMMARY 06 NA HR 06  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
RECORDS (CONTINUED): 
 

     

PERS FILES INCLUDING VARIOUS 
MEMBER STATEMENT DATA 
 

ACT 10 HR ACT+10  

SALARY SCHEDULE RECORDS 
 

03 03 HR 06  

STATUS CHANGE REPORTS 
 

ACT 07 HR ACT+07  

TRAINING/EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 
FILES  
 

ACT 
   

03 HR ACT+03  

Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

IT RECORDS: 
 

     

BART CAVALLARO TRANSIT CENTER 
SURVEILLANCE VIDEO 
 

30DAYS 11MO Cavallaro Station 01  

ELECTRONIC BUILDING ACCESS 
RECORDS 
 

30 DAYS 11 MO Fueling Facility 01  

EMAIL MESSAGES ON SERVERS 
 

01 MO NA IT 01 MO  

PACIFIC STATION SURVEILLANCE 
VIDEO 

20DAYS 00 Pacific Station 20 DAYS Stored on DVR 
until 
overwritten  

VAULT ROOM/VIDEO SURVEILLANCE 
FUELING FACILITY 
 

30 DAYS 11MO Fueling Facility 01 MOVED 
FROM OPS 

Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

LEGAL RECORDS: 
 

     

ADA/504 COMPLAINTS 
 

03 07 LEGAL 10  

ACTUARIAL REPORTS  
 

03 07 LEGAL 10  

AUDITOR REPORTS 
 

03 07 LEGAL 10  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORTS ON 
OPEN/CLOSED CASE FILES 
 

03 07 LEGAL 10  

CLAIM/LITIGATION CASE FILES 
 

ACT 10 LEGAL ACT+10  

COLLECTION FILES 
 

ACT  05 LEGAL ACT +05  

COURT ORDER/AGENCY COMPLIANCE 
DOCUMENTS 
 

ACT 09 LEGAL ACT+09  

FMLA/CFRA/PDL DOCUMENTS & 
NOTICES 
 

ACT 10 LEGAL ACT+10  

KINCARE DOCUMENTATION 
 

ACT 10 LEGAL ACT+10  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

LEGAL RECORDS 
(CONTINUED): 

     

LEGAL BEAGLE 
 

ACT 03 LEGAL ACT+03  

LEGAL OPINIONS 
 

IND IND LEGAL IND  

LEGAL SERVICE COPIES (SUBPOENAS; 
DECLARATIONS; RECORDS REQUESTS) 
 

ACT  03 LEGAL ACT +03  

NATIONAL TRANSIT DATABASE 
REPORTING 
 

02 03 LEGAL 05  

OCCURRENCE REPORT LOGGING 
PROCEDURES FORM 

03 NA LEGAL 03  

OCCURRENCE REPORTS/INCIDENT 
REPORTS 

03 NA LEGAL 03  

ORIGINAL DISPOSITIONAL SUMMARY 
MEMORANDUMS/SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENTS AND RELEASES 
 

IND IND LEGAL IND  

PUBLIC RECORDS REQUESTS 
 

03 07 LEGAL 10  

RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE 
 

ACT IND LEGAL IND  

Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

OPERATIONS RECORDS: 
 

     

ACCIDENT REVIEW DATABASE 
 

01 NA OPS 01  

AGENCY SAFETY PLANS 03 NA OPS 03  

BASE RADIO RECORDINGS (DISPATCH & 
TELEPHONE LINES) 
 

60 DAYS 02 OPS 02+60 DAYS  

BSAC COMMITTEE RECORDS 
 

01 NA OPS 01  

COPY OF DRIVER’S LICENSE, MEDICAL 
CARDS, VTT TRAINING RECORDS & 
PULL NOTICES 
 

ACT NA OPS ACT  

CUSTOMER SERVICE COMPLAINT 
 

ACT 03 OPS ACT+03  

CUSTOMER SERVICE COMPLAINT 
DATABASE 
 

ACT 05 OPS ACT+05  

DISCOUNT FARE POLICY DATABASE 
 

ACT 05 OPS ACT+05  

DISCOUNT FARE POLICY RECORDS 
 

ACT NA OPS ACT  

HEADWAYS- 
 

ACT IND OPS 
 

IND  

IIPP COMMITTEE RECORDS 
 

01 NA OPS 01  

LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
RECORDS 

01 NA OPS 01  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

OPERATIONS RECORDS 
(CONTINUED): 
 

     

METRO CENTER BICYCLE ABATEMENT 30 DAYS 11 MO OPS 01  
OPERATIONS NEWSLETTERS / OPS  
STAFF MEMOS 
 

ACT 03 OPS ACT+03  

OPERATIONS PULLOUT SHEETS 
 

01 MO 03 OPS 03+01MO  

OPERATIONS SAFETY & TRAINING 
RECORDS 
 

05 NA OPS 05  

OPERATIONS SCHEDULING RECORDS 
 

02 05 OPS 07  

OPERATIONS YARD VIDEO 
SURVEILLANCE TAPES 
 

31 DAYS 0 OPS 31 DAYS  
 

OPERATORS DAILY TIME RECORDS & 
PAYROLL  
 

ACT 05 
 

OPS ACT+05  

PASS SELLERS RECORDS 01 02 
 

OPS  
 

03 To be stored on 
CD or zip disk 

QUALITY OF WORK COMMITTEE 
RECORDS  
 

01 NA OPS 01  

SAFETY AND HEALTH COMMITTEE 
RECORDS 
 

01 NA OPS 01  

SECURITY – OFFICER DAILY LOGS  
 

30 DAYS 30 DAYS OPS 60 DAYS  

SECURITY – INCIDENT REPORTS 
 

30 DAYS 11 MO OPS 01  

SPARC COMMITTEE RECORDS 
 

01 NA OPS 01  

VEHICLE ACCIDENT / INCIDENT REPORT 
PACKETS 
 

NA 06 OPS 06  

Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

PARACRUZ RECORDS: 
 

     

ACCIDENT REPORTS 
 

NA 06 OPS 06  

ADA FILES 
 

03 02  
OPS 

05  

ALPHA LISTS OF ELIGIBLE PASSENGERS 
 

01 02 OPS 03  

APPEALS RECORDS ACT 04  
OPS 

ACT+04  

CUSTOMER SERVICE REPORTS 
 

01 IND  
OPS 

IND  

DAILY ASSESSMENT CALENDAR 01 02  
OPS 

03  

DAILY PASSENGER LISTS 01 
 

05  
OPS 

06  

EMPLOYEE PERSONNEL FILES ACT 07 PARACRUZ ACT+07  
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Record Series Title 
 

Years 
Active 

Years 
Inactive 

Office of  
Record 

Total Yrs. 
Retention 

Comment 

PARACRUZ RECORDS 
(CONTINUED): 
 

     

IMMEDIATE NEED REQUESTS 
 

01 02 OPS 03  

MANIFESTS 01 05 OPS 06 
 

 

MONTHLY RECERTIFICATION NOTICES 
 

01 02 OPS 03  

PAYROLL RECORDS 
 

ACT IND PARACRUZ IND  

PROCESSED CERTIFICATIONS AND 
RECERTIFICATIONS 
 

01 02 OPS 03  

SUBSCRIPTION RIDE RECORDS 
 

02 06 OPS 08 STORED IN 
TRAPEZE 

TELEPHONE RECORDINGS 
 

01 01 OPS 02  

VIDEO RECORDINGS 03 DAYS 00 OPS 03 DAYS 
 

Stored on 
DVR- until 
overwritten 

VISITOR STATUS REQUESTS 
 

01 02 OPS 03  
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CODES: 
 

DEFINITIONS: 

 ACT 
 

WHILE ACTIVE (INCLUDES “VEHICLE LIFE”; “EMPLOYMENT PERIOD”) 

ADM  ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT 
 

CFRA 
 

CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT 

DEPT DEPARTMENT 
 

FINANCE  
 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

FMLA 
 

FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT 

GR  IF GRANT-FUNDED  (KEEP FOR MINIMUM OF 3 YEARS AFTER CLOSE OF GRANT 
AND 3 YEARS AFTER CLOSE OF ANY LITIGATION ON PROJECT) 
 

HR   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 

IND  INDEFINITE 
 

LEGAL  LEGAL DEPARTMENT 
 

LOS  LIFE OF SYSTEM 
 

LOV  LIFE OF VEHICLE 
 

IT   INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
 

MAINT 
 

MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT 

MO  MONTH 
 

NA   NOT APPLICABLE 
 

OPS  OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT 
 

PA  POTENTIALLY ARCHIVAL 
 

PDL 
 

PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE 

PURCH   PURCHASING 
 

UC  UPON COMPLETION 
 

V  VITAL RECORD 
 

WC  WHEN CREATED 
 

WU  WHEN USEFUL 
 

YRS  YEARS 
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Dawn Crummié, HR Director 

SUBJECT: APPROVE AUTHORIZATION TO FUND A SENIOR CUSTOMER 
SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors approve the funding of a Senior Customer 
Service Representative in the Customer Service Department.  

II. SUMMARY

• In order to address the needs of the Customer Service Department, it has been
determined that there is a need for an additional Senior Customer Service
Representative position.

• Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) currently has one existing
Senior Customer Service position.

• The Customer Service Department operates 7-days a week, with the exception
of major holidays, similar to Fixed Route and ParaTransit services. To ensure
proper coverage and provide support to the department and our customers,
there is a need for an additional senior position. That position would assist with
overseeing the Customer Service Representatives and assist in making
decisions such as ensuring proper staffing and phone coverage when the
manager is unavailable.

• Currently there is only one Manager (Customer Service Manager) position that
must cover all issues that arise over all shifts within a workweek including
weekends with the support of the current Senior Customer Service
Representative. This has resulted in substantial amounts of overtime.

• It has been determined that a second Senior Customer Service Representative
is needed to allow for adequate support 7-days a week and an ability to provide
training on operational procedures.

• Staff is recommending that the Board approve the funding of the Senior
Customer Service Representative.

• On January 13, 2023, staff requested that the Personnel/HR Standing
Committee (Committee) review and recommend the full Board of Directors
approve the funding for this position. The Committee voted unanimously to
recommend approval to the full Board of Directors (Board) with no additions.

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND

In order to provide proper support to the department an additional Senior Customer
Service Representative that holds a higher level of knowledge is needed. This
includes understanding all aspects of Customer Service such as, phone coverage,
staffing, counting cash and reconciliation at both Pacific Station and Watsonville
Transit Center, to name a few.

The Senior Customer Service Representative position has the knowledge in
resolving issues and making sure we have proper staffing and support to avoid
burnout and stress within the department. By having two Senior Customer Service
Representatives, it will allow for both to properly coordinate training, troubleshoot,
perform other duties as needed and allow support coverage 7-days a week.

The additional duties the Senior Customer Service Representative will perform that
the existing Customer Service Representative positions do not perform include,
but are not limited to, serving as a lead worker over subordinate staff by prioritizing,
assigning and monitoring work and providing training as needed.

If approved, a recruitment will be performed to fill the Senior Customer Service
Representative role.

Staff requests the Board of Directors approve the funding for the Senior Customer
Service Representative position.

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT

This report ties to the following strategic priorities:

• Service Quality and Delivery
• Employee Engagement: Attract, Retain and Develop

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

The expected increase needed in additional funds are roughly $37,141 for FY23 
and $112,216 for FY24 Budget for funding the Senior Customer Service 
Representative. 

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE

None.  On January 13, 2023, the Personnel/Human Resources Committee met to
review this request. The Committee recommends the full Board approve the
funding of an additional Senior Customer Service Representitive as presented.
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VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED

• Not approving the funding of the position. Staff does not recommend this
action as it would continue to create a problem with calling for overtime and
stress on the overall department and could cause delays or inconvinancanes
to our customers. This could result in unexpected booth closures or longer wait
times on phones or while standing in line at the booths. This position meets
the needs of METRO.

VIII. ATTACHMENTS

Attachment A: Senior Customer Service Representative Job Description 

Prepared by:  Dawn Crummié, HR Director 

10.8.3

Board of Directors
January 27, 2023
Page 3 of 4



Board of Directors 
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IX. APPROVALS 

Dawn Crummie, HR Director 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, Chief Financial Officer 

Michael Tree 
CEO/General Manager 
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   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
Santa Cruz METRO 

 1  Senior Customer Service Representative 

Class Code: AS110 
FLSA Status: Non-exempt 

Senior Customer Service Representative 
Bargaining Unit: SEA 

DEFINITION: 

Under general supervision, a Senior Customer Service Representative performs lead worker and advanced 
customer service work related to providing information and assistance regarding transit services to 
customers; conducts transit-related special projects which may include marketing, public information, and 
community outreach activities; and. Performs related work as required 

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 

Senior Customer Service Representative is the advanced-lead level class in the series.  An incumbent in 
this class serves as a lead worker, performs the more advanced customer service functions in a call center 
or information booth, and assists with outreach and public relations functions. This class may be 
distinguished from the lower level class of Customer Service Representative because an incumbent in the 
latter class performs journey-level duties and does not have formal lead worker responsibilities.  This class 
may be distinguished from the higher level class of Customer Service Supervisor because an incumbent in 
the latter class supervises the work of subordinate customer service staff.   

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 

The duties listed below represent the various types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific 
statements of duties does not exclude them if the work is related or a logical assignment to this class. 

• Serves as a lead worker over subordinate staff by prioritizing, assigning and monitoring work and
providing training as needed; may provide input on performance evaluations.

• Performs sales and cashiering activities using print encoding media (PEMs) and/or selling transit
tickets, passes, and coupons; operates a cash register and performs credit card transactions; takes
photographs of customers for purposes of creating identification badges; reconciles booth sales.

• Provides information to the public regarding transit services, including the location of bus stops,
routes, detours, fares, transfers, and policies; responds to inquiries about pass eligibility, photo
identification, lost and found, and bus schedule publication and distribution.

• Creates ride reservations for Paratransit eligible customers; negotiates trip options and times with 
customers and their service providers; calculates fares, arranges for client callbacks; processes
cancellations and no shows; maintains related records and documentation.

• Receives and responds to public information requests; receives and processes compliments,
complaints, and service improvement suggestions.

• Participates in outreach and public relations activities and may represent Santa Cruz METRO at
special events; may assist with the design and preparation of brochures, informational flyers,
written articles, and news releases.

• Operates standard office equipment; utilizes computer software in performing job tasks.
• Operates a cash register and photography equipment
• Drive a Santa Cruz METRO vehicle to perform assignments.
• Performs related work as required

Attachment A
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   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
Santa Cruz METRO 

 2  Senior Customer Service Representative 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 

Knowledge of: 

• Principles and practices of employee leadership, including ways to motivate staff and maximize
productivity.

• Modern office practices, procedures, and equipment, including multi-line telephone systems.
• Applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations pertaining to Department of

Transportation regulations and policies governing Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Fixed
Route and Paratransit service.

• Regulations, policies, and procedures affecting Santa Cruz METRO customers.
• Specialized scheduling software.
• Local and regional transportation services.
• Principles and methods of currency counting and cash record-keeping.
• Effective customer service techniques.
• Public speaking techniques.
• Basic mathematics including, percentages and basic statistics.
• Telephone techniques and etiquette.
• The effective use of modern office equipment, personal computers, and standard business

software.

Ability to: 

• Serve as a lead worker over subordinate staff.
• Provide information to the public in a clear, accurate, and effective manner.
• Count and record currency and passenger fare receipts accurately and safely, in accordance with

established procedures.
• Demonstrate excellent public relations skills, obtaining and providing information in a clear,

accurate and professional manner.
• Communicate detailed information about local and regional transit systems, including routes and

schedules.
• Address customer complaints in a sensitive and tactful manner.
• Assist with designing and preparing a variety of public information, marketing, and planning

materials and presentations.
• Maintain a calm demeanor in stressful situations.
• Maintain confidentiality of materials, records, files, and other privileged information using tact

and discretion.
• Utilize standard office equipment and computer software and learn to use specialized Santa Cruz

METRO software if assigned.
• Drive a Santa Cruz METRO vehicle to perform assignments as required.
• Utilize specialized equipment such as ticketing machines, cash registers, and photo identification

printers.
• Communicate clearly and effectively in both oral and written form.
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships within the department and with other

divisions, departments, agencies, suppliers, vendors, and the public.
• Ability to handle conflict resolution and mediate solutions.

Attachment A
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   HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
Santa Cruz METRO 

 3  Senior Customer Service Representative 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

Any combination of experience and education that would likely provide the required knowledge and 
abilities is qualifying.  A typical way to obtain the knowledge and abilities would be:  

Education, Training, and Experience: 

Three (3) years of progressively responsible customer service experience equivalent to a Customer Service 
Representative. 

Fluency in English and Spanish is desirable. 

LICENSES AND CERTIFICATES: 

A valid California Driver’s License will be required at the time of appointment and throughout 
employment. 

Must be able to obtain and maintain a current, valid California Class “C” Driver’s License. 

PHYSICAL AND MENTAL DEMANDS: 

The physical and mental demands described here are representative of those that must be met by 
employees to successfully perform the essential functions of this class.  Reasonable accommodations may 
be made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions. 

Physical Demands 

While performing the duties of this job, the employee is frequently required to reach with hands and 
arms; walk, sit and stand; use finger dexterity; talk and hear, and use a keyboard.  Work often requires 
the repetitive use of both hands to grasp and feel objects; stooping at the waist, and standing.   Work may 
require lifting up to 20 pounds unaided.   Specific visual abilities required for this job include close vision, 
distance vision, the ability to see colors and shades, and the ability to perceive depth.  

Mental Demands 

While performing the duties of this job, an employee uses written and oral communication skills; reads 
and interprets data, information and documents; analyzes and solves problems; uses math and 
mathematical reasoning; performs highly detailed work; deals with multiple concurrent tasks; and 
interacts with others encountered in the course of work. 

Work Environment: 

The employee may work in a standard office, call center or information booth environment where the 
noise level is usually moderate.  May work in the field when needed.   

OTHER CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT: 

• Must pass a requisite background check.
• May occasionally work extended hours or hours outside of the regular schedule.

*Adopted: 12-11-18 
*BOD Approved: 08-23-19 
*Revised: 00-00-00 
*Job Family: Customer Service 
*Job Series: Customer Service 
*Job Series Level: Advanced-Lead 
*Confidential: No 
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D ATE: January 27, 2023  

TO: Board of Directors 

FROM: Chuck Farmer, DBE Liaison Officer, CFO 

SUBJECT: ACCEPT AND FILE THE SEMI-ANNUAL REPORT ON THE STATUS OF 
METRO’S DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PROGRAM 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors accept and file the Semi-Annual Report on the 
status of METRO’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program  

II. SUMMARY 

• As a recipient of federal funds, Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
(METRO) participates in the federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
(DBE) Program as specified in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Part 26 (49 CFR 26). 

• The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requires METRO to recalculate 
its DBE goal triennially and to report goal attainment semi-annually as a 
requirement to receive federal funds. 

• METRO’s FFY21-23 goal for DBE participation is 2.65% of all federally 
funded procurements with competitive contract bidding opportunities. 

• A Semi-Annual report provided to the Board in concurrence with the FTA 
reporting schedule per METRO’s DBE Policy. 

• April 1, 2022 – September 30, 2022, METRO’s DBE attainment was 
0.00% for contracts awarded, payments on ongoing contracts, and 
payments on completed contracts. 

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

The Department of Transportation established a Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) Program in 1980 to ensure that firms competing for federally 
funded contracts are not subject to unlawful discrimination. DBEs, as defined by 
the US Department of Transportation, are for-profit small business concerns where 
socially and economically disadvantaged individuals own at least a 51% interest 
and also control management and daily business operations.  African Americans, 
Hispanics, Native Americans, Asian-Pacific and Subcontinent Asian Americans, 
and women are presumed to be socially and economically disadvantaged.  Other 
individuals can also qualify as socially and economically disadvantaged on a case-
by-case basis. 

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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Semi-annual DBE Report December 2022 

The FTA requires each qualified recipient of more than $250,000 annually 
in federal funds to implement a DBE program, recalculate a DBE goal 
triennially, and report its goal attainment semi-annually, as specified by 49 
CFR 26. METRO received approximately $11.9 million from the FTA in 
FFY22 and, therefore, maintained a DBE Program.  

It is important to acknowledge the restrictions placed on DBE goal setting, 
attainment, and reporting: 

• Only competitively biddable contracts with federal funding are counted 
in the procurement opportunities in which DBEs can participate. 
o The majority of METRO’s FTA funding is used to pay for 

internal labor costs and fringe benefits, and is not required to 
be monitored for the DBE program. 

• Several large expenses have no competitive contract opportunities: 
o Utilities, leases and rent payments, subscription services, 

membership costs, travel.   

• Only certified DBEs can be included for setting goals and measuring 
attainment. 
o Many businesses are owned by minorities and women, but 

not all of these owners register as DBEs in the statewide 
program.   

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

Filing and accepting the semi-annual report on the status of METRO’s 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program aligns with METRO’s goal of 
Financial Stability, Stewardship & Accountability because failing to do so 
jeopardizes the receipt of federal funding.  

V. DBE STATUS 

METRO’s current DBE goal is 2.65% as seen in METRO’s DBE semi-annual report 
for the period covering April 1, 2022 – September 30, 2022 provided as Attachment 
A.  During this reporting period, METRO’s DBE attainment for contracts awarded, 
payments on ongoing contracts, and payments on completed contracts is 0.00%, 
0.00%, and 0.00%, respectively.   Attachment B shows that there were no DBE 
payments on any contracts in the prior reporting period.  Attachment C reports on 
METRO’s DBE attainment for the entirety FFY22.  METRO’s DBE attainment for 
contracts awarded, payments on ongoing contracts, and payments on completed 
contracts is 0.00%, 0.00%, and 0.00%, respectively.   

METRO did not award or close any large construction procurement with 
subcontracting opportunities for DBEs, during this reporting period. The majority of 
METRO’s federal capital funds were obligated for revenue vehicle infrastructure 
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purchased from the vehicle manufacturer for which the transit vehicle manufacturer 
(TVM) reports DBE participation, not METRO. The remainder of METRO’s federal 
capital funds were obligated for smaller infrastructure projects, for which there 
were limited subcontracting opportunities for DBEs. 

VI. UPCOMING DBE OPPORTUNITIES 

In the first half of FFY23, METRO will have approximately $230,000 in contract 
opportunities. These funds are for construction work on the automated gate control 
at the JKS Operations Facility, which may allow for subcontracting opportunities 
with DBEs.  METRO encourages prime contractors to subcontract portions of the 
work to facilitate participation by DBEs and other small businesses to assist 
METRO in meeting their DBE goal. 

VII. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

The DBE Program has direct expenses of less than $850 for publishing ads and 
public hearing notices. Failure to update the goal and submit semi-annual reports 
would jeopardize METRO’s receipt of over $11.9 million in federal financial 
assistance in FFY22. 

VIII. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE  

N/A 

IX. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

There are no alternatives.  Receiving the semi-annual report is a legal requirement 
connected to METRO receiving federal financial assistance. Staff is required to 
provide this information to inform the Board of this important program per METRO’s 
DBE policy, Art. III § 3.304(G). 

X. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: December 1, 2022 DBE Semi-Annual Report (April 1, 2022 – 
September 30, 2022) 

Attachment B: June 1, 2022 DBE Semi-Annual Report (October 1, 2021 – 
March 31, 2022) 

Attachment C:  FFY22 DBE Semi-Annual Report (October 1, 2021 – 
September 30, 2022) 

 
Prepared by:  Cayla Hill, Planning Analyst  
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XI. APPROVALS 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 
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DBEs/Race 
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(dollars)
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DBEs/Race 
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total dollars 
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8
Prime contracts awarded this period 
(Standard Agreements) 968,344.03$          15 -$  0 -$         0 0%

9
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A
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MADE DURING THIS 
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(Total contracts and subcontracts 
committed during this reporting 
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Total Number Total to DBEs 
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Total to 
DBEs 
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Total to 
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(dollars)
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Conscious (number)

Total to 
DBEs/Race 

Neutral 
(dollars)

Total to 
DBEs/Race 

Neutral 
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total dollars 

to DBEs

8
Prime contracts awarded this period 
(Standard Agreements) 79,430.91$            7 -$                     0 -$         0 0%

9
Subcontracts awarded/committed this 
period (3rd Party Contracts) -$                        0 -$                        0 -$           0 -$           0 0%

10 TOTAL -$                     0 -$           0 -$           0 0.00%

A B C D E F

Women Men Total Women Men Total

11 Black American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

12 Hispanic American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

13 Native American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

14 Asian-Pacific American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

15 Subcontinent Asian Americans -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

17 Non-Minority -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0
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A C F

C
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Total Number of 
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Total 
Number of 
Contracts 
with DBEs

Percent to 
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18
Prime and subcontracts currently in 
progress 8 0 0.00%

E

D
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CONTRACTS COMPLETED THIS 

REPORTING PERIOD

Percent to 
DBEs

19 Race Conscious #DIV/0!

20 Race Neutral 0.00%

21 Totals 0.00%
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3
Federal Fiscal year in which reporting 
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5 Reporting Period:
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Total to 
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Total to 

DBEs/Race 

Neutral 
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Percentage of 

total dollars 

to DBEs

8
Prime contracts awarded this period 

(Standard Agreements) 1,047,774.94$       22 -$                     0 -$         0 0%

9
Subcontracts awarded/committed this 

period (3rd Party Contracts) -$                        0 -$                        0 -$           0 -$           0 0%

10 TOTAL -$                     0 -$           0 -$           0 0.00%

A B C D E F

Women Men Total Women Men Total

11 Black American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

12 Hispanic American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

13 Native American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

14 Asian-Pacific American -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

15 Subcontinent Asian Americans -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

17 Non-Minority -$                        -$                        -$                        0 0 0

17 TOTAL -$                        -$                        -$                     0 0 0

A C F

C
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progress 13 0 0.00%
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D
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19 Race Conscious #DIV/0!

20 Race Neutral 0.00%

21 Totals 0.00%
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A B C D
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors  

FROM: Wondimu Mengistu, Capital Planning and Grants Program Manager 

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION THAT APPROVES THE SANTA 
CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT ZERO-EMISSION BUS 
ROLLOUT PLAN AND AUTHORIZES THE CEO/GENERAL MANAGER 
TO SUBMIT THE ZEB ROLLOUT PLAN TO THE CALIFORNIA AIR 
RESOURCES BOARD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INNOVATIVE 
CLEAN TRANSIT REGULATION 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors adopt a resolution that approves the METRO 
Zero-Emission Bus Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General Manager to 
submit the ZEB Rollout Plan to the California Air Resources Board in 
accordance with the Innovative Clean Transit Regulation. 

II. SUMMARY 

• At its September 25, 2015 meeting, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit 
District (METRO) Board of Directors (Board) adopted its first Electric Bus 
Implementation Strategy authorizing METRO to pursue grant funding to 
deploy electric buses. 

• At its May 19, 2017 meeting, the Board adopted a resolution to set a goal for 
achieving a fully zero-emission fleet by 2040 and to support a fleet 
management plan that phases out the purchase of Compressed Natural Gas 
(CNG) buses by 2030. 

• On December 14, 2018, the California Air Resources Board (CARB) passed 
the Innovative Clean Transit (ICT) regulation, which set a goal of fully 
transitioning all bus fleets in the state to Zero Emission Buses (ZEBs) by 
2040. This regulation requires transit agencies to submit a rollout plan 
detailing their plans to transition their fleets to ZEBs. 

• On June 28, 2019, METRO entered into a contract with the Center for 
Transportation and the Environment (CTE) to develop a ZEB Transition Plan 
and Renewable Energy Analysis, and to assist METRO staff with a ZEB 
Rollout Plan. 

• Pursuant to the ICT, the Zero Emission Bus Rollout Plan must be approved 
by the METRO’s Board of Directors through the adoption of a resolution prior 
to submission to CARB by July 1, 2023. 

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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• On March 25, 2022, the Board of Directors (Board) adopted a resolution 
which approved METRO ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General 
Manager to submit the ZEB Rollout Plan to CARB in accordance with ICT 
regulation. 

• Staff has updated METRO ZEB Rollout Plan (Attachment B) and is requesting 
the Board adopt the resolution (Attachment A) which approves the updated 
METRO ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General Manager to 
submit the ZEB Rollout Plan to CARB in accordance with ICT regulation.  

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

At its September 25, 2015 meeting, the Board authorized METRO to begin 
pursuing grant funding to deploy electric buses and adopted its first Electric Bus 
Implementation Strategy, which documented a favorable technological, regulatory, 
operating and financial environment for ZEB deployment, and proposes a timeline 
to implement ZEBs incrementally, beginning with the first acquisition in 2016. 
At its May 19, 2017 meeting, the Board adopted a resolution setting a goal of 2040 
to attain a 100% ZEB fleet and phasing out the purchase of Compressed Natural 
Gas (CNG) buses after 2030. The resolution also states Board support for the 
FY2017 - FY2040 Fleet Management Plan, which outlines METRO’s detailed 
vehicle-specific plan for transitioning the fleet to all ZEBs. 
On December 14, 2018, CARB adopted its ICT regulation which requires all transit 
agencies designated as a small transit agency to transition their bus fleet to all 
ZEBs beginning in 2026. Under the new regulation, CARB will require METRO’s 
new bus purchases to be a minimum of 25% ZEBs beginning in 2026 and ramping 
up to 100% of future bus purchases in 2029, with the goal of transitioning the 
state’s entire transit fleet to 100% ZEBs by 2040. METRO is also required to submit 
a board-approved ZEB Rollout Plan to CARB that describes their plan to transition 
to a 100% zero emission fleet by 2040 with specific required components by July 
1, 2023. 
At its June 28, 2019 meeting, the Board authorized the CEO/General Manager to 
enter into a sole source contract with CTE for Zero Emission Bus Deployment and 
Transition Planning. Since then, CTE has provided assistance in the deployment 
of METRO’s first four ZEBs, ZEB Transition Plan, and a ZEB Rollout Plan. 
At its March 25, 2022 meeting, the Board adopted a resolution (Attachment A) 
which approved METRO ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General 
Manager to submit the Rollout Plan to CARB in accordance with the ICT regulation. 
Since then, METRO developed a ZEB Implementation Plan (Attachment D) to 
support METRO’s facility and operational transition to a ZEB fleet. The Plan 
presents an early opportunity to jump start construction of facilities and 
infrastructure modifications or upgrades, including a hydrogen fueling station, and 
maintenance facilities, to purchase, deploy and maintain hydrogen fuel cell electric 
buses (FCEB). At the October 14, 2022 special meeting of the Board, staff also 
presented the Board with various transition scenarios that included infrastructure 
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and the challenges or risks METRO needs to consider to fully transition its fleet by 
2037. The presentation laid out the bus delivery schedule and METRO’s sources 
of funding to achieve this transition.  
The updated ZEB Rollout Plan (Attachment C) outlines a path for METRO to 
transition the bus fleet to ZEB by 2037, three years earlier than the target set by 
the ICT Regulation.  

1. ZEB Rollout Plan Fleet Procurement Approach: METRO will begin 
to purchase FCEBs in 2023-2024 to achieve the duty cycles of longer 
routes and blocks with larger energy demands. METRO intends to 
continue to transition its fleet to ZEB through both BEBs and FCEBs. 
METRO will continue to procure FCEBs in subsequent years, 
eventually achieving a 100% ZEB fleet by 2037. The procurement 
schedule assumes that if more funds become available, METRO will 
attempt to accelerate its zero-emission bus procurement timeline. 
Attachment B shows METRO’s projected procurement schedule, 
which supports a realistic timeline for infrastructure buildout, 
considers route achievability, and maintains vehicles through the end 
of their useful life. 

2. Facilities and Infrastructure Modifications: Anticipated 
infrastructure required to accommodate METRO’s fleet transition as 
laid out in the ZEB Rollout Plan includes two major phases of buildout 
of a hydrogen fueling station, with the first phase supporting a 85 
FCEB capacity at Judy K Souza Operations Facility (JKS). The 
proposed hydrogen fueling station at JKS has an explicit goal of 
enabling METRO to convert 100% of its fleet serving Watsonville’s 
Historically Disadvantaged Communities (HDCs) to ZEBs by 2027. 
Currently, METRO’s facilities are not adequate in size to support the 
full build out of infrastructure to support BEBs (charging cabinets, 
dispensers, and associated utility equipment). In contrast, the 
infrastructure required for FCEBs (storage tanks, dispensers, etc.) 
can all be contained within the existing JKS facility. METRO is 
proactively exploring several options in order to adapt BEBs, including 
a facility in South County. 

The Rollout Plan is intended as a living document and a snapshot in time, and will 
be updated annually by METRO with those updates submitted to CARB. METRO 
will continue to analyze the facility program and will engage the Board for advice 
and policy guidance on the various potential approaches.  
METRO ZEB Rollout Plan complies with CARB’s ICT regulation. Pursuant to the 
ICT, the ZEB Rollout Plan must be approved by the METRO Board of Directors 
through the adoption of a resolution prior to submission to CARB by July 1, 2023. 
Staff is requesting the Board adopt a resolution (Attachment A), which approves 
METRO’s updated ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General Manager to 
submit the updated ZEB Rollout Plan to CARB in accordance with the ICT 
regulation.  
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IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

The actions taken in this report tie to METRO’s Financial Stability, Stewardship 
and Accountability and State of Good Repair. 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

Since the ZEB Rollout Plan is a document intended to communicate all required 
planning before the purchase requirements of the ICT commence, it has no 
immediate funding impact. However, transitioning to a ZEB fleet will require 
significant capital investment in the procurement of vehicles and in fueling and 
charging infrastructure and will require modification of existing METRO facilities to 
accommodate ZEB buses in the future.  

VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

None 

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

No alternatives were considered. The development of the METRO’s ZEB Rollout 
Plan is a requirement by CARB and the ICT regulation. 

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Resolution approving the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit 
District updated ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizing the 
CEO/General Manager to submit the ZEB Rollout Plan to the 
California Air Resources Board in accordance with the 
Innovative Clean Transit regulation 

 
Attachment B:  Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District Zero-Emission Bus 

Rollout Plan 
 
Attachment C:  METRO ZEB Implementation Plan 
 
 
Prepared by:  Wondimu Mengistu, Capital Planning and Grants Program 

Manager 
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IX. APPROVALS 

John Urgo, Planning 
& Development Director 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree, CEO/GM 
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

Resolution No.                         
On the Motion of Director:                          
Duly Seconded by Director:                          
The Following Resolution is Adopted:                         

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  

SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT (METRO)  
APPROVING THE METRO UPDATED ZERO-EMISSION (ZEB) ROLLOUT PLAN AND 

AUTHORIZING THE CEO/GENERAL MANAGER TO SUBMIT THE UPDATED ZEB 
ROLLOUT PLAN TO THE CALIFORNIA AIR RESOURCES BOARD  

 
WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) has been a 

national leader in supporting sustainable, reduced or zero emissions revenue transit 
vehicles; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 25, 2015, METRO Board of Directors (Board) adopted 
its first Electric Bus Implementation Strategy authorizing METRO to pursue grant funding to 
deploy electric buses; and 
 

WHEREAS, on December 14, 2018, the California Air Resources Board (CARB) 
passed the Innovative Clean Transit (ICT) regulation, which set a goal of fully transitioning 
all bus fleets in the state to Zero Emission Buses (ZEBs) by 2040; and 
 

WHEREAS, Title 13 of the California Code of Regulation § 2023 (13 CCR § 2023. 
1 through 2023.11) requires all public transit agencies to gradually transition their bus fleet 
to zero-emission technologies; and  

 
WHEREAS, METRO’s ZEB Rollout Plan must be submitted to CARB by July 1, 

2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, METRO staff recommends Board approval of the updated ZEB Rollout 

Plan and authorization of the CEO/General Manager to submit the updated ZEB Rollout 
Plan to CARB, with the understanding that the Rollout Plan is intended as a living document, 
and any future updates will also be submitted to CARB.  

 
         NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors METRO 
approves the updated ZEB Rollout Plan and authorizes the CEO/General Manager to 
submit the updated ZEB Rollout Plan, and any other required documents or instruments, 
to CARB, in accordance with the ICT Regulations.  
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PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District this 27th Day of January 2023 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Directors - 
 
NOES: Directors - 

ABSTAIN: Directors - 

ABSENT:        Directors - 

                                        APPROVED 
 
 
 ____________________________ 

       Larry Pageler, Board Chair 
 
 
ATTEST 
 
 
      
Michael Tree 
CEO/General Manager 
   
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
Julie Sherman 
General Counsel 

Attachment A
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SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
ZERO-EMISSION BUS ROLLOUT PLAN 

 
 

SUBMITTAL DATE 
Month Day, [YEAR]  

 
 

Created by Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District 
with assistance from 

the Center for Transportation and the Environment 
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Section B: Rollout Plan General Information  
 

1. Does your transit agency’s Rollout Plan have a goal of full transition to zero-emission 
technologies by 2040 that avoids early retirement of conventional transit buses (13 
CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(A))? 

 
METRO’s Rollout Plan will enable the agency to fully transition its bus fleet to zero-emission by 
2037, which is three years ahead of the deadline set in the Innovative Clean Transit (ICT) 
Regulation. All buses will operate for their expected useful life to avoid early retirement of any 
vehicle. Starting in 2023-2024, all new fixed route vehicle purchases will be zero-emission buses 
(ZEB). Since each bus will operate for their entire useful life of 12-14 years, the last Compressed 
Natural Gas (CNG) buses purchased will dictate the year in which the fleet is fully transitioned to 
zero-emission. Any fixed route CNG bus purchases beyond 2023 will delay the transition. 
 

2. The ICT regulation requires 100% ZEB purchase in 2029. Conventional transit buses 
that are purchased in 2028 could be delivered in or after 2029. Please explain how your 
transit agency plans to avoid potential early retirement of conventional buses in order 
to meet the 2040 goal.  

 
METRO has committed to purchasing the required percentage of zero-emission buses as required 
by the ICT. All procurements are planned in corresponding end-of-life years for its historical 
fleets of diesel and CNG buses. METRO will begin to purchase fuel cell electric buses (FCEB) 
in 2023-2024 to achieve the duty cycles of longer routes and blocks with larger energy demands 
than the current battery electric bus (BEB) achievable ranges on the market allow. Keeping the 
traditional, non-zero-emission vehicles in service until their 14-year end of life allows METRO 
the time to build infrastructure and acquire enough FCEBs to support the more demanding 
routes. 
 

3. When did your transit agency's board or governing body approve the Rollout Plan?  
a. Rollout Plan's approval date  
b. Resolution number (optional)  
c. Is a copy of the board approved resolution attached to the Rollout Plan 

submitted to CARB (13 CCR § 2023.1(d) (2))? (Yes/No) (required)  
This Rollout Plan was approved by Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District on January, 2023 via 
[RESOLUTION NUMBER]. A copy of the board approved resolution is attached to the Rollout 
Plan as {SECTION NAME/NUMBER}. 
 

4. Please provide contact information for CARB to follow up on details of the Rollout 
Plan, if needed.  

a. Contact name: Michael Tree 
b. Title: CEO 
c. Phone Number: 831-426-6080  
d. Email: Mtree@scmtd.com  
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5. Who has created the Rollout Plan?  
 
This Rollout Plan was created by METRO with assistance from the Center for Transportation and 
the Environment (CTE).  
 
Section C: Technology Portfolio  
 

1. What type(s) of zero-emission bus technologies does your transit agency plan to deploy 
through 2040? (13 CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(B))  

 
METRO provides bus and paratransit service throughout Santa Cruz County, California, 
providing more than 246,191 trips a year. With a fleet of approximately 100 buses, METRO 
operates 24 bus lines, carrying approximately 5,045,972 passengers annually. METRO operates 
four transit centers in Santa Cruz County: Santa Cruz Metro Center (located in downtown Santa 
Cruz), Cavallaro Transit Center (located in Scotts Valley), Capitola Mall Transit Center (located 
in Capitola), and Watsonville Transit Center (located in Watsonville). METRO recently took 
delivery of four BEBs into their fleet, with 2 of the BEBs operating on the newly established 
Watsonville Circulate and 2 BEBs the remaining vehicles operate on various routes throughout 
the METRO service area. METRO is also scheduled to receive five additional BEBs in 2023.  
 
METRO intends to continue to transition their fleet to zero-emission through both BEBs and 
FCEBs. Figure 1 shows METRO’s projected procurement schedule that supports a realistic 
timeline for infrastructure build, considers route achievability, and maintains vehicles through 
the end of their useful life.  
 
As detailed in Figured 1, METRO’s transition to ZEBs began in 2021 with the deployment of 4 
BEBs. Between 2023 and 2029, METRO will begin procuring FCEBs. By 2030, more than a 
half of METRO’s fleet will be ZEB. With FCEB delivery scheduled in 2024-2025, this will 
allow METRO time to plan and deploy the required hydrogen fueling infrastructure as well as 
prepare operations and maintenance teams in receiving and supporting this new technology.  
 
METRO will begin to purchase FCEBs in 2023-2024 to achieve the duty cycles of longer routes 
and blocks with larger energy demands. METRO intends to continue to transition its fleet to ZEB 
through both BEBs and FCEBs. METRO will continue to procure FCEB’s in subsequent years, 
eventually achieving a 100% ZEB fleet by 2037. The procurement schedule assumes that if more 
funds become available, METRO will attempt to accelerate its ZEB procurement timeline. 
If more funds become available, METRO intends to accelerate the ZEB procurement timeline.  
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Figure 1: METRO’s Fleet Composition Over 20-Year ZEB Transition Period 
 

 

 
 
 

Section D: Current Bus Fleet Composition and Future Bus Purchases  
 

1. Please complete Table 1 with information on each individual bus in your current bus 
fleet. Please identify the fuel type of each individual conventional bus as diesel, compressed 
natural gas (CNG), liquefied natural gas (LNG), diesel hybrid (dHEB), gasoline hybrid 
(gHEB), propane, or gasoline. For zero-emission technologies, identify the fuel type as 
hydrogen or electricity and indicate which charging technology (depot, wireless, and/or on-
route) will be used. Bus types include standard, articulated, over-the-road, double decker 
and cutaway buses.  

 
METRO’s fleet currently consists of 69 CNG buses, 21 diesel buses, 10 hybrids buses, and 4 
battery electric buses. Table 1 is representative of the METRO’s fleet as of January 2023. It lists 
vehicles that are routinely operated in service, as well as a supporting contingency fleet.  
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Table 1: Individual Bus Information for Current Bus Fleet 
 

Bus Series Number 
of Buses 

Engine 
Model 
Year 

Bus 
Model 
Year 

Fuel 
Type 

Bus Type 

9800 
 

9 1998 1998 Diesel New Flyer Standard 35 Foot 

9800 8 1998 1998 Diesel New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

2200 14 2007 
 

2002 
 

CNG New Flyer Standard 35 Foot 

2200 10 2007 2002 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

2300 4 2002 2002 Diesel New Flyer Articulated 60 Foot 

2600 2 2019 2006 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

2800 13 2008 2008 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

1000 5 2011 2011 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

1200 11 2012 2012 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

1300 6 2013 2013 CNG New Flyer Standard 35 Foot 

4200 10 2014 2014 Hybrid GILLIG Standard 40 Foot 

1600 3 2016 2016 CNG New Flyer Standard 40 Foot 

1900 5 2019 2019 CNG GILLIG Standard 40 Foot 

0320/0420 4 2020 2020 Depot 
charged 

Proterra 660kWh 40 Foot 
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2. Please complete Table 2 regarding expected future bus purchases, including the 
number of buses in total expected to be purchased or leased in the year of purchase. 
Identify the number and percentage of zero-emission buses of the total bus purchases each year, as 
well as bus types and fuel types. Identify the same type of information for purchases of conventional 
buses. Bus types include standard, articulated, over-the-road, double decker and cutaway buses. 
For zero-emission technologies, please identify the fuel type as hydrogen or electricity and the type 
of charging technology (depot, wireless, and/ or on-route). For conventional technologies, identify 
the fuel type as diesel, compressed natural gas (CNG), liquefied natural gas (LNG), diesel hybrid 
(dHEB), gasoline hybrid (gHEB), propane, or gasoline. (13 CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(D))  

 
As described in Section C Technology Portfolio, METRO intends to transition their current fleet 
composition to a mixed fleet of both BEBs and FCEBs. Figure 2 presents METRO’s projected 
schedule of bus purchases. This schedule allows METRO to maintain the same level of service 
and achieve the energy demands of the current regular service. It also reflects the 14-year life 
span of the current fleet and the first ZEB replacement cycle which takes place in 2036 when the 
initial 4 Proterra BEBs will be replaced.  
 
As show in Figure 2, beginning in 2023-2024, all new fixed route vehicle purchases will be zero-
emission buses (ZEB). METRO intends to continue to transition its fleet to ZEB through both 
BEBs and FCEBs. METRO will continue to procure FCEB’s in subsequent years, eventually 
achieving a 100% ZEB fleet by 2037. The procurement schedule assumes that if more funds 
become available, METRO will attempt to accelerate its ZEB procurement timeline..  
 
As previously stated, METRO’s current purchase schedule is based on available grant funding. If 
more funding becomes available METRO will look for opportunities to move up the transition 
timeline. Table 2 provides a breakdown of each annual purchase and associated ZEBs. It also 
includes the anticipated phasing of the required hydrogen fueling infrastructure.  
Figure 2: METRO’s Projected Annual Bus Procurements 
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             Table 2: METRO’s Projected Annual Bus ZEB Procurement Details  
 

Timeline 
(Year) 

Total 
Number of 
Buses to 
Purchase 

Number of 
ZEB 

Purchases 

Percentage of 
Annual Bus 
Purchases 

ZEB Bus Type(s) / 
ZEB Fuel Type(s) 

Number of 
Conventional 

Vehicles 

2021 -- -- -- 4 BEB -- 

2023  5  5  100% 5 BEB -- 

2024 13 13 100% 13 FCEB -- 

2025 6 6 100% 6 FCEB -- 

                             2025 :  Phase 1 Hydrogen Fueling Infrastructure  

2026 7 7 100% 7 FCEB -- 

2027 6 6 100% 6 FCEB -- 

2028 7 7 100% 7 FCEB/BEB -- 

2029 6 6 100% 6 FCEB/BEB -- 

2030 7 7 100% 7 FCEB -- 

2031 3 3 100% 3 FCEB -- 

2033 7 7 100% 7 FCEB/BEB --  

2034 6 6 100% 6 FCEB/BEB -- 

2035 7 7 100% 7 FCEB -- 

2036 6 6 100% 6 FCEB/BEB -- 
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2037 7 7 100% 7 FCEB -- 

2038 6 6 100% 6 FCEB -- 

2039 7 7 100% 7 FCEB -- 

                           2040 : Phase 2 Hydrogen Fueling Infrastructure  

2040 6 6 100% 6 FCEB -- 

 
 

3. Following the same bus purchase timeline as identified in Table 2, please identify in 
Table 3 the required operational range your future zero-emission buses should have 
to be able to serve in your fleet. Please provide the estimated cost of each bus with that 
required operational range.  

 
The price shown in Table 3 reflects the price of the 40’ New Flyer FCEB on the California state 
contract, because at this time it is the only 40’ FCEB option currently listed on the contract. 
Table 3 reflects METRO’s historic configurable options costs and the state tax. Table 3 also lists 
the required operational range needed from a ZEB for METRO’s operations. 
 
Table 3: Estimated Costs and Range Requirements of Future ZEB Purchases  
 
 Cost Requirements Range Requirement 
 Average Bus 

Base Price from 
CA State 
Contract 

Estimated Cost of 
Configurable 

Options 

Tax Estimated 
Total Cost * 

METRO’s Required 
Operational Range 

40’ 
FCEB 

$1,015,000 $88,000 3.5% $1,489,050 285 miles 

*2021 pricing shown. The general expectation is that FCEB prices will fall, although there is not 
enough information to make a confident projection in future pricing. 
 

4. Is your transit agency considering converting some of the conventional buses in 
service to zero-emission buses (13 CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(E))?  

 
            No. 
 
 

Attachment B

10.10B.10



Santa Cruz METRO ICT Zero-Emission Bus Rollout Plan 
Prepared by CTE and METRO 

     
 11 

Section E: Facilities and Infrastructure Modifications  
 

1. Please complete Table 5 with names, locations, and main functions of transit agency 
divisions or facilities that would be involved in deploying and maintaining zero-
emission buses. Please limit the facilities to bus yards and facilities with maintenance, 
fueling, and charging functions, and exclude other operational functions like training 
centers, information and trip planning offices, and administrative buildings. Please identify 
which facility(ies) require construction, infrastructure modifications, or upgrades to 
support your transit agency's long-term transition to zero-emission technologies and the 
estimated timeline for such an upgrade. Please also specify the type(s) of infrastructure 
planned in each division or facility and provide their service capacities (e.g., en-route high-
power charging system to deploy 20 BEB in 2025). (13 CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(C)). 

 
METRO currently has one facility, at Judy K Souza Operations Facility (JKS) that includes a 
service lane, a CNG fueling station, parking, 4 BEB charging stations with conduit ready for an 
addition 6 charging stations. The parking available to METRO is not sufficient to house its entire 
fleet, with about 10% of the fleet being required to park at the maintenance facility across the 
street from JKS.  
 
The proposed hydrogen fueling station at JKS has an explicit goal of enabling METRO to 
convert 100% of its fleet serving Watsonville’s Historically Disadvantaged Communities 
(HDCs) to ZEBs by 2027. Anticipated infrastructure required to accommodate METRO’s fleet 
transition as laid out in the ZEB Rollout Plan includes two major phases of buildout of a 
hydrogen fueling station, with the first phase supporting a 85 FCEB capacity at JKS. Currently, 
METRO’s facilities are not adequate in size to support the full build out of infrastructure to 
support BEBs (charging cabinets, dispensers, and associated utility equipment). In contrast, the 
infrastructure required for FCEBs (storage tanks, dispensers, etc.) can all be contained within the 
existing JKS facility. METRO is proactively exploring several options in order to adapt BEBs, 
including a facility in South County. 
 
The potential South County Facility will serve as the base of operations for buses currently 
deadheading from Santa Cruz to Watsonville to conduct local service in South County. The 
South County Facility has the potential to significantly improve operational efficiency and ZEB 
feasibility through reduced deadheading. 
 
Figure 3 reflects the anticipated infrastructure required to accommodate METRO’s fleet 
transition. The infrastructure builds are planned to support the buses identified in the Figure 2 
procurement schedule. Each infrastructure project cost is associated with the project year in the 
Figure 3 timeline and the related procurements of the vehicles that require that phase of 
infrastructure development. Hydrogen infrastructure costs include maintenance bay upgrades for 
H2 detection, ventilation systems, and the build-out of a hydrogen fueling station, including 
design, construction, and equipment installation costs. For planning purposes, CTE assumed two 
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major phases of build out of the hydrogen fueling station. For cost estimation purposes, an 85 
FCEB capacity was assumed for first phase. The estimated FCEB fleet size will remain below 85 
buses until the planned purchase of additional FCEBs beyond 2040, requiring an upgrade to the 
station to support the increased throughput demand. This phased approach serves to optimize 
system efficiency and reduce operating costs.  
 
METRO has 11 maintenance bays that are currently CNG compliant; METRO assumes each 
maintenance bay will cost $136,000 to upgrade gaseous fuel detection and ventilation systems to 
comply with the requirements for hydrogen facilities, totaling to $1,496,000 in maintenance 
facility upgrades. Hydrogen storage and dispensing capacity is assumed to be 85 FCEBs. Since 
METRO plans to have under 85 FCEBs until 2040, the build out of the hydrogen station is 
phased, with an initial build in 2024-2025 to support the first FCEBs and an expansion planned 
in 2040 to support the additional FCEBs scheduled for procurement that year. The first phased 
build is estimated to cost $9M while the second phase is estimated to be $2M for the charging 
infrastructure and $4.6M, including all storage, compression, and dispensing equipment. 
Figure 3: METRO’s Estimated Annual Infrastructure Costs 
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Table 5: Facilities Information and Construction Timeline  
 
Division/Faci
lity Name 

Address Main 
Function(s) 

Type(s) of ZEB 
Infrastructure 

Service 
Capacity 

Needs 
Upgrade? 

JKS Facility  1200 River St, 
Santa Cruz, 
CA 95060 

Bus Storage, 
Fueling and 
Daily Service 

Electric Charging 
Depot and Planned 
Hydrogen Fueling 
Station 

Entire Fleet Yes, planned 
hydrogen 
fueling 
infrastructure 
installation 

METRO 
Maintenance 
Facility 

171 Vernon , 
Santa Cruz, 
CA 95060 

Bus 
Maintenance 
and Storage 

Planned hydrogen 
detection system 

Entire Fleet Yes, planned 
hydrogen 
detection 
system 

South 
County 
Facility  

TBD Bus Storage, 
Fueling and 
Daily Service 

TBD TBD No. 

 
1. Regarding the information provided in Table 5, please explain the types of necessary 

upgrades or infrastructure modifications each facility or division needs to support your 
transit agency’s long-term transition to ZEB. Please also provide the specification of 
each infrastructure in the related facility or division before and after the upgrades or 
modifications.  

 
JKS will require a hydrogen station including storage, compression, maintenance facility 
upgrades and dispensers to support up to 85 FCEBs. The METRO Maintenance Facility will 
require upgrades to gaseous fuel detection and ventilation systems to comply with the 
requirements for supporting hydrogen vehicles. These upgrades will apply to all 11 bays at the 
facility. 
 

 
2. Do you expect to make any modifications to your bus parking arrangements? Explain 

the modifications and why they are needed.  
 
Yes. METRO has been working with CTE to develop conceptual layouts of 
charging/fueling infrastructure and used those preliminary analyses to quantify the 
parking impact of such infrastructure. METRO’s current bus parking layout, 
accommodating 68 buses in striped parking spaces, and 15 in the drive lanes for a total of 83 
buses. METRO has enough room for 67 FCEBs to be parked in striped spaces, and 10 buses 
in the drive lanes, for a total of 77 buses. This net loss of 6 parking spaces indicates that large-
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scale FCEBs fueling infrastructure is likely to impact parking capacity at METRO.  
 

3. Do you expect to need additional parking spaces for completing the transition to zero-
emission technologies? Explain why.  
No, METRO does not need additional parking spaces for completing their transition. 
METRO plans to park 6 buses at METRO’s Maintenance Facility.   

 
4. In Table 6, please identify the propulsion system of all buses that will be dispatched 

from the facilities identified in Table 5.  
 

5. Please identify the electric utilities in your transit agency’s service area. 
METRO provides transit service within PG&E service territories. 
 

Table 6: NOx-Exempt Area and Electric Utilities’ Territories  
 

Division/Facility 
Name 

Type(s) of Bus 
Propulsion Systems 

Dispatched 

Located in NOx-
Exempt Area? 

Name(s) of Electric 
Utility in Service Area 

JKS Diesel, CNG, BEB, 
FCEB 

No PG&E 

 
Note: The ICT regulation defines "NOx Exempt Areas" (13 CCR § 2023(b)(39)) as the following counties and air basins: 
Alpine, Amador, Butte, Calaveras, Colusa, Del Norte, Eastern Kern (the portion of Kern County within the Eastern Kern 
Air Pollution Control District), Glenn, Humboldt, Inyo, Lake, Lassen, Mariposa, Mendocino, Modoc, Mono, Monterey, 
Nevada, Northern Sonoma (as defined in title 17, California Code of Regulations, section 60100(e)), Plumas, San 
Benito, San Luis Obispo, Santa Barbara, Santa Cruz, Shasta, Sierra, Siskiyou, Northern Sutter (the portion of Sutter 
County that is north of the line that extends from the south east corner of Colusa County to the southwest corner of Yuba 
County), the portion of El Dorado County that is within the Lake Tahoe Air Basin (as defined in title 17, California Code 
of Regulations, section 60113), the portion of Placer County that is East of Highway 89 or within the Lake Tahoe Air 
Basin, Trinity, Tehama, Tuolumne, and Yub 
 
Section F: Providing Service in Disadvantaged Communities  
 

1. Does your transit agency serve one or more disadvantaged communities, as listed in 
the latest version of CalEnviroScreen?  

a. If yes, please describe how your transit agency is planning to deploy zero-emission 
buses in disadvantaged communities (13 CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(F)). 

b. Please complete Table 7 with the estimated number of zero-emission buses your transit 
agency is planning to deploy in disadvantaged communities and the estimated timeline.  
 

METRO provides service to one unique disadvantaged community (DAC). METRO’s Phase I 
ZEB Implementation Plan has an explicit goal of converting 100% of its fleet serving 
Watsonville’s DAC to ZEBs by 2027. The current METRO fleet serves the DAC with nine 
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routes, which are shown in the map provided in Appendix A. 
 
Since 2021 METRO has deployed two BEB buses in Watsonville for a Circulator route; this route 
provides frequent service to desirable destinations in Watsonville between noon and 7:45pm.  
The new the Zero-Emission Watsonville Circulator Project is funded by the California 
Department of Transportation’s Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP). The new 
route is designed to reduce the number of riders using intercity buses for local trips and increase 
the number of transit passengers by providing more frequent service to desirable destinations in 
Watsonville between 10am and 8pm daily. The route will continue to serves one of the lowest 
income communities in METRO’s service area. The project would not only supplant the 
greenhouse gas emissions from a fossil fueled bus, but it would also provide additional service in 
an area of the county with a high proportion of transit users. METRO will offer free fares to the 
public to encourage ridership and promote public transportation through a one-year pilot program.  
 
Due to the difficulty in assigning specific future bus procurements to routes, and with respect to 
METRO’s needs to frequently arrange and adapt service, the Expected Year of First ZEB 
Deployment is indicative of when METRO expects to deploy and house ZEBs. Because the end 
date of METRO’s transition is to be determined there is not a definite date for completion of 
route electrification at this time.  

 
Table 7: Service in Disadvantaged Communities  
 

METRO Route Expected Year of 
First ZEB 

Deployment 

Year of Complete 
Route 

Electrification/Fueling 
Infrastructure  

Location of 
Disadvantaged 

Community 
By Census Tract 

Number 
69A 2027 2025 6053010101 

6087110400 
6087110300 

69W 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

71 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

72  
2027 

2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

72W 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 
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75 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

75S 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

79 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

91 2027 2025 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

Watsonville 
Circulator  

2021 2021-2024 6053010101 
6087110400 
6087110300 

 
Note: The ICT regulation defines the "CalEnviroScreen" (13 CCR § 2023(b)(10)) as a mapping tool 
that is developed by the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) at the 
request of the California Environmental Protection Agency (CalEPA) to identify California's most 
pollution-burdened and vulnerable communities based on geographic, socioeconomic, public 
health, and environmental hazard criteria. The CalEnviroScreen is available for public use at 
https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen. 
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Section G: Workforce Training  
 

1. Please describe your transit agency’s plan and schedule for the training of bus 
operators and maintenance and repair staff on zero-emission bus technologies (13 
CCR § 2023.1(d)(1)(G)).  

 
METRO plans to implement ZEB training programs for bus operators, mechanics, utility 
maintenance workers, and supervisors on an annual basis, including new operator training and 
the State Mandated Annual Refresher Training (SMART).  
  
Training courses include Operator Refresher Training, New Operator Training, Bus 
Familiarization, and Bus Refresher Training. The annual training programs reach approximately 
160 operators, 21 Transit Service Delivery (TSD) Supervisors, 2 Trainers and 1 TSD 
Superintendents in the Transit Service Delivery department. In the Maintenance divisions, 
annual trainings prepare 21 Mechanics, 9 Utility Personnel, 2 Maintenance Supervisors, 1 Senior 
Account Manager,  and the Fleet Maintenance Manager. Trainings encompass all propulsion 
technologies at METRO.   
 
The in-house curriculum includes New Bus Training, which incorporates pre-trip inspections, 
door operations, emergency equipment operations, steering, operational concerns, DMV pre-trip, 
bus components, and other portions of the bus functions and operations across bus technologies. 
Maintenance trainings are also an important element of a bumper-to-bumper technical training 
curriculum for mechanics, utility workers, and supervisors. These trainings focus on preventive 
maintenance requirements, hazards related to high voltage, personal protective equipment, 
component training, and charging and fueling source training.  
 
METRO also takes advantage of trainings from manufacturers of ZEB equipment, whether it is 
the bus, charge management software, or charging equipment. OEM trainings provide critical 
information on operations and maintenance aspects specific to the equipment model procured. 
Additionally, many procurement contracts include train-the-trainer courses through which small 
numbers of agency staff are trained and subsequently train agency colleagues. This method 
provides a cost-efficient opportunity to provide widespread agency training on new equipment 
and technologies.  
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Section H: Potential Funding Sources  
 

1. Please identify all potential funding sources your transit agency expects to use to 
acquire zero-emission technologies (both vehicles and infrastructure) (13 CCR § 
2023.1(d)(1)(H)).  

 
METRO is prepared to pursue funding opportunities at the federal, state, and local level, as 
necessary and as available.  
 
METRO is exploring federal grants through the following funding programs: Federal Transit 
Administration’s (FTA) Urbanized Area Formula program; discretionary grant programs such as 
the Bus and Bus Facilities (B&BF) program, Low or No Emission Vehicle Deployment Program 
(LoNo), and Better Utilizing Investments to Leverage Development (BUILD) grant; and other 
available federal discretionary grant programs. 
 
METRO will also seek funding from state resources through grant opportunities including but 
not limited to Senate Bill 1 State of Good Repair (SGR), Transit and Intercity Rail Capital 
Program (TIRCP), Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) funding, the California 
Energy Commission’s Clean Transportation Program as well as Hybrid and Zero-Emission 
Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP) for bus purchases when available. 
 
 
Section I: Start-up and Scale-up Challenges  
 

a. Please describe any major challenges your transit agency is currently facing in small 
scale zero-emission bus deployment. How might CARB assist you to overcome these 
challenges? Please share your recommendations.  
 
Currently, METRO is not facing any major challenges to ZEB deployment. 
 

b. Please describe any challenges your transit agency may face in scaling up zero-
emission bus deployment. How might CARB assist you to overcome these challenges? 
Please share your recommendations.  
 

Challenges can arise with any new propulsion technology, its corresponding infrastructure, or in 
training operators and maintenance staff. While not all challenges can be foreseen, nearly all transit 
agencies must contend with the cost hurdles posed by these new zero-emission technologies. The 
current market cost of ZEBs is between $750,000 and $1,200,000, which is about $250,000 to 
$700,000 more costly than traditional diesel buses. METRO will seek financial support to cover 
the incremental cost of ZEBs from the resources discussed in Section H.  
 
Costs of required fueling infrastructure and fueling operations for ZEB technologies pose another 
hurdle for transit agencies transitioning to zero-emission service. The combined METRO’s 
Estimated Annual Fuel Consumption by Fuel Type are shown in Figure 4. 
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Figure 4: METRO’s Estimated Annual Fuel Consumption by Fuel Type 
 

 
 
 
Continued support for the capital cost of this new infrastructure is imperative, but creating cost 
efficiencies for fueling operations cannot be overlooked. For alternative fuels such as hydrogen, 
support for hydrogen supply chains and increasing economies of scale on the production side 
will ultimately benefit transit agencies deploying and planning for FCEBs.  
 
Beyond cost hurdles, transit agencies must also ensure that available zero-emission technologies 
can meet basic service requirements of the agency’s duty cycles. The applicability of specific 
zero-emission technologies will vary widely among service areas and agencies. As such, it is 
critical that transit agencies in need of technical and planning support have access to these 
resources to avoid failed deployment efforts. Support in the form of technical consultants and 
experienced zero-emission transit planners will be critical to turning Rollout Plans into 
successful deployments and tangible emissions reductions.  
 
CARB can support METRO by ensuring continued funding for the incremental cost of zero-
emission buses, as well as infrastructure funding and legislative support. These support activities 
should emphasize proper transition and deployment planning and should not preclude hiring 
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consultants to ensure best practices and successful deployments. Availability and the price of 
hydrogen, both renewable and not, continue to be an affordability challenge that can be allayed 
by legislation subsidizing renewable fuel production. 
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Appendix A: METRO Disadvantaged Community and Low-Income Service 
Map 
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  

SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
 

Resolution No.      
On the Motion of Director:     
Duly Seconded by Director:    
The Following Resolution is Adopted:  

 

RESOLUTION OF APPRECIATION FOR THE SERVICES OF CATALINO VASQUEZ 
AS MECHANIC II FOR THE SANTA CRUZ METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) was formed to 

provide public transportation to all of the residents of Santa Cruz County, and  
 
WHEREAS, the provision of public transportation service requires a competent, 

dedicated workforce, and 
 
WHEREAS, METRO, requiring an employee with expertise and dedication, 

appointed Catalino Vasquez to serve in the position of Mechanic II, and 
 
WHEREAS, Catalino Vasquez served as a member of the Fleet Maintenance 

Department of METRO for the time period of May 7, 2004 to December 21, 2022, and 
 
WHEREAS, Catalino Vasquez provided METRO with dedicated service and 

commitment during the time of his employment, and 
 
WHEREAS, Catalino Vasquez served METRO with distinction, and 
 
WHEREAS, the service provided to the residents of Santa Cruz County by 

Catalino Vasquez resulted in reliable, quality public transportation being available in the 
most difficult of times, and 

 
WHEREAS, during the time of Mr. Vasquez’s service, METRO improved existing 

and built new operating facilities, converted the fleet to a CNG propulsion system, 
developed accessible bus stops, improved ridership, responded to adverse economic 
conditions, assumed direct operational responsibility for the Highway 17 Express 
service and the Amtrak Connector service, and assumed direct operational 
responsibility for the ParaCruz service, and 

 
WHEREAS, the quality of life in Santa Cruz County was improved dramatically 

as a result of the exemplary service provided by Catalino Vasquez. 
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Resolution No.     
Page 2 
 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that upon his retirement as 
Mechanic II, the Board of Directors of METRO does hereby commend his efforts in 
advancing public transit service in Santa Cruz County and expresses sincere 
appreciation on behalf of itself, the METRO staff and all of the residents of Santa Cruz 
County. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a copy of this resolution be entered into the 

official records of the Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District.  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 27th Day of January 2023 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: Directors -   
 
NOES: Directors - 
 
ABSTAIN: Directors - 
 
ABSENT: Directors - 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 

Larry Pageler, Board Chair   

Attest: 
Michael Tree   
CEO/General Manager 

 
 
 
Approved as to form: 

Julie Sherman, General Counsel   
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DATE: January 27, 2023 

TO: Board of Directors  

FROM: John Urgo, Planning & Development Director 

SUBJECT: YOUTH RIDE FREE PILOT PROGRAM 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

That the Board of Directors approve a twelve-month Youth Ride Free pilot 
program beginning March 1, 2023 through March 1, 2024, waiving METRO 
fares for regular service for K-12 youth.   

II. SUMMARY 

• The Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) has a goal of increasing 
transit ridership to seven million trips within the next five years. 

• Youth under the age of 18 currently comprise 9.7% of METRO boardings (2019 
On-Board Survey) yet are 19% of Santa Cruz County residents, suggesting 
room for growth in this demographic.  

• Eliminating fares for K-12 youth would encourage transit ridership, expand 
access to opportunities and resources for youth, and lower the economic 
burden for those who use transit by economic necessity.  

• Staff estimates the financial impact of a twelve-month Youth Ride Free pilot 
program for K-12 youth to be between $68,900 (using FY22 youth farebox data) 
and $245,833 (using FY19 youth farebox data).  

III. DISCUSSION/BACKGROUND 

In recent years, the concept of fare free transit in one form or another has been 
gaining momentum in California at the State Legislature and among transit 
agencies statewide. These programs have typically targeted youth in an effort to 
encourage mode shift in the short term and build lifelong transit riders. Given that 
public transit is the most efficient and equitable way for large numbers of people 
to access opportunities and resources, removing barriers to its use is critical to 
reducing car dependence and achieving climate goals. For those who use transit 
because of economic necessity, fare free programs also serve equity goals. But 
for agencies like METRO that rely on farebox revenue, fare free transit requires 
sustainable funding sources to move beyond the short-term pilot stage. 

  

Santa Cruz Metropolitan 
Transit District 
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Youth Ride Free Pilot Program 

In 2022, Legislators considered three different pathways to advance some form of 
fare free transit: a short-lived proposal from Governor Gavin Newsom to provide 
free transit to all Californians for three months; Assemblymember Holden’s AB 
1919, which, as amended, would have allowed transit agencies to opt in to 
providing fare free transit to youth 25 years or younger but which was ultimately 
vetoed by Governor Newsom, citing concerns over funding sources; and Senator 
Josh Newman’s SB 942, which makes it easier for transit agencies to use Low 
Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) funds for fare free and reduced fare 
programs.  

In recent years, a number of transit agencies in California have implemented both 
pilot and permanent free fare for youth programs:  

• In 2021, the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA) began 
offering free rides to all youth ages six to 18. In 2022, OCTA made 
the program permanent and plans to use LCTOP funds to help 
backfill the loss in fare revenue.  

• In July 2021, Santa Rosa CityBus launched an 18-month pilot 
program providing free fares for K-12 youth.  As of today, youth 
ridership is exceeding 125 percent of pre-pandemic levels and 
continuing to trend upward, according to the agency.  

• The Sacramento Regional Transit District (SacRT) launched its 
RydeFreeRT program in October 2019, providing fare free transit for 
youth in grades K-12. Within the first three months of launch, student 
ridership increased 127 percent. A study released by the University 
of Texas in 2021 found that the RydeFreeRT program achieved 
multiple key goals to increase transit ridership and school 
attendance. The study also demonstrated a statistically significant 
decrease in automobile usage, especially for those who used to get 
a car ride to and from school.  

• In 2021, the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency 
expanded its Free Muni for Low- and Moderate-Income Youth to all 
youth 18 years and younger, regardless of household income level 
and eliminated the application and proof of payment requirements. 

• Many transit agencies in Los Angeles, San Diego and the San 
Francisco Bay Area are planning to launch similar programs in 
coming months. 

Given the success of these programs and the numerous studies that have 
documented a link between exposure to transit at an early age and continued use 
in adult years, METRO seeks to implement a twelve-month Youth Ride Free pilot 
program for youth in grades K-12 beginning in March 2023. The intent of this 

13.2



Board of Directors  
January 27, 2023 
Page 3 of 6 
 
 

Youth Ride Free Pilot Program 

program is to support METRO’s goal of increasing transit ridership to seven million 
trips within the next five years, expand access to opportunities and resources for 
youth, and support equity goals by eliminating the fare burden for youth, many of 
whom come from low-income households. Youth under the age of 18 currently 
comprise 9.7% of METRO boardings (2019 On-Board Survey). However, 19% of 
Santa Cruz County residents – 51,327 persons – are under 18 years of age, 
suggesting room for growth in this demographic. 

The Youth Ride Free pilot program would allow youth in grades K-12 to ride local 
METRO service fare free anywhere and anytime METRO operates (Highway 17 
excluded). To support ease of use and implementation during the pilot year, 
METRO does not plan to require a specific fare card or special documentation in 
order to ride:  

• Youth grades 9-12 would be asked to show a student ID when 
boarding the bus.  
 

• Youth grades 8 and under may be asked to identify their grade level 
or the school they attend to the driver. If the school provides a student 
ID then the student should show the ID to the driver upon boarding.  
 

• Youth grades 9-12 without a student ID may acquire a special pass 
from their school or at the Pacific Station Customer Service Window 
with a valid proof of age document (specific details to be worked out). 
 

Staff will conduct outreach to all school districts within Santa Cruz County 
beginning in February to request assistance in notifying the public of the program. 
Additional outreach will be conducted including email notifications to METRO 
stakeholder groups and through METRO’s social media channels.  

Besides the anticipated fare revenue loss, there is the potential that if the Youth 
Ride Free program results in ridership that requires additional buses or drivers, 
METRO may face pressure to reallocate service from other areas or increase 
service at a time when the industry is facing an acute labor shortage. METRO is 
not planning, nor does it have the resources, to expand service at this time. Staff 
does not anticipate significant service impacts during the pilot year: local ridership 
remains 35% below pre-COVID levels, meaning there is available capacity at most 
times of the day. Furthermore, without improving service, transit demand is not 
likely to increase, as it is not primarily cost that keeps riders from transit but 
convenience and availability. The exception may be specific local school-focused 
trips; however, these are limited to a small number of trips on Routes 35, 40, 41, 
42 and 74S. Increased incidence of school field trips, particularly in the summer, 
may also impact operations and school districts are reminded to contact METRO 
ahead of time to coordinate group travel. Finally, the Reimagine 
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METRO/Comprehensive Operational Analysis will provide ample opportunity to 
analyze current school service and plan for future needs.  

At the end of the pilot year staff will analyze ridership and fare revenue loss and 
recommend to the Board whether to continue the program or not. 

IV. STRATEGIC PLAN PRIORITIES ALIGNMENT 

The Youth Ride Free pilot program would align with the following Strategic 
Priorities: 

• Service Quality and Delivery 
• Strategic Alliances and Community Outreach 
• Financial Stability, Stewardship & Accountability 

V. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS/IMPACT 

Based upon ridership and on-board survey data, staff estimates the Youth Ride 
Free pilot program would incur between $68,900 and $245,833 in lost fare 
revenue. The former number is the more likely estimate and is calculated using 
FY22 youth farebox data, while the latter is calculated using FY19 (pre-COVID) 
data. METRO has sufficient operating reserves to cover the loss of revenue in 
FY23 and the remaining months of the pilot program can be budgeted in FY24. 

Staff will look to identify sustainable funding sources to move beyond the short-
term pilot stage. Given the recent change in legislation, a number of California 
transit agencies are using or planning to use LCTOP funds to cover losses in fare 
revenue from free fare pilots. METRO receives around $1 million annually in 
LCTOP funds. In FY22, these funds were committed to operation of the free fare, 
zero-emission Watsonville Circulator but LCTOP funding in future years could be 
dedicated to the Youth Ride Free program. Other sources could include funding 
from local jurisdictions, such as cities, the County, or school districts. SacRT, for 
example, partnered with local institutions to fund its RydeFreeRT program; 
SFMTA/Muni received a $2 million appropriation from the City of San Francisco; 
and the San Diego Metropolitan Transit System (MTS) is partnering with the 
County of San Diego and SANDAG on a formal year-long pilot program allowing 
youth 18 and under to ride free. 

The Youth Ride Free program is explicitly targeted at K-12 youth so as not to 
jeopardize METRO’s existing funding agreements with the University of California 
Santa Cruz and Cabrillo College, which collectively represent over 50% of 
METRO’s farebox recovery and nearly 10% of METRO’s total operating revenue. 
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VI. CHANGES FROM COMMITTEE 

N/A  

VII. ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

The Board could direct staff not to implement the Youth Ride Free pilot program. 
This would avoid the anticipated fare revenue loss and the potential operational 
challenges associated with increased demand. Staff does not recommend this 
option as the loss in fare revenue is small relative to METRO’s overall operating 
budget, and the benefits associated with supporting increased ridership, lowering 
the economic burden of taking transit for low-income youth, and building future 
transit riders outweigh the costs. In addition, recent changes in legislation make it 
easier to use state funding sources such as LCTOP to cover revenue loss from 
free fare programs. For example, METRO could program one year of LCTOP funds 
to cover four years of the Youth Ride Free program in future years. Staff also does 
not anticipate significant operational challenges during the pilot year given that 
ridership is still well below pre-COVID levels. Should such challenges arise, staff 
will need to communicate clearly to students and parents that METRO does not 
have the ability to operate additional service at this time. The Reimagine 
METRO/Comprehensive Operational Analysis will provide ample opportunity to 
evaluate future school-focused needs. 

VIII. ATTACHMENTS 

None. 
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IX. APPROVALS 

John Urgo, Planning & 
Development Director 

Approved as to fiscal impact: 
Chuck Farmer, CFO 

Michael Tree, CEO/General Manager 

Youth Ride Free Pilot Program 

aA--
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MAC Report to the SCMTD Board, January 27, 2023 

Compiled by outgoing MAC Chair, James Von Hendy 

Introduction 
This report summarizes the MAC meetings of August 17, 2022 and October 19, 2022. 

In the second half of 2022 the MAC continued its commitments to represent the needs and requests of 
SCMTD ridership and to serve Santa Cruz Metro itself. We strongly appreciate how SC Metro continues 
to strive to provide public transit service to SC county. 

Communications to the Metro Advisory Committee 
The second half of 2022 was quiet in this regard. Though some MAC members had individual 
conversations with members of the public, the MAC committee itself did not receive letters or requests 
from the public. 

Communications From the Metro Advisory Committee 
In the April 20, 2022 MAC meeting, the MAC passed a motion that Chair Von Hendy write a welcome 
letter from the committee to incoming CEO/General Manager, Michael Tree. In the August 17, 2022 
MAC meeting, Chair Von Hendy reported that the requested letter was posted on 5/5/2022, and 
included an invitation to CEO/General Manager Michael Tree to attend the MAC meetings. 

Update on Information Technology Systems (ITS) 
This is a regularly occurring MAC agenda item, from Isaac Holly, IT and ITS Director. 

At the August 17,2022 meeting, Director Holly reported that Metro continues to be pleased with our 
new vendor, Clever Systems, but that due to supply chain issues, beta testing of the system is delayed. 

At the October 19, 2022 meeting, Director Holly reported that beta testing was successfully completed, 
and he expected full implementation on all buses sometime in February 2023. 

COVID-19 Update 
Since COVID this has been a regularly occurring MAC agenda item. 

At the August 17, 2022 MAC meeting, Dawn Crummié, HR Director, reported 81 positive cases, with the 
BA/BA% variants most prevalent since April. Metro continued with weekly testing, and encouragesd 
voluntary contact tracing and continued masking. 

At the October 19, 2022 meeting, positive cases were down dramatically. 

Santa Cruz County Fair, September 14-18, 2022 
At the August 17 MAC meeting, Margo Ross, COO indicated that as in past years, SCMTD would have a 
presence at the fair with an opportunity for the public to tour the most recently acquired busses. In 
addition, Metro would once again extend bus service to and from the fair. 

At the October 19, 2022 MAC meeting Margo Ross reported on the success of the Metro’s tent and 
activities, including a Wheel of Fortune game, SCMTD swag, and free bus passes. 
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Service Planning Updates 
This is a regularly occurring MAC agenda item, presented by John Urgo, Planning and Development 
Director. 

At both the August 17 and October 19 meetings, Director Urgo was able to point to generally increased 
ridership, though overall ridership remains below pre-COVID levels, with the Highway 17 route still 
down significantly, at about 50% of  pre-COVID levels. In August UCSC ridership was below expectation, 
though it was expected to increase once the fall classes commenced. In October, Director Urgo said 
ridership was up 65 to 70% for the quarter. 

In the August MAC meeting, Director Urgo apologized that he had not addressed updates to Braille Bus 
Stop signage. He and MAC member Veronica Elsea agreed to work together on the issue. At the October 
meeting Director Urgo and MAC member Elsea again agreed to work together on the issue. 

At both the August and October meetings, Director Urgo said the Pacific Station lobby remains closed to 
the public. In the October meeting, MAC member Elsea expressed concern about the closure given the 
possibility of cold and inclement weather. 

In the August meeting, Director Urgo outlined Fall schedule changes, indicating service cuts were 
necessary because of a lack of available drivers. Changes were not yet implemented but would affect 
routes 20, 91X, and 4. Route 22 was to be cut entirely, slack picked up by Route 20. In related news, 
however, Director Urgo said a large class for new operators had started. 

In the October meeting, Director Urgo fielded a request MAC Chair Von Hendy brought up for a couple 
of passengers on the Highway 17 express who requested that in the afternoon commute times, all 
Highway 17 busses stop at the Calaveras Transit Center in Scotts Valley, because if trains were late in 
San Jose Diridon Station, riders who parked at Scotts Valley and missed the Highway 17 bus that made 
the Scotts Valley stop would have to wait an hour more for the next bus. Director Urgo indicated that 
change could not be made because of scheduling in Santa Cruz, 

Chair Von Hendy also raised passenger complaints about the unreliability of the TVM (ticket vending 
machine) at the Calaveras Transit Center, Director Urgo explained that the vendor would not be 
repairing or upgrading the TVM, but that with the new options for ticket purchase via mobile phones, he 
expects regular riders will use that system and hopefully all the TVMs currently in use would eventually 
go away. 

Establish and Approve the Metro Advisory Committee 2023 Meeting Schedule 
At the October 17 meeting, Chair Von Hendy proposed a meeting schedule for the 2023 MAC meetings 
as follows: 2/15/23, 4/19/23, 8/16/23, and 10/18/23. Motion to approve was made and seconded, and 
role call was unanimous in favor. 

Elect the Metro Advisory Committee Chair and Vice Chair for 2023 
At the October 17 meeting, the last order of business was the nomination and election of the MAC Chair 
and Vice Chair for 2023. Jessica de Wit was nominated and elected unanimously as Chair, and Joseph 
Martinez was nominated and re-elected for another term as Vice Chair. 

14.2



VERBAL PRESENTATION 

CEO ORAL REPORT / 
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This Message Is From an External Sender
This message came from outside your organization.
~ Please exercise caution when clicking links or opening attachments. ~

From: Santa Cruz METRO Transit District
To: Donna Bauer
Subject: METRO Launches ‘One Ride at a Time’ to Protect Environment
Date: Friday, January 20, 2023 4:33:41 PM

METRO Launches ‘One Ride at a Time’ to Grow Ridership, Protect Environment

Buses Wrapped in Wildlife Photos by Frans Lanting to Be Unveiled Jan. 21

Santa Cruz, CA (Jan. 13, 2023): Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO) is delighted to launch One Ride at a
Time, an innovative campaign to showcase the environmental benefits of transit, encourage bus ridership and
protect Santa Cruz County’s extraordinary natural resources.  

Beginning in January, every ride on a METRO bus donates to our partners in protecting the environment, the
Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation and the Bay of Life Fund. 

“METRO’s mission is to provide environmentally sustainable transportation to Santa Cruz County,” said Larry
Pageler, METRO Board Chair. “With One Ride at a Time, we aim to increase ridership and solidify METRO as the
region’s environmentally smart transportation choice while supporting organizations making a difference in our
community.”

One Ride at a Time is made possible by a partnership between METRO, Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission (SCCRTC), Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation, Bay of Life Fund, and renowned
photographer-writer team Frans Lanting and Chris Eckstrom.

To promote the campaign, METRO will release pairs of buses wrapped with Lanting’s iconic images of the Monterey
Bay from the Bay of Life Project. By the end of 2024, about 30 wrapped buses will be traveling throughout Santa
Cruz County and featuring inspiring images of whales, sea otters, mountain lions, redwoods and more.

The first pair of bus wraps will be unveiled Jan. 21, coinciding with the opening weekend of Lanting and Eckstrom’s
Bay of Life Exhibition at the Santa Cruz Museum of Art & History. (Information about the exhibit is available at
santacruzmah.org/exhibitions/bay-of-life.)

“We are delighted to collaborate with METRO and to put our images from Bay of Life to work protecting our
precious Monterey Bay environment one ride at a time,” Lanting and Eckstrom said.

To participate, bus riders must create an account on the online ridesharing portal administered by the Santa Cruz
County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC)’s GO Santa Cruz County program (scmtd.org/gosantacruz), or
through the Commute Tracker app (scmtd.org/ctsetup). Once enrolled, riders will use the portal to log their bus
trips, earning 10 points for each trip with a maximum of two rides per day that count towards point accruals. When
a rider reaches 250 points, or 25 rides, they can use the portal to select one of our nonprofit partners to receive a
$10 donation. Riders can also see the greenhouse gas emissions reductions they’ve made by riding public transit
and compete against each other to see who can make the biggest impact.

To heighten the campaign and emphasize the importance of protecting the Monterey Bay, METRO will inform the
community about the conservation and education efforts of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary
Foundation and the Bay of Life Fund are making to promote protection of the species and landscapes pictured on
the buses. Transit center displays, interior bus signage and interactive content on its website will teach riders about
the programs their donations support.

mailto:scmtd@service.govdelivery.com
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Whale Tail Bus Wrap

“Everyone who lives, works, and plays in this region is a steward to one of the planet’s treasures of biodiversity,”
said Ginaia Kelly, chapter director of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation. “We are honored to
team up with METRO on One Ride at a Time because this campaign gives people an opportunity to protect our
Monterey Bay with their everyday transportation choices.”

The Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation is the local non-profit partner and chief advocate for
NOAA’s Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary and is the local chapter of the National Marine Sanctuary
Foundation. Its mission is to leave a thriving sanctuary to future generations by protecting wildlife and habitats,
raising sanctuary visibility, and inspiring the public to be its stewards.

Secretary Leon Panetta, who serves as the Co-Chairperson of the Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary
Foundation, states “the Foundation’s goal is to recruit the entire central coast community to support essential
sanctuary activities. . Threats like climate change, coastal development, threats to fisheries and wetlands, and
pollution and energy needs require the community to continue fighting for our sanctuary.  Each of us has a special
responsibility to be good stewards of the natural treasure we all have inherited, so we can leave the Monterey Bay
National Marine Sanctuary as a living tribute and legacy for future generations.”

“This project has been a labor of love for METRO and our partners, and we are excited to unveil it to our
community,” said METRO Marketing & Communications Director Danielle Glagola. “Our goal is to increase
environmental awareness and remind the public that using public transit over personal vehicles, even one ride at a
time, reduces omissions. Now, through this program and with our partners’ help, riders can also donate to our local
environmental nonprofits, doubling their impact, with one simple action of riding METRO.”

Every ride on a METRO bus takes cars off the road and significantly reduces greenhouse gas emissions. Moreover,
METRO is converting its entire bus fleet to zero-emissions buses (ZEBs). By the end of 2023, METRO will have 9 ZEBs
deployed in the county with more coming every year. Starting in 2022, METRO has pledged that all new bus
purchases will be ZEBs.

To read more about METRO’s strides toward increasing bus ridership and transitioning to a zero-emissions fleet,
visit http://scmtd.com. For more information on this campaign visit scmtd.com/onerideatatime.

 

 

 

 

Mountain Lion Bus Wrap

About Us

Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO)

Established in 1968, METRO’S mission is to provide environmentally sustainable transportation to Santa Cruz
County. METRO directly operates county-wide, fixed-route and Highway 17 commuter service, with connections to
Santa Clara County and Monterey Salinas Transit at our Watsonville Transit Center. The agency also operates
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ParaCruz paratransit service. Today METRO operates a fleet of 94 buses on at least 24 fixed routes and 32
paratransit vehicles.

Every ride on a METRO bus takes cars off the road, significantly reduces greenhouse gas emissions, and supports
economic opportunity and quality of life in our community. Moving into the future, METRO strives to meet the
following goals:

Increase transit ridership to 7 million trips annually within the next five years
Transition to a zero-emissions fleet with a mix of hydrogen and electric vehicles
Increase affordable housing at METRO-owned transit centers to 175 units in the next 10 years.

For more information, visit scmtd.com.

Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation

The Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation is the local non-profit partner and chief advocate for
NOAA’s Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary and is the local chapter of the National Marine Sanctuary
Foundation. Its mission is to leave a thriving sanctuary to future generations by protecting wildlife and habitats,
raising sanctuary visibility, and inspiring the public to be its stewards.

The Foundation’s vision is a healthy Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary recognized as a national treasure for
its unique and abundant biodiversity and widespread community support. Investments support wildlife protection
programs like rescuing whales entangled in fishing gear; endangered black abalone rescue and recovery; protecting
kelp habitats; marine debris cleanup efforts; and fishing gear innovations. The Foundation also seeks to inspire the
public to learn about the sanctuary through K-12 programming and college internships to show why the sanctuary is
vital to our region's economy, way of life, and health of the planet.

Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary is part of NOAA’s National Marine Sanctuary System, a network of
nationally significant marine protected areas comprised of 15 national marine sanctuaries and 2 marine national
monuments that span more than 620,000 square miles of marine and Great Lakes waters.  

For more information, visit montereybayfoundation.org.

Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary Foundation Board of Directors

The Foundation is led by Co-Chairperson Secretary Leon Panetta who has had a fifty-year career in public service at
the highest levels of Government. He served in the Obama Administration first as CIA Director and then as Secretary
of Defense from 2009-2013. He also served in the Clinton Administration as director of the U.S. Office of
Management and Budget and later was appointed White House chief of staff. Elected to Congress in 1976,
Secretary Panetta represented the California Central Coast district for 16 years and led in the creation of NOAA’s
Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary in 1992.

Secretary Panetta is joined by three other individuals who have been working to protect the Monterey Bay for the
past 40 years: Former US Congressman Sam Farr, Community Activist Dan Haifley and Santa Cruz Mayor Fred Keeley
were all involved in the fight to ban offshore oil in the Monterey Bay in the 1980’s. 

The illustrious and dedicated board also includes Co-Chairperson: Hilary Bryant, Ted Balestreri, Yvette Lopez Brooks,
Nova Covington, Gordon Eubanks, Christina Sandera, Martine Watkins, and Dr. Lisa Wooninck (ex officio). 

For more information, visit montereybayfoundation.org.

Bay of Life Fund

The Bay of Life Fund supports nonprofit environmental organizations with their educational and conservation
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programs in the Monterey Bay region, in the context of the Bay of Life Project launched by Frans Lanting and
Christine Eckstrom. Initial partners include the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County, the Santa Cruz Museum of Natural
History, the Seymour Marine Discovery Center, Watsonville Wetlands Watch, the Elkhorn Slough Foundation, the
Amah Mutsun Land Trust, the Sempervirens Fund, and others.

Bay of Life Project

The Bay of Life Project connects land and sea and people with nature to promote a unified view of the Monterey
Bay region through publications, exhibitions, events, and partnerships. The Project aims to stimulate engagement
that contributes to a sustainable future for the Bay of Life.

Frans Lanting and Chris Eckstrom have documented our living planet on assignment for National Geographic for
more than 30 years. But the place they know best is California’s Monterey Bay, where they have lived for decades.
“To us, Monterey Bay is one of Earth’s crown jewels,” they write. “We know of no other place in the world where
land and sea connect in such an extraordinary way.”

The book, Bay of Life: From Wind to Whales, is the centerpiece of the Bay of Life Project. It is available as a
hardcover book and as an oversize, slipcased Collector’s Edition. A Spanish-language edition is planned for 2024.

Bay of Life chronicles a remarkable recovery, which shows that damaged ecosystems can be restored when people
care and take action together. Such stories of hope are needed as we face new challenges of habitat connectivity,
climate change, and the need for more inclusive opportunities for our diverse communities.

The BayofLife.net website is the portal to images, stories, videos, and other content from the project along with a
calendar of events and links to partner organizations.

For more information, visit bayoflife.net.

 

Community Foundation of Santa Cruz County

Community Foundation of Santa Cruz County is the parent non-profit of the Bay of Life Fund and will distribute
donations collected through this program to local environmental nonprofits, as described above. Its mission is to
bring together people, ideas, and resources to inspire philanthropy and accomplish great things. Its vision is to make
Santa Cruz County thrive for all those who call it home, now and in the future.

The Community Foundation supports effective programs that address community issues and enrich the lives of
Santa Cruz County residents. It earns trust through integrity, accountability, discretion, transparency, prudence, and
extraordinary service. It leverages its resources toward a future that is just, equitable, and inclusive of a diverse
community.

For more information, visit cfscc.org.

 

Frans Lanting and Chris Eckstrom

Frans Lanting and Chris Eckstrom are partners in life and work. They promote knowledge and understanding about
the Earth through images and stories that convey a sense of wonder and concern about our living planet. Through
their work and alliances, they create leverage for conservation efforts ranging from local initiatives to global
campaigns. Lanting and Eckstrom have brought their vast experience to the One Ride at a Time Campaign by
providing imagery, written content, and partnerships.

Frans Lanting 
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Frans Lanting has been hailed as one of the great photographers of our time. His influential work appears in books,
magazines, and exhibitions around the world. Lanting’s books include Into Africa, LIFE, Jungles, Eye to Eye, Bonobo:
The Forgotten Ape, and Okavango. Lanting is an ambassador for the World Wildlife Fund and has received
numerous awards for his work, including the prestigious Wildlife Photographer of the Year’s first Lifetime
Achievement Award. HRH Prince Bernhard inducted him as a Knight in the Royal Order of the Golden Ark, the
Netherlands’ highest conservation honor.

Chris Eckstrom

Chis Eckstrom is a writer, editor, and videographer. She is the author of Forgotten Edens, and as a staff writer she
contributed to many books published by the National Geographic Society. She earned a Lowell Thomas Travel
Journalism Award for Best Magazine Article on Foreign Travel for her National Geographic Traveler story “The Last
Real Africa.” The editor of Lanting’s books, she has also produced stories for the National Geographic Channel.

For more information: lanting.com.

 

Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission

GO Santa Cruz County is the ridesharing incentive program run by the Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation
Commission (SCCRTC). Its online commute management tool, available to all who live or work in Santa Cruz County,
is a key part of SCCRTC’s ongoing effort to reduce drive-alone trips and greenhouse gas emissions and play an active
role in addressing climate change. GO Santa Cruz County is partially funded by voter-approved Measure D, which
provides a balanced vision to improve, operate and maintain Santa Cruz County’s transportation network. 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (SCCRTC) is committed to delivering a full range of safe,
convenient, reliable, and efficient transportation choices for the community. With a focus on long-term
sustainability, the SCCRTC provides transportation services, planning, and funding for all travel modes.
 
From projects that improve safety and traffic flow on highways, to pothole and sidewalk repair on local streets;
from new and improved bicycle lanes and sidewalks, to support of public transit and paratransit services; from
maintaining the existing transportation network to constructing projects that move more people; from help finding
a carpool partner, to assisting stranded motorists — the SCCRTC proactively addresses transportation needs in our
community.
 
Working together with transportation partners, the SCCRTC obtains and distributes funding, including voter-
approved measure D funds, to maintain the existing transportation network as well as prepare for the
transportation needs of the next generation. The SCCRTC keeps residents, business, and visitors moving wherever
they want to go and however they choose to get there. For more information, visit sccrtc.org.

Update your subscriptions, modify your password or e-mail address, or stop subscriptions at any time on
your Subscriber Preferences Page. You will need to use your e-mail address to log in. If you have questions
or problems with the subscription service, please contact subscriberhelp.govdelivery.com.

This service is provided to you at no charge by SCMTD.

See more bulletins on our website
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Santa Cruz METRO Thanks Transit Drivers Who Supported Evacuation Efforts

Evacuations via free rides on buses and ParaCruz vans were completed in coordination with
County of Santa Cruz Emergency Operations Center

 
JAN. 20, 2023 —SANTA CRUZ, CA— Santa Cruz METRO today hailed its drivers who stepped up to provide
free transportation for evacuees during the historic series of devastating “atmospheric river” storms in
January. Evacuations took place in North County and South County in flood- and mudslide-prone areas
adjacent to nearby streams, sloughs, rivers and hillsides impacted by the CZU Lightning Fires of 2020.
 
“METRO is grateful to our drivers who navigated challenging weather and road conditions to assist with
several important evacuations,” METRO CEO/General Manager Michael Tree said. “Successful evacuations
require a high level of inter-agency collaboration and trust. METRO is proud to have played a role as a
community partner during the disaster.”
 
On Jan. 4, when potential flooding on the San Lorenzo River and road closures threatened the YMCA Camp
Campbell in Boulder Creek, Santa Cruz METRO drivers supported evacuation efforts by transporting
approximately 215 students and staff via six trips on 40-foot METRO buses. The evacuees were transported
to Scotts Valley Community Center and over Highway 17 to the St. Clare School in Santa Clara.
 
Also on Jan. 4, drivers for one METRO Highway 17 Express bus and one ParaCruz van were dispatched to
evacuate approximately 39 residents and staff from the Willowbrook Residential Care facility to the Santa
Cruz Bible Church. The evacuation took place after dark and as a storm moved into the San Lorenzo Valley,
knocking out power during the evacuation. After the evacuation order was lifted two days later, residents
were transported back to the Willowbrook Residential Care facility.
 
“Our skilled and dedicated drivers are the reason why METRO was able to transport local evacuees to
safety,” said Santa Cruz METRO Board Chair Larry Pageler. “We appreciate that they were ready to support
their community on a moment’s notice, despite the challenging driving conditions due to the storms.”
 
On Jan. 9, when the Pajaro River threatened to flood the surrounding community, three ParaCruz drivers
were dispatched to the Salvation Army in Watsonville to transport approximately 20 unhoused residents to
the County’s emergency shelter at the Santa Cruz County Fairgrounds.
 
METRO also temporarily expanded ParaCruz service to provide free transportation 24-hours a day for
residents in evacuation zones. ParaCruz, a shared-ride service, typically provides door-to-door public transit
for people with a temporary or permanent physical, cognitive or psychiatric disability that prevents them
from making some or all their trips on METRO’s fixed route bus system.
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About Santa Cruz Metropolitan Transit District (METRO)

Established in 1968, METRO’S mission is to provide environmentally sustainable transportation to Santa Cruz
County. METRO directly operates county-wide, fixed-route and Highway 17 commuter service, with
connections to Santa Clara County and Monterey Salinas Transit at our Watsonville Transit Center. The
agency also operates ParaCruz paratransit service. Today METRO operates a fleet of 94 buses on at least 24
fixed routes and 32 paratransit vehicles.

Every ride on a METRO bus takes cars off the road, significantly reduces greenhouse gas emissions, and
supports economic opportunity and quality of life in our community. Moving into the future, METRO strives
to meet the following goals:

Increase transit ridership to 7 million trips annually within the next five years
Transition to a zero-emissions fleet with a mix of hydrogen and battery electric buses
Develop 175 affordable housing units at METRO-owned transit centers over the next decade

For more information, visit scmtd.com.
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